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PART I

CAUTIONARY NOTES REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K include forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of words such as “anticipate,” “believe,”
“estimate,” “may,” “likely,” “intend,” “expect,” “will,” “should,” “seeks” or other similar expressions. Forward-looking statements are based largely on our expectations and involve inherent risks and uncertainties including certain
risks described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. When considering those forward-looking statements, you should keep in mind the risks, uncertainties and other cautionary statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. You
should not place undue reliance on any forward-looking statement, which speaks only as of the date made. Some factors which may affect the accuracy of the forward-looking statements apply generally to the real estate industry, while
other factors apply directly to us. Any number of important factors which could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements include: general economic and market conditions, including interest
rate levels; changes in the real estate markets; inherent risks in investment in real estate; our ability to attract and retain clients; our ability to compete in the markets in which we operate; regulatory actions; fluctuations in operating
results; shortages and increased costs of labor or materials; adverse weather conditions and natural disasters; public health emergencies, including potential risks and uncertainties relating to the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic; our
ability to raise debt and equity capital and grow our operations on a profitable basis; and our continuing relationships with affiliates.

»

Our actual results could differ materially from these projected or suggested by the forward-looking statements. The Company undertakes no obligation to update publicly or revise any forward-looking statements in
light of new information or future events, except as required by law.

Item 1. Business
The following business description should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Financial information for each of our reportable segments is included in Note 20 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Throughout this annual report on Form 10-K, dollar amounts are presented in thousands, except per share data, number of units, or as otherwise noted.

The Company

Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. (“CHCI” or “the Company”) is a developer, operator, and asset manager of mixed-use and transit-oriented development properties in the greater Washington, D.C. metropolitan
area, where we focus primarily on select high-growth urban and transitioning “sub-urban” markets. We provide a broad range of real estate asset management services, including development and construction management services,
leasing and property management services, debt and equity financing origination, and other real estate related services. Our customers primarily include private and institutional owners and investors in the real estate properties that we
manage and various governmental bodies that have a vested interest in public-private partnerships responsible for the development of certain properties that we develop and manage. We also invest capital on behalf of our asset
management clients and institutional real estate investors in office, retail, residential and mixed-use properties, generally retaining an economic interest for the Company and providing management services to those properties, thereby
enabling the Company to increase its assets under management (“AUM?) in order to realize competitive advantages of scale and enhance our overall returns. The Company also provides additional fee-based real estate services,
including corporate planning, capital markets, brokerage, title insurance, design, and environmental consulting and engineering services, to properties in the Company’s managed portfolio and to other clients in the U.S. Mid-Atlantic
Region.

As of December 31, 2020, our AUM consisted of 25 operating assets comprising 12 commercial assets totaling approximately 1.7 million square feet and 4 multifamily assets totaling 1,123 units, and 9 commercial
garages comprised of over 8,000 parking spaces. Additionally, we have: (i) two commercial assets currently under-construction and scheduled for delivery in 2021 and 2022 totaling approximately 460,000 square feet that are 79% pre-
leased; and (ii) 18 development pipeline assets consisting of approximately 2.0 million square feet of additional planned commercial development, approximately 1,700 multifamily units and 2 hotel assets that will include 370 keys.

Overview

As a vertically integrated real estate operating and investment company, we earn revenue from multiple sources, including fees generated from asset management services that we provide to our managed portfolio of
real estate assets on behalf
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of our asset management clients, and fees from additional real estate related services, including environmental consulting and engineering services provided to our managed properties and unrelated third-party clients in the Mid-Atlantic
Region.

The services we provide pursuant to the asset management agreements covering our AUM properties vary by property and client, and include property management, development and construction management, leasing
management, acquisition and disposition management, origination and negotiation of debt and equity facilities, risk management, and various other property-specific services. Substantially all the properties included in our managed
portfolio are covered by long-term, full-service asset management agreements encompassing all aspects of design, development, construction, and operations management relating to the subject properties. Our long-term asset
management contracts generally include material early termination payments to us in the event the contract is prematurely terminated by the asset owner. A limited number of properties in our managed portfolio are covered by service-
specific asset management contracts that focus our services on defined critical elements of operations, such as marketing, leasing, and construction management, where the property owner continues to manage other operating functions.
Our limited-service asset management agreements generally are anticipated to be short term in nature and do not include material early termination penalties.

Anchoring the Company’s asset management services platform is a long-term full service asset management agreement (the “2019 AMA”) with an affiliated company owned by the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer, Christopher Clemente, that encompasses the majority of the properties we currently manage, including two of the largest transit-oriented, mixed-use developments in the Washington, DC area: Reston Station, a 5 million square
foot transit-oriented, mixed-use development located in Reston, VA, and Loudoun Station, a nearly 2.5 million square foot transit-oriented, mixed-use development in Ashburn, VA, as well as other additional development assets, which
together constitute our anchor portfolio (the “Anchor Portfolio”). The 2019 AMA for our Anchor Portfolio is a long-term agreement with an original term of 10 years that provides for significant financial payments to Comstock in the
case of early termination by the asset owner.

In addition to the various recurring asset management fee-based revenue received by the Company, we also generate additional revenue from co-investments with our investment partners in certain property
acquisitions and expect to receive performance-based incentive compensation from assets in our Anchor Portfolio and other assets in our managed portfolio. The Company can earn these incentive-based fees upon the occurrence of
certain transaction-related events, including asset acquisitions or dispositions, asset related capital market transactions, leasing, marketing and property management, development and construction management, real title services, and
environmental services, and when the performance of a subject property meets defined performance metrics. The co-investment business plans are property specific and therefore vary in expected duration but are generally expected to
be between four and seven years; but may be accelerated or extended depending upon market conditions or the strategic objectives of the subject joint venture.

Our Business Strategy

In early 2018, the Company transitioned our business strategy and operating platform from being focused on the capital intensive, on-balance sheet development and sale of residential homes that, among other things
required us to maintain a significant on-balance sheet land inventory, to our current lower risk, asset-light, fee-based services model focused on asset management of commercial and mixed-use real estate primarily in the greater
Washington, D.C. region. We generate base fees, incentive fees, transaction fees, and profit participation by providing a broad range of real estate asset management services, including development, construction management, leasing
and property management services, as well as acquisition and disposition services, employing our substantial experience in entitling, designing, developing, and managing a significant and diverse range of properties included in our
Anchor Portfolio, while also co-investing with institutional partners to acquire existing, stabilized properties, which we manage as well. The Company and its management team have been active in the metropolitan Washington, D.C.
region since 1985 and in other key U.S. markets, having developed, acquired, and managed large-scale portfolios of real estate assets, including thousands of rental apartments, and millions of square feet of mixed-use properties
including office buildings, hotels, commercial garages, transit-oriented developments, and millions of square feet of regional shopping malls, as well as numerous public-private partnership developments that include large-scale public
infrastructure improvements. We believe that our management team’s extensive experience in managing such a diverse and extensive portfolio of developments and stabilized assets provides the knowledge base necessary to distinguish
our business focus and strategy, which is focused on:

Properties that Generate Stable, recurring_cash flows

Our revenues are generated primarily from recurring asset management fees, property management fees and additional real estate services fees. Our asset management agreements provide a highly visible and reliable
source of revenue and position the Company to enhance bottom line results as the Company’s Anchor Portfolio and other assets under management expand. Our Anchor Portfolio provides a stable, cost-plus fee structure foundation
pursuant to the 2019 AMA. This approach enables the Company to generate consistent, positive earnings through the development and management of and the provision of
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additional services related to, our Anchor Portfolio and provides the opportunity to increase our earnings through the expansion of our managed portfolio of properties pursuant to acquisitions of additional stabilized assets with
institutional partners.

We are a developer, operator, and asset manager of high quality, mixed-use and transit-oriented development properties with a focus on select transitioning “sub-urban” markets in the greater Washington D.C.
metropolitan area. These submarkets are experiencing increased short-term demand resulting from a flight to quality and perceived safety prompted by the Covid-19 pandemic and currently include the Dulles Corridor and the Rosslyn-
Ballston Corridor in Northern Virginia. These areas also feature strong long-term trends such as economic growth and attractive demographic attributes, as well as superior transportation infrastructure that caters to the preferences of
multifamily, office and retail tenants.

These trends indicate that commercial tenants are likely to continue seeking to locate (or relocate) offices to urban, mixed-use developments in “sub-urban” markets such as our key markets. These sub-markets have
also demonstrated demand trends that we believe will continue to result in commercial tenants” willingness to pay higher rents for commercial space as compared to locations that do not offer the benefits and amenities available in
mixed-use and transit-oriented developments, while also attracting residential tenants willing to pay premium rents for high quality rental apartments in amenity-rich areas that, among other benefits, provides direct or easily walkable
access to Metro-rail and other transit services. A significant portion of the Company’s portfolio of managed assets is located in such areas, adjacent to Metro-rail stations with multiple housing choices, popular restaurants, entertainment
venues and other amenities prioritized by today’s corporate tenants and their workforce.

Our business strategy focuses on development of the Anchor Portfolio while also identifying similar high-quality office, retail, residential and mixed-use properties that can be acquired in high-demand areas in the
greater Washington, D.C. region that we believe provide an opportunity for appropriate risk adjusted returns and that are suitable for co-investment such with institutional real estate investors that seek investment opportunities in such
real estate assets but may lack the local expertise or operational infrastructure necessary to identify, acquire, and manage such assets. Our acquisition strategy is aligned with that of institutional real estate investors and is currently
focused on value-add, core, and core-plus opportunities as well as other opportunistic asset acquisitions.

Capitalizing_on Significant Growth Trends in the Technology and Government Sector that drive Market Demand in Northern Virginia

Significant growth trends in demand for cyber security and other technology services in the government sector, as well as in the private sector, have generated substantial growth and attracted large technology
companies, such as Microsoft, Google, and Amazon to the Dulles Corridor and the Rosslyn-Ballston Corridor in Northern Virginia. In 2018, Northern Virginia was selected by Amazon as the location for its highly publicized “HQ2”
second headquarters. Amazon’s HQ2 has recently begun operations and is reportedly expected to create 25,000 or more new jobs over the next several years as its 5 million square foot complex develops in Arlington County at the
eastern end of the Rosslyn-Ballston Corridor. Meanwhile, Amazon Web Services has focused its expansion in the Dulles Corridor to the west, where it has been increasing its office and data center presence in recent years. We believe
Amazon’s presence in these corridors, along with the continued growth and investment by other large technology companies, will continue to benefit Northern Virginia’s employment market, which has experienced market leading job
growth in the Washington, DC region.

Further, Northern Virginia’s significant data infrastructure, capable of serving the growing needs of the federal government and its defense and information contractors, has spurred the expansion and/or relocation of
several federal government agencies, including the FBI, CIA, NSA, and the Customs and Border Patrol agency, to the Dulles Corridor. Because of its significant information infrastructure, the Dulles Corridor has become known as the
“Internet Capital of the World”. With its vast network of high-capacity data centers, primarily located in eastern Loudoun County, Virginia in the western portion of the Dulles Corridor, Loudoun County reportedly hosts upwards of
70% of the world’s internet traffic. As a result, Loudoun County continues to experience tremendous growth in data center development and employment and has become the global leader in absorption of data center capacity,
accounting for more than 40% of national data center space absorption in recent years.

The Company and its management team have been focused on these developing trends for more than two decades and the Company, through the 2019 AMA, controls the development and asset management of a
significant portfolio of high-profile assets at the forefront of the urban transformation taking place in the Dulles Corridor. With a stabilized portfolio and development pipeline that include millions of square feet of mixed-use and
transit-oriented properties located at key Metro stations in the Dulles Corridor, the Company is well positioned to capitalize on trends that are shaping the future mixed-use real estate landscape in the Washington, DC area and providing
opportunities for significant growth and attractive returns to the Company.
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Leveraging_our Development Capabilities to Secure Public-Private Partnership Development Opportunities as a means of Further Growing Assets Under Management

Affiliates of the Company have been selected by multiple local governments (including Fairfax County, Loudoun County, and the Town of Herndon, Virginia) to develop and manage large-scale mixed-use
developments that include transit facilities and other public infrastructure elements through public-private partnerships at a time when local jurisdictions are focused on public-private partnerships as a means of leveraging private sector
capabilities to meet public infrastructure development needs. In addition, recent changes to the Comprehensive Land Use Plans of Fairfax County and Loudoun County encourage high-density and mixed-use development proximate to
the new Silver Line Metro Stations in the Dulles Corridor, resulting in compelling growth opportunities for the Company and its Anchor Portfolio, most of which is adjacent to the terminus station of Phase I of the Silver Line that
opened in 2014 and the terminus station of Phase II of the Silver Line that is scheduled to open in late 2021 or early 2022.

Constructing_and Stabilizing Our Significant Development Pipeline

‘We expect to generate additional fees from our significant pipeline of development opportunities. As of December 31, 2020, we had two commercial assets under-construction and scheduled to deliver in 2021 and
2022 totaling 460,000 square feet. Approximately 79% of the space in these two buildings is pre-leased. Additionally, our Anchor Portfolio includes 18 future development pipeline assets consisting of approximately 2.0 million square
feet of additional planned commercial development, approximately 1,700 multifamily units and 2 hotel assets with approximately 370 rooms. At full build out, our Anchor Portfolio will be approximately 7.4 million square feet and
include approximately 18 total commercial assets comprised of approximately 3.8 million square feet, 12 total residential assets comprised of approximately 2,800 units spanning 3.2 million total square feet, 15 total commercial
garages comprised of approximately 17,000 parking spaces, and 2 hotels comprised of approximately 370 hotel rooms and approximately 400,000 square feet.

Actively Growing_our Real Estate Services Platform

In addition to the asset management services we provide in connection with our AUM, we also provide a variety of supplemental real estate services in the areas of strategic corporate planning, transaction related
capital markets and financial consulting, commercial mortgage brokerage, real title insurance services, design and environmental consulting and engineering services, and industrial hygiene services. Our environmental services group
provides consulting and engineering services, environmental studies, remediation management services and site-specific solutions for properties that may require or benefit from environmental due diligence, site-specific assessments,
and industrial hygiene services. Our real estate services business platform allows us to generate additional positive fee income from our highly qualified personnel and serves as a potential catalyst for additional strategic institutional
real estate acquisition joint venture opportunities.

Sustainable and Socially Responsible Business Strategy

Comstock is committed to pursuing environmental sustainability, social responsibility and best corporate governance (“ESG”) practices in all of our operations. We recognize that development of real estate can have
significant impact, positive or negative, for the surrounding community, the region, and the environment that we all share. We believe that companies developing real estate have a responsibility to maximize the positive impacts while
taking steps to minimize negative impacts. Supporting and fostering these initiatives is instrumental in making our communities better places to live, work, and play while simultaneously bolstering asset value, reducing risk, and
positively impacting all stakeholders.

Our neighborhoods are transit-oriented developments that include extraordinary multifamily and commercial properties with a walkable, amenity-rich environment surrounded by restaurants, shops and entertainment
venues. These transit-centric, and amenity-rich developments bring together multiple transit options and become neighborhoods with reduced carbon footprints, benefiting the local community, our shared environment, and ultimately,
Comstock’s shareholders. In recognition of the positive impacts resulting from Comstock’s Reston Station design, the development was awarded the designation of Best Workplaces for Commuters in 2020 and 2021 by the Best
Workplaces for Commuters Organization created by the National Center for Transit Research at the Center for Urban Transportation Research.

Although the Company has long focused on ESG best practices, in response to the recent market focus on these important issues, Comstock plans to publish its first ESG Report in 2021 to highlight our prior
accomplishments and lay out our future goals in this important area. We are investing in the people, processes, and products to make this reporting commitment an integral part of our long-term strategy. Our ESG team is comprised of
members of our development and operations teams, as well as senior management, including our CEO. The ESG team focuses on identifying critical elements of our designs and operations that address elements of ESG best practices,
while also identifying additional steps that we can take to enhance the positive impacts of our developments while further minimizing any potential negative impacts on the surrounding community, the region, and the environment that
we all share. The ESG team will continuously seek to implement, manage, improve, and monitor our sustainability efforts while identifying new opportunities for enhancing our ability to position the Company as a leader in this
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space. Our ESG Report will outline in significant detail the Company’s existing ESG accomplishments in the areas of energy and water conservation and resource management, social responsibility, and community improvements, as
well as our corporate governance practices and focus on our important future ESG Initiatives.

Managed Portfolio
Reston Station

Reston Station is among the largest mixed-use, transit-oriented developments in the greater Washington D.C. market. Located at the terminus of Phase I of Metro’s Silver Line, the Reston Station neighborhood spans
the Dulles Toll Road and surrounds the first, and currently only, Metro rail station in the Dulles Corridor. Covering a total of approximately 60 acres, assets included in Comstock’s managed portfolio cover approximately 37 of the 60-
acre neighborhood and will, upon full build-out, include approximately five million square feet of mixed-used development. The Company is providing a wide variety of its real estate and asset management services to the project
pursuant to the 2019 AMA, including development and construction management services, leasing management services, property management services, capital markets services, and environmental services. The Reston Station
neighborhood is being developed in four districts as follows:

Metro Plaza District

The Metro Plaza District has been developed with one of the largest underground commuter parking garages and bus transit facilities in the region, is located adjacent to the terminus of Phase I of Metro’s Silver Line
Station and forms the foundation for up to 1.4 million square feet of mixed-use development in five buildings. To date, three buildings consisting of approximately 0.8 million square feet of stabilized mix of uses (residential, office, and
retail) have been developed and stabilized while one additional building consisting of approximately 210,000 square feet scheduled to deliver in Q2-2021 and the final of five buildings, consisting of approximately 250,000 square feet,
is scheduled to deliver in early 2022.

The Reston Station Metro Plaza and its 1.7 million square foot subterranean garage and transit facility is the subject of a public-private partnership between affiliates of the Company and Fairfax County, Virginia. The
Reston Station transit facility provides Metro rail commuters with an indoor bus transit depot designed to accommodate upwards of 110 buses per hour, 2,300 commuter parking spaces operated by Fairfax County and additional
approximately 1,500 spaces for retail, office and commuter uses operated by a Company subsidiary, the only Tesla Super Charging Station in the Dulles Corridor as well as numerous other electric vehicle charging stations, numerous
bicycle parking and storage facilities, and substantial storm water management vaults designed to minimize the potential of flooding in the subject area and state-of-the-art water treatment systems to minimize the environmental impact
of storm water runoff.

As of December 31, 2020, construction has been completed on two of the five buildings located above the Reston Station Transit Facility including a 380,000 square foot Trophy-Class office tower, a significant
portion of which has been leased to Google and other corporate users, and approximately 450,000 square foot residential tower including 448 rental apartments. Two additional office buildings are currently under construction,
containing approximately 460,000 square feet of Class-A office space with one scheduled for delivery in 2021 and one scheduled for delivery in 2022. All buildings on the Metro Plaza have ground floor retail, which is substantially
leased to high-quality tenants, including Starbucks, CVS and others. Entitlements allow for the construction of a fifth tower, a residential or hotel building of up to approximately 120,000 square feet, above a portion of the retail space
on the Metro Plaza. The three office buildings referenced above are approximately 75% leased. The residential building is approximately 86% leased.

Reston Row District

The Reston Row District has entitlements in place that allow for approximately 1.4 million square feet of mixed-use development, including Class-A office, multifamily units, retail and hotel uses. The Reston Row
District is situated on approximately 11 acres adjacent to Reston Station’s Metro Plaza District and the Reston Station Transit Facility. Marriott International has entered into a franchise agreement with one of Comstock managed
entities covered under the 2019 AMA concerning the development and operation of a JW Marriott Hotel and residential tower that is planned to be developed in the first of two phases of the Reston Row District, including
approximately 240 hotel rooms, approximately 90 JW Marriott branded condominium residences and retail, entertainment, conference and meeting spaces.

Commerce District

The Commerce District has entitlements in place that allow for approximately 1.4 million square feet of mixed-use development, in addition to four existing Class-A office buildings that include a total of
approximately 590,000 square feet. The Commerce District property is situated on approximately 16 acres located adjacent to the south entrance to the Wiehle Reston-East Metro Station and lies directly across the Dulles Toll Road
from the Metro Plaza District of Reston Station and the Reston Station Transit Facility. Currently, Comstock is leasing and managing the four existing office buildings and one existing
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retail building while it is also finalizing plans for the new buildings that will include up to 1.4 million square feet of office, retail, hotel and residential uses.
West District

The West District at Reston Station consists of approximately 3 acres of land located adjacent to the Reston Row District and owned by affiliates of the Company and approximately 13 surrounding acres owned by
others. The Comstock owned portion of the West District was previously developed by an affiliate of the Company with a 90,000 square foot office building and was recently entitled for development of an additional residential building
of up to approximately 260,000 square feet. An adjoining parcel in the West District is owned by an entity not affiliated with Comstock and has been developed with an existing 421-unit residential apartment building. Two additional
existing office buildings owned by entities not affiliated with Comstock and a medical facility owned and operated by Kaiser Permanente are also included in the West District.

Loudoun Station

Loudoun Station, located at the terminus of Phase II of Metro’s Silver Line, is Loudoun County’s first Metro connected development and represents Loudoun County’s beginning transformation into a transit connected
community with direct metro rail connectivity to Dulles International Airport, Reston, Tysons Corner, and downtown Washington, D.C. Currently, Loudoun Station has approximately 1,000,000 square feet of mixed-use development
completed, including 675 residential units, approximately 50,000 square feet of Class-A office space, approximately 150,000 thousand square feet of retail spaces including an 11-sceen AMC Cinema, and a 1,500-space Metro
commuter parking garage. The Metro Garage is the focus of a public-private partnership between an affiliate of the Company and Loudoun County, Virginia and is managed by a subsidiary of the Company. Phase II of Metro’s Silver
Line is under construction and expected to commence passenger service in late 2021 or early 2022. The Company is providing a variety of its real estate and asset management services related to the existing buildings and the future
development pursuant to the 2019 AMA, including development and construction management services, leasing management services, property management services, and capital markets services.

Herndon Station

Herndon Station will include up to approximately 340,000 square feet of residential, retail and entertainment spaces, including a performing arts center, and an approximately 700 space parking garage in the historic
downtown portion of the Town of Herndon in western Fairfax County, Virginia. The commercial Garage is the focus of a public private partnership between an affiliate of the Company and the Town of Herndon. The development will
also include improvements to existing connections to the adjacent WO&D trail, a popular pedestrian and bicycle route managed by Northern Virginia Regional Parks Authority and Fairfax County Parks Department. The Company is
providing a variety of asset management and development services related to the Herndon Station development pursuant to the 2019 AMA.
Momentum at Shady, Grove Metro

In mid-2018, the Company committed an approximately 2-acre site that it had previously planned to develop as for-sale condominiums, to a joint venture with Stratford Capital, LLC (the “Comstock Stratford JV”) and
began development of a dedicated workforce housing development consisting of 110 multifamily dwelling units. The recently completed development, known as the Momentum, is located in Rockville, Maryland, adjacent to the Shady

Grove Metro Station on Metro’s Red Line, was developed as an all work-force housing development that qualified as a low-income housing tax credit (LIHTC) development. The Company received payment for the contribution of the
land to the Comstock Stratford JV and received fees for managing the development of the project as construction manager for the Comstock Stratford JV.

International Gateway

Since 2018 the Company has, pursuant to an asset management agreement with an unaffiliated property owner, provided asset 1 1t, property r 1t, leasing management, and consulting services for a
privately owned portfolio of two mixed-use retail/office buildings in Tysons Corner, Virginia, known as International Gateway.

The Hartford Building

In late 2019, the Company partnered with Comstock Partners, LC (“Partners”), an entity that is controlled by our CEO, and wholly owned by Mr. Clemente and certain family members, to acquire a Class-A office
building immediately adjacent to Clarendon Station on Metro’s Orange Line in Arlington County’s premier transit-oriented office market, the Rosslyn-Ballston Corridor. Built in 2003, the 211,000 square foot mixed-use LEED GOLD

building is approximately 78% leased to multiple high-quality tenants. In February 2020, the Company arranged for DivcoWest to purchase a majority ownership stake in the Hartford Building and secured a $87 million loan facility
from MetLife. As part of the transaction, the Company entered into asset management and property management agreements to manage the property.
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Segment Data

We operate in the following business segments: Asset Management and Real Estate Services. Financial information related to these business segments for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2020
is set forth in Note 20 to the financial statements.

Operations

As a vertically integrated real estate operating and investment company, the Company has broad real estate development and management capabilities that enable us to generate fees for services provided in connection
with the real estate assets we manage. Our experienced management team provides a full range of services related to acquisition, development, and operations of real estate assets.

COVID-19

On January 30, 2020, the World Health Organization (“WHO”) announced a global health emergency because of a new strain of coronavirus originating in Wuhan, China (the “COVID-19 outbreak”) and the risks to
the international community as the virus spreads globally beyond its point of origin. In March 2020, the WHO classified the COVID-19 outbreak as a pandemic, based on the rapid increase in exposure globally. While we have not seen
a significant impact to our results from COVID-19 to date, if the virus continues to cause significant negative impacts to economic conditions or consumer confidence, our revenues including our property management revenues, trade
receivables, related party receivables, goodwill and our fair value investments, results of operations, financial condition and liquidity could be adversely impacted.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Paycheck Protection Program (the “PPP”) was established under the CARES Act and administered by the U.S. Small Business Administration (“SBA”). Companies who
met the eligibility requirements set forth by the PPP could qualify for PPP loans provided by local lenders, which supports payroll, rent and utility expenses (“qualified expenses”). If the loan proceeds are fully utilized to pay qualified
expenses over the covered period, as further defined by the PPP, the full principal amount of the PPP loan may qualify for loan forgiveness, subject to potential reduction based on the level of full-time employees maintained by the
organization during the covered period as compared to a baseline period.

In April 2020, the Company received proceeds of $1.95 million under the PPP (the "PPP Loan") provided by Mainstreet Bank. The Company submitted the PPP loan forgiveness application to the lender in December
2020. The Lender completed its review and submitted the Company's forgiveness application to the SBA in February 2021. The SBA will, subject to any SBA review of the loan or loan application, remit the appropriate forgiveness
amount to the lender, plus any interest accrued through the date of payment, not later than 90 days after the lender issues its decision to the SBA. See Note 9 - CARES Act for more information.

Outlook

Although the long-term impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the commercial real estate market in the greater Washington, DC area remains uncertain, we believe that our Anchor Portfolio is well positioned to
withstand potential negative impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. We also believe that our management team is properly aligned with the interests of the Company and its shareholders and is committed to the Company’s objectives of
providing exceptional experiences for those that we do business with while enhancing shareholder value. Further, we believe that we are properly staffed for current market conditions and the foreseeable future and that our Company
has the ability to manage risk and pursue opportunities for additional growth as market conditions warrant. Our real estate development and management operations are primarily focused on the greater Washington, D.C. region, where
we believe our 30-plus years of experience provides us the best opportunity to continue leveraging our significant experience acquiring, developing, and managing high quality real estate assets and capitalizing on positive growth
trends, while our environmental consulting and remediation management services business is well positioned to capitalize on opportunities to continue its recent growth throughout the entire U.S. Mid-Atlantic region.

Competition

The real estate asset management and services industry is highly competitive. Our growth will depend upon our ability to attract and maintain the appropriate personnel and to professionally manage the assets subject
to the 2019 AMA and other management agreements and to expand our services to new clients on a cost-efficient basis. We compete with other businesses in the asset management and real estate-related services businesses on the basis
of price, location, experience, service and reputation. Many of these competitors are larger than us and operate on a national or global scale and they and their clients may have greater technical, marketing and financial resources. Such

competitors may also enjoy competitive advantages that result from, among other things, lower costs of capital, greater business scale and enhanced operating efficiencies. Their larger
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scale and broad national or global presence may allow them to offset downturns in certain localized markets or seasonality related to certain services with increased or steady operations in other markets. We also face competitors on a
local and regional basis. Certain competitors may also be subject to different regulatory requirements or rules that may allow them more flexibility or better access to pursue potential investments and raise capital for themselves or their
managed companies. In addition, certain competitors may have higher risk tolerance, different risk assessments or lower return thresholds, which could allow them to consider a broader range of investments and to bid more
aggressively for investment opportunities than us. Our ability to continue to compete effectively will depend in large part upon the ability to attract, retain and motivate employees, and we must compete with our competitors to attract
and retain experienced and talented employees.

Gover I Regulation and Envir 1 Matters

We are subject to various local, state and federal statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations concerning finance, banking, investments, zoning, building design, construction, density requirements and similar matters.
‘We may also be subject to periodic delays or may be precluded entirely from developing in certain communities due to building moratoriums or “slow-growth” or “no-growth” initiatives that could be implemented in the future in the
states where we operate. Local and state governments also have broad discretion regarding the imposition of development fees for projects in their jurisdiction.

We are also subject to a variety of local, state and federal statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations concerning protection of the environment. Some of the laws to which we and our properties are subject to may
impose requirements concerning development in waters of the United States, including wetlands, the closure of water supply wells, management of asbestos-containing materials, exposure to radon and similar issues. The particular
environmental laws that apply to any given real estate asset vary based on several factors, including the environmental conditions related to a particular property and the present and former uses of the property.

Technology and Intellectual Property

We utilize our technology infrastructure to facilitate the management of our client’s assets and the marketing of our services. We use media and internet-based marketing platforms primarily in lieu of print
advertisements. We believe that the residential renting population will continue to increase its reliance on information available on the internet to help guide its rental decision. Accordingly, through our marketing efforts, we will
continue to seek to leverage this trend to lower per lease marketing costs while maximizing potential lease transactions.

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board, Christopher Clemente, has licensed his ownership interest in the “Comstock” brand and trademark to us in perpetuity. We have registered our trademarks and
routinely take steps, and occasionally take legal action, to protect the Company against brand infringement from third parties. Mr. Clemente has retained the right to continue to use the “Comstock” brand and trademark including for
real estate development projects in our current or future markets that are unrelated to the Company but, currently, substantially all of Mr. Clemente’s real estate development business is conducted with the Company pursuant to the 2019
AMA.

Seasonality

We experience limited seasonality across our business segments. With respect to our Asset Management segment, we do not expect seasonality to materially impact our operations. With respect to our Real Estate
Services segment, we do anticipate being impacted by adverse weather conditions. The markets in which we operate are four-season markets that experience significant periods of rain and snow. Construction and remediation cycles and
efforts are often adversely affected by severe weather. As a result of seasonal activity across our Real Estate Services business segment, our quarterly results of operations and financial position at the end of a particular fiscal quarter are
not necessarily representative of the balance of our fiscal year.

Employees

At December 31, 2020, the Company had 136 full-time and 11 part-time employees. Our employees are not represented by any collective bargaining agreements, and we have never experienced a work stoppage. We
believe we have good relations with our employees and provide a comprehensive benefits program to attract and retain top talent, including, without limitation, paid vacation, sick leave and volunteer hours, 401K contributions,
professional development funds that reset each year, community service initiatives, and online and in-person trainings and e-learning opportunities. We further encourage our employees to provide feedback on our benefits program and
periodically make enhancements to our benefits program in response thereto.

In response to the impacts of COVID-19, the Company commenced implementing protocols and procedures for the safety, health and comfort of employees in March 2020, which continue at present time. We
assembled a COVID-19 task
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force comprised of employees from multiple departments to formulate and implement health and safety protocols in our workplace, including, without limitation, implementation of CDC and Virginia required and recommended

protocols, enhanced daily cleaning of workspaces, installation of protective screens between cubicles, providing temperature scanners at office locations, implementation of an Infectious Disease (COVID-19) Preparedness and

Response Plan that is updated periodically as governmental mandates and guidance change, Virginia Occupational Safety and Health COVID-19 trainings for all employees, providing free lunches each workday to employees since

April 2020 (continues at present time), providing reimbursements for child care expenses and partnering with the Learning Care Group to provide child care discounts to employees, and providing COVID-19 related paid leave.
We believe that we are properly staffed for current market conditions, although the continued impacts of COVID-19 remain uncertain, and have the ability to manage growth as market conditions warrant.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

Since December 31, 2009, the Company has been leasing office space located at 1886 Metro Center Drive, Reston, Virginia for its corporate headquarters from an affiliate wholly owned by our Chief Executive
Officer. The amount of the leased space was 16,447 square feet. On October 31, 2020, the Company’s then-current lease for its corporate headquarters in Reston, Virginia expired following a one-month extension of the lease term. On
November 1, 2020, the Company executed a new lease to relocate its corporate headquarters to new office space located at 1900 Reston Metro Plaza, Reston, Virginia for a ten
year term from an affiliate wholly owned by our Chief Executive Officer. See related party transactions in Note 14 in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

On July 17, 2017, the Company, through its subsidiary, Comstock Environmental, acquired the assets and liabilities of Monridge Environmental, LLC. On August 1, 2017, Comstock Environmental entered into a lease
for approximately 2,800 square feet of office space at 806 Fayette Street, Conshohocken, Pennsylvania. On August 1, 2020 the Company terminated the lease. The Company subsequently executed a month-to-month lease agreement for
the office space. During 2018, Comstock Environmental also opened operations in the Washington, D.C. metropolitan area from the Company’s corporate offices.

The Company believes that its properties are adequately maintained and suitable for their intended use and the Company’s needs. For information regarding our projects, see Item 1 ‘Business — Our Developed
Communities.”

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Currently, we are not subject to any material legal proceedings. From time to time, however, we are named as a defendant in legal actions arising from our normal business activities. Although we cannot accurately
predict the amount of our liability, if any, that could arise with respect to legal actions pending against us, we do not expect that any such liability will have a material adverse effect on our financial position, operating results or cash
flows. We believe that we have obtained adequate insurance coverage, rights to indemnification, or where appropriate, have established reserves in connection with these legal proceedings.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART I1

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our Class A common stock is traded on NASDAQ under the symbol “CHCI”. The high and low per share closing sales prices of the Company’s stock for each quarter during the past two years were as follows:

High Low
March 31, 2020 $ 248 $ 1.27
June 30, 2020 $ 299 $ 1.30
September 30, 2020 $ 346 $ 2.16
December 31, 2020 $ 340 $ 2.30
March 31, 2019 $ 286 $ 1.75
June 30, 2019 $ 281 $ 223
September 30, 2019 $ 280 $ 1.85
December 31, 2019 $ 238 $ 1.86
Holders
As of December 31, 2020, there were approximately 37 record holders of our Class A common stock. As of December 31, 2020, there was 1 holder of our Class B common stock.
Dividend Policy

‘We have never declared or paid any dividends on our common stock. We do not anticipate paying any dividends on our common stock during the foreseeable future but intend to retain any earnings for future growth of
our business.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

We did not repurchase any securities under our share repurchase program during the year ended December 31, 2020.

Recent Issues of Unregistered Securities

We did not issue any unregistered securities during the year ended December 31, 2020.

10
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

Not Applicable.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. This discussion and analysis contain forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result
of various factors including, but not limited to, those discussed below and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, particularly under the heading “Cautionary Notes Regarding Forward-looking Statements.”

Overview

In early 2018, the Company transitioned its operating platform from being primarily focused on the development and sale of residential homes to our current fee-based services model focused on commercial and
mixed-use real estate primarily in the greater Washington, D.C. region. We are a developer, operator, and asset manager of mixed-use and transit-oriented development properties in the greater Washington, D.C. metropolitan area where
we primarily focus on select high-growth urban and transitioning “sub-urban” markets. We also provide additional fee-based real estate services, including corporate planning, capital markets, brokerage, title insurance, design, and
environmental consulting and remediation services, to properties in the Company’s managed portfolio and to other clients in the U.S. Mid-Atlantic Region.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Information regarding recent accounting pronouncements is contained in Note 2 in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”), which require us to make certain estimates and judgments that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. On an ongoing basis, we
evaluate our estimates including those related to the consolidation of variable interest entities (“VIEs”), revenue recognition and the fair value of equity method investments. We base our estimates on historical experience and on
various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ materially from these estimates.

A summary of significant accounting policies is provided in Note 2 in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements. The following section is a summary of certain aspects of those accounting policies that
require the most difficult, subjective or complex judgments and estimates.

Goodwill impairment

We test our goodwill for impairment on an annual basis, and more frequently when an event occurs, or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. We believe the methodology
that we use, including both a discounted cash flow model as well as a market multiple model, to review impairment of goodwill, which includes a significant amount of judgment and estimates, provides us with a reasonable basis to
determine whether impairment has occurred.

Investments in real estate ventures at fair value

For investments in real estate ventures reported at fair value, we maintain an investment account that is increased or decreased each reporting period by the difference between the fair value of the investment and the
carrying value as of the balance sheet date. These fair value adjustments are reflected as gains or losses on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The fair value of these investments as of the balance sheet date is generally
determined using a Discounted Cash Flow (“DCF”) analysis, income approach, or sales comparable approach, depending on the unique characteristics of the real estate venture.

11
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Revenue recognition

Revenues generated through real estate professional services such as asset and property management, administrative support, environmental design, engineering and remediation represent a series of daily performance
obligations delivered over time due to the continuous transfer of control to our clients. For asset and property management, pricing is generally in the form of monthly management fees based on a cost-plus agreement, percentage of
property-level cash receipts, square footage under management or some other variable metric recognized over time. For Real Estate Services, pricing is generally in the form of cost-plus contracts recognized over time.

Equity-based compensation

Compensation costs related to our equity-based compensation plans are recognized within our income statement or capitalized to real estate inventories reported in discontinued operations for awards issued to
employees that are involved in production. The costs recognized are based on the grant-date fair value. Compensation costs for share-based grants are recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the entire
award (from the date of grant through the period of the last separately vesting portion of the grant).

The fair value of each option award is calculated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model which includes certain subjective assumptions. Expected volatilities are calculated based on our
historical trading activities. We recognize forfeitures as they occur. The risk-free rate for the periods is based on the U.S. Treasury rates in effect at the time of grant. The expected term of options is based on the Company’s historical
experience.

Income taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method in accordance with ASC 740, Accounting for Income Taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for future tax consequences attributable
to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income
in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect of a change in tax rates on the deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.
We provide a valuation allowance when we consider it “more likely than not” (greater than a 50% probability) that a deferred income tax asset will not be fully recovered. Adjustments to the valuation allowance are a component of the
deferred income tax expense or benefit in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Results of Operations
Year ended December 31, 2020 compared to year ended December 31, 2019
Revenue — asset management

Revenue from asset management for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $21.9 million and $19.6 million, respectively. The 11.8% year over year growth of $2.3 million in revenue was primarily due to
increased headcount and other costs that are reimbursable from Comstock Development Services ("CDS") under the 2019 AMA and the other asset management agreements. The reimbursable costs are recognized as revenue in the
period in which the related costs are incurred. The increased headcount and associated personnel costs are primarily attributable to the additional real estate assets being managed along with the additional management agreements year
over year. Please see Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies for more information on the additional management agreements.

Revenue — real estate services

Revenue from real estate services for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $6.8 million and $5.7 million, respectively. The 19.1% increase of $1.1 million is primarily attributable to continued organic
revenue growth within our Comstock Environmental business, partially offset by a decrease in closing financing transactions which generated incremental revenue of $0.6 million and $1.1 million during the years ended December 31,
2020 and 2019, respectively.

Direct costs — asset management

Direct costs — asset management for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $18.4 million and $16.6 million, respectively. This 11.4% increase of $1.9 million was primarily related to increased personnel
expense from headcount increases as well as from the continued growth of our asset management operations.
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Direct costs — real estate services

Direct costs — real estate services decreased by $0.5 million to $4.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2020, as compared to $4.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2019. The decrease is primarily
due to the recognition of $419 thousand in direct costs related to the real estate services segment from the Paycheck Protection Program Loan ("PPP Loan") as a government grant. Please see Note 9 - CARES Act for more information
on the PPP Loan and the Paycheck Protection Program ("PPP"). The grant was recognized during the covered period of the PPP Loan in the second quarter of 2020 as the related payroll costs were incurred, and the Company has
complied with the forgiveness conditions attached to the PPP Loan.

General and administrative

General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2020 increased $1.5 million to $3.0 million, as compared to $1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. The year-over-year increase is
attributable to increases in employee headcount and general overhead increases associated with the increased headcount. General overhead costs include such items as software expense and non-capitalized computer expenses.

Sales and marketing

Sales and marketing expenses was $661.0 thousand and $383.0 thousand for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The increase is attributable to increased sales development programs launched
by our Environmental business unit to grow the business. The increase in sale development costs has helped drive our 19.1%$1.1 million increase in real estate services revenue year over year.

Interest expense

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 non-capitalized interest expense was $379.0 thousand and $474.0 thousand, respectively. This was a decrease of 20.0%. The $95.0 thousand decrease was primarily
related to the retiring of the Comstock Growth Fund loan in 2020 that carried a higher interest rate than the CDS Note, partially offset by the April 30, 2019 Master Transfer Agreement (“MTA”). Prior to the MTA certain interest
expense was capitalized to homebuilding projects and expensed when the projects were sold. After the MTA this interest expense is no longer capitalized into homebuilding projects but expensed as incurred.

Income taxes

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized an income tax expense related to continuing operations of $25.0 thousand. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recognized an
income tax expense related to continuing operations of $2.0 thousand. The de minimis income tax expense in both years is primarily attributable to state tax obligations which our federal and state NOLs cannot offset.

13
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Loss from discontinued operations

On April 30, 2019, the Company entered into the Master Transfer Agreement ("MTA") that sets forth certain transactions to complete the Company’s previously announced exit from the homebuilding and land
development business in favor of a migration to an asset management model. Refer to Note 13 — Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities
for further discussion regarding the accounting related to discontinued operations. The operating results of the discontinued operations that are reflected on the Consolidated Statement of Operations within the net loss from discontinued
operations are as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2019

Revenues
Revenue—homebuilding $ 14,919
Total revenue 14,919
Expenses
Cost of sales—homebuilding 14,901
Sales and marketing 270
General and administrative 21
Operating loss (273)
Income tax benefit (15)
Net loss from discontinued operations (258)
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests 313
Net loss attributable to Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. $ (571)

Liquidity and Capital Resources

‘We finance our Asset Management and Real Estate Services operations, capital expenditures, and business acquisitions with internally generated funds, borrowings from our credit facilities and long-term debt.
Pursuant to the Master Transfer Agreement (the "MTA"), the Company transferred to CDS management of its Class A membership interests in Investors X, the entity owning the Company’s residual homebuilding operations in
exchange for residual cash flows. The associated debt obligations were also transferred to CDS. See Note 8 in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for more details on our debt and credit facilities.

On March 19, 2020, the Company entered into a Revolving Capital Line of Credit Agreement (the “Loan Documents”) with CDS, pursuant to which the Company secured a $10.0 million capital line of credit (the
“Revolver”). Under the terms of the Loan Documents, the Revolver provides for an initial variable interest rate of the WSJ Prime Rate plus 1.00% per annum on advances made under the Revolver, payable monthly in arrears. The five-
year term facility allows for interim draws that carry a maturity date of 12 months from the initial date of the disbursement unless a longer initial term is agreed to by CDS. On March 27, 2020 the Company borrowed $5.5 million under
the Revolver. The $5.5 million borrowing has a maturity date of April 30, 2023. On April 10, 2020, the capital provided to the Company by the Revolver was utilized to retire all of the Company’s 10% corporate indebtedness maturing
in 2020 owed to Comstock Growth Fund, L.C.

On April 20, 2020, the Company was granted the PPP Loan in the aggregate amount of $1.95 million pursuant to the PPP under the CARES Act, which was enacted March 27, 2020. Under the terms of the PPP, PPP
loans and accrued interest are forgivable after twenty-four weeks as long as the borrower uses the loan proceeds for eligible purposes, including payroll, benefits, rent and utilities, and maintains its payroll levels. The amount of loan
forgiveness will be reduced if the borrower terminates employees or reduces salaries during the forgiveness period.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had used the entire loan proceeds to fund its payroll and rent expenses. As a result, the Company believes that it has met the PPP eligibility criteria for forgiveness and has
concluded that the loan represents, in substance, a government grant that is expected to be forgiven. As such, in accordance with IAS 20 “Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance”, the Company
has recognized the entire loan amount as a reduction to the associated expenses as at December 31, 2020.

The Company does not anticipate taking any action that would cause any portion of the PPP Loan to be ineligible for forgiveness. However, to the extent that any amount is deemed unforgivable, such amount is
payable over 2 to 5 years at an interest rate of 1%, with a deferral of payments for the first 6 months.
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Cash Flow

Net cash provided by operating activities was $3.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The $3.4 million net cash provided by operations in 2020 was primarily due to $2.1 million of net income generated
during the year. Net cash provided by operating activities was $8.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. The $8.4 million net cash provided by operations in 2019 was primarily due to $7.8 million in cash provided by
discontinued operations.

Net cash used in investing activities was $1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. This was primarily attributable to the purchase of fixed assets for the new headquarters lease. Net cash used in investing
activities attributable to continuing operations was immaterial for the years ended December 31, 2019.

Net cash used in financing activities was $1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. This was primarily attributable to the retirement of debt partially offset by proceeds under the Revolver of $5.5 million. Net
cash used in financing activities was immaterial for the year ended December 31, 2019. Net cash used in financing activities from discontinued operations was $6.0 million primarily as a result of note payoff related to each lot or unit
sale in the Investors X communities.

Share Repurchase Program

In November 2014, our board of directors approved a new share repurchase program authorizing the Company to repurchase up to 429,000 shares of our Class A common stock in one or more open market or privately
negotiated transactions. We made no share repurchases under our share repurchase program in 2020 or 2019.

Trends and Uncertainties

In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus (“COVID-19”) surfaced in Wuhan, China. Through March 2021, the spread of this virus has caused business disruption primarily in the travel, leisure and hospitality
industries and with respect to companies that have significant operations or supply chains in China. The spread of COVID-19 has also caused significant volatility in U.S. and international debt and equity markets, which can negatively
impact consumer confidence. There is significant uncertainty around the breadth and duration of business disruptions related to COVID-19, as well as its impact on the U.S. economy and consumer confidence. The extent to which
COVID-19 impacts our results will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including new information which may emerge concerning the severity of COVID-19 and the actions taken to
contain it or treat its impact. While we have not seen a significant impact on our business resulting from COVID-19 to date, if the virus continues to cause significant negative impacts to economic conditions or consumer confidence,
our results of operations and financial condition could be adversely impacted.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Not applicable.

Item 8. Financial S and

y Data

Reference is made to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the notes thereto, and the report thereon, commencing on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagr with Acc on Acc ing and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Exchange Act”), as of December 31, 2020. Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports we file or submit
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including our
principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as
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appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of
December 31, 2020.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over our financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act.

‘We conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020 based on the Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2020. Our management determined that, as
of December 31, 2020, our internal control over financial reporting is effective.

Limitati on the Effecti of Controls

We do not expect that our disclosure controls and internal controls will prevent all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only assurance, at the reasonable
assurance level, that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under
all potential future conditions; over time, a control may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-
effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and may not be detected.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

No change has occurred in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) during our last fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2020, that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

The certifications of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) are filed with this Annual Report on Form 10-K as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2.
The certifications of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C.1350 are furnished with this Annual Report on Form 10-K as Exhibit 32.1.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or
an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or
an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or
an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or
an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or
an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
(1) Consolidated Financial Statements are listed in the Index to Financial Statements on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(2) Schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable or because the information required to be set forth therein is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits
Exhibit
Number Exhibit
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on November 16, 2015).
3.2 Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K

filed with the Commission on February 19, 2019).
3.3 Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 31, 2005).

3.4 Certificate of Designation of Series C Non-Convertible Preferred Stock of Comstock Holding Companies, Inc., filed with the Secretary of the State of Delaware on March 22, 2017 (incorporated by reference to an
exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 28, 2017).

3.5 Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Designation of Series C Non-Convertible Preferred Stock of Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on February
15, 2019 (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on February 19, 2019).

4.1 Specimen Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended, initially filed with the Commission on August 13, 2004 (No. 333-118193)).

10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended, initially filed with the Commission on August 13, 2004 (No. 333-
118193)).

10.2 2004 Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended, initially filed with the Commission on August 13, 2004

(No. 333-118193)). +

10.3 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended, initially filed with the Commission on August 13, 2004 (No. 333-
118193)). +
10.4 Services Agreement, dated March 4, 2005, with Comstock Asset Management, L.C. (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission on

March 31, 2005).

10.5 Employment Agreement with Christopher Clemente (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended, initially filed with the Commission on August 13,
2004 (No. 333-118193)). +

10.6 Confidentiality and Non-Competition Agreement with Christopher Clemente (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended, initially filed with the
Commission on August 13, 2004 (No. 333-118193)). +
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10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

Trademark License Agreement (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended, initially filed with the Commission on August 13, 2004 (No. 333-
118193)).

Lease Agreement, dated on or about December 31, 2009, with Comstock Asset Management, L.C. by Comstock Property Management, L.C., a subsidiary of Registrant (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to
the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 31, 2010).

Credit Enhancement and Indemnification Agreement, dated February 17, 2011, by and between Registrant and Christopher D. Clemente and Gregory V. Benson (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on May 13, 2011).

Form of warrant issued in connection with private placement by Comstock Growth Fund, L.C. (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission
on April 14, 2015).

Section 382 Rights Agreement between Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC dated March 27, 2015 (incorporated by reference to an Exhibit to the current
report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 27, 2015).

Form of Subscription Agreement and Operating Agreement dated August 15, 2016, between Comstock Investors X, L.C. and [-], with accompanying Schedule A identifying subscribers (incorporated by reference
to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on November 14, 2016).

Form of Warrant issued in connection with private placement by Comstock Investors X, L.C. (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission
on November 14, 2016).

Operating Agreement, dated October 24, 2016, between Comstock Redland Road ITI, L.C. and SCG Development Partners, LLC to form Momentum General Partners, LLC (incorporated by reference to an
exhibit to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission on April 17, 2017).

Share Exchange Agreement between Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. and Investor Management, L.C., Christopher Clemente and Teresa A. Schar dated March 22, 2017 (incorporated by reference to an exhibit
to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 28, 2017).

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated July 14, 2017, between CDS Capital Management, L.C., and Monridge Environmental, LLC (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q filed with the Commission on November 16, 2017).

Amendment to the Operating Agreement, dated October 13, 2017, between Comstock Investors X, L.C. and Comstock Development Services, L.C. (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on November 16, 2017).

Form of Warrant, dated October 13, 2017, between Comstock Investors X, L.C. and Comstock Development Services, L.C. (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q filed on November 16, 2017).

Third Amended and Restated Promissory Note, dated May 22, 2018, between Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. and Comstock Growth Fund, L.C. (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 14, 2018).

Second Amended and Restated Operating Agreement of Comstock Growth Fund, L.C., dated May 22, 2018 (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on
August 14, 2018).
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10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31
10.32*

10.33*

10.34*
14.1
21.1*

23.1*

Membership Interest Exchange and Subscription Agreement, dated May 23, 2018, between Comstock Holding Companies, Inc., Comstock Growth Fund, L.C., and certain members of Comstock Growth Fund
(incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 14, 2018).

Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Annex B to the Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on January 22, 2019).+

2019 Master Asset Management Agreement, dated January 2, 2019, between CDS Asset Management, L.C. and Comstock Development Services, LC (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission on April 15, 2020).

Form of Time-Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission
on April 15, 2020).

Form of Performance Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the
Commission on April 15, 2020).

Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Comstock 3101 Wilson, LC dated February 7, 2020 (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed with the Commission on August 14, 2020).

Ten Million ($10,000,000) Revolving Capital Line of Credit Agreement dated March 19, 2020, between Comstock Development Services, LC and Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
an exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on May 28, 2020).

Promissory Note dated March 27, 2020, between Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. and Comstock Development Services, LC (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on May 28, 2020).

Note dated April 16, 2020 between Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. and MainStreet Bank pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program authorized under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security
Act (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on May 28, 2020).

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated April 27, 2020, between Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. and Christopher Clemente (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on August 14, 2020).+

Letter of BDO USA, LLP dated June 24, 2020 (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 24, 2020).

Deed of Lease dated November 1, 2020, between CRS Plaza I, LC and Comstock Holding Companies, Inc.

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Momentum General Partners LLC dated November 9, 2020, between SCG Development Partners, LL.C and Comstock
Redland Road I11, L..C.

Code of Ethics (incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 31, 2005).
List of subsidiaries

Consent of BDO USA, LLP
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23.2% Consent of Grant Thornton, LLP
31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley_Act of 2002
31.2% Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1%* Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101* The following materials from the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, formatted in eXtensible Business Language (XBRL): (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheet, (ii) the
Consolidated Statements of Operations, (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholder’s Equity, (iv) the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and (v) the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
* Filed herewith.
+ Management contracts or compensatory plans, contracts or arrangements
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

COMSTOCK HOLDING COMPANIES, INC.
Date: March 31, 2021 By: /s/ Christopher Clemente

Christopher Clemente
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated.

Signature Capacity Date
/s/ Christopher Clemente Chairman of the Board of Directors and March 31, 2021
Christopher Clemente Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Christopher Guthrie Chief Financial Officer March 31, 2021
Christopher Guthrie (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ David Guernsey Director March 31, 2021
David M. Guernsey
/s/ James MacCutcheon Director March 31, 2021
James A. MacCutcheon
/s/ Robert Pincus Director March 31, 2021
Robert P. Pincus
/s/ Socrates Verses Director March 31, 2021
Socrates Verses
/s/ Joseph Squeri Director March 31, 2021

Joseph M. Squeri
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Comstock Holding Companies, Inc.

Opinion on the financial statements

‘We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2020, the related consolidated statements of
operations, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America.

Basis for opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

‘We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit we are required to obtain an understanding
of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or
disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial
statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities

As discussed in Notes 4 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company holds an equity investment in Comstock Investors X, L.C. (“Investors X”) and accounts for its investment as an unconsolidated variable interest
entity (“VIE”) under the equity method. To reach its accounting conclusion, the Company evaluates whether it holds a controlling financial interest in Investors X. A controlling financial interest is defined as (a) the power to direct the
activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the VIE's economic performance and (b) the obligation to absorb losses of the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could
potentially be significant to the VIE. We identified the assessment of the primary beneficiaries of Investors X as a critical audit matter.

The principal consideration that the assessment of the primary beneficiaries of Investors X is a critical audit matter is that auditing the Company’s determination of whether it has power required significant auditor judgment to evaluate
both the activities of the investee that most significantly impact the investee’s economics and the distribution of the power among the members of Investors X through governing documents and related service agreements that ultimately
determine the outcome of such activities. The Company’s determination that it does not have the power to direct the significant activities impacting each of the investees’ economic performance (“power”) is key to its determination that
it is not the primary beneficiary of Investors X and does not have to consolidate the entity.
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Our audit procedures related to the assessment of the primary beneficiary of Investors X included the following, among others:

*  We read the Investors X governing documents (including related service agreements) and underlying financial information and made inquiries with management to obtain a detailed understanding of the entity and its
operations.

*  We compared the key facts included in management's analysis to the governing documents and the Company's interests in Investors X.
*  We evaluated whether the Company’s conclusion that Investors X met the criteria of a VIE was appropriate and in accordance with relevant accounting guidance.

«  Through consultation with our national office, we evaluated whether the Company's assessment effectively identified the primary beneficiary of Investors X through an analysis of the significant activities of Investors X and
which parties hold the power to direct those significant activities and the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits from Investors X, in accordance with relevant accounting guidance.

*  We considered the evidence obtained in other areas of the audit to determine if there were reconsideration events that had not been identified by the Company, including, among others, reading board minutes and confirming the
terms of certain agreements, if any.

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP
‘We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2020.

Arlington, Virginia
March 31, 2021
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Stockholders and Board of Directors
Comstock Holding Companies, Inc.
Reston, Virginia

1id

d Financial St

Opinion on the C

‘We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity, and
cash flows for the year then ended and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements™). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company at December 31, 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We are a public
accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

‘We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of
material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit we are required to obtain an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures
included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP
We served as the Company’s auditor from 2016 to 2019.

Potomac, Maryland
April 14, 2020
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COMSTOCK HOLDING COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,032 $ 3,511
Trade receivables, net 1,482 1,886
Trade receivables - related parties 3,598 3,644
Prepaid and other assets, net 242 274
Total current assets 12,354 9,315
Equity method investments at fair value 6,307 8,421
Fixed assets, net 266 278
Operating lease right-of-use assets 7,914 114
Goodwill 1,702 1,702
Intangible assets, net 36 103
TOTAL ASSETS 3 28579 8 19,933
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accrued personnel costs $ 2,442 $ 2,916
Accounts payable 523 1,438
Accrued liabilities 964 166
Short term operating lease liabilities 569 —
Short term notes payable - due to affiliates, net of discount — 5,706
Short term notes payable 5 77
Total current liabilities 4,503 10,303
Long term notes payable - due to affiliates 5,500 —
Long term notes payable, net of deferred financing charges — 1,212
Long term operating lease liabilities, net of current portion 7,361 61
TOTAL LIABILITIES $ 17,364 § 11,576
Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Series C preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 20,000,000 shares authorized, 3,440,690 shares issued and outstanding with a liquidation preference of $17,203 at December 31, 2020 and 2019 $ 6,765 $ 6,765
Class A common stock, $0.01 par value, 59,779,750 shares authorized, 7,953,729 and 7,849,756 issued and 7,868,159 and 7,764,186 outstanding at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively 79 78
Class B common stock, $0.01 par value, 220,250 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 and 2019 2 2
Additional paid-in capital $ 200,147 $ 199,372
Treasury stock, at cost (85,570 shares Class A common stock) (2,662) (2,662)
Accumulated deficit (193,116) (195,198)
TOTAL EQUITY $ 11,215  $ 8,357
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY $ 28,579 § 19,933

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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COMSTOCK HOLDING COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)

For the years ended December 31,

2020 2019
Revenue
Asset management $ 21,923  $ 19,605
Real estate services 6,803 5,712
Total revenue 28,726 25,317
Operating expenses
Direct costs - asset management 18,445 16,561
Direct costs - real estate services 4,097 4,611
General and administrative 2,956 1,487
Sales and marketing 661 383
Operating income 2,567 2,275
Interest expense (379) (474)
Other income, net 112 225
Income before income tax expense 2,300 2,026
Income tax expense (25) 2
Loss on equity method investments carried at fair value (193) (560)
Net income from continuing operations 2,082 1,464
Net loss from discontinued operations, net of tax — (571)
Net income $ 2,082 $ 893
Income per share from continuing operations
Basic net income per share $ 026 $ 0.22
Diluted net income per share $ 024 $ 0.22
Loss per share from discontinued operations
Basic net loss per share $ — 3 (0.09)
Diluted net loss per share $ — 3 (0.09)
Income per share
Basic net income per share $ 026 $ 0.13
Diluted net income per share $ 024 $ 0.13
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 8,056 6,617
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 8,539 6,799

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Balance at January 1, 2019

Stock compensation and issuances

Accrued Liability settled through issuance of stock

Shares withheld related to net share settlement of restricted stock awards
Warrant exercises

Class A stock conversion of non-controlling interest

Series C conversion of non-controlling interest

Gain on deconsolidation of discontinued operations

Net income

Balance at December 31, 2019

Stock compensation and issuances

Accrued Liability settled through issuance of stock

Shares withheld related to net share settlement of restricted stock awards
Net income

Balance at December 31, 2020

COMSTOCK HOLDING COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Series C

Additional Non-
Preferred Stock Class A Class B paid-in Treasury Accumulated controlling
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount capital stock deficit interest Total

2,800 $ 7,193 3,703 $ 37 220 $ 2 3 181,632 $ (2,662) $ (196,091) $ 15,706 $ 5,817
— — 71 1 — — 509 — — — 510
— — 63 — — — 141 — — — 141
— — 12) — — — — — — — —
- - 200 2 - - 358 - - — 360
— — 3,824 38 — — 16,050 — — (16,019) 69
641 (428) = = = = = = = (428)
— — — — — — 682 — — — 682
— — — — — — — — 893 313 1,206

3,441 § 6,765 7,849 § 78 220§ 2 % 199,372 § (2,662) $ (195,198) $ — 8 8,357
— — 107 1 — — 776 — — — 777
— — 30 — — — 68 — — — 68
— — (€8)] — — — (69) — — — (69)
— — — — — — — — 2,082 — 2,082

3441 § 6,765 7,953 § 79 220 § 2§ 200,147 $ (2,662) $ (193,116) $ — $ 11,215

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustment to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities
Amortization of loan discount, loan commitment and deferred financing fees
Depreciation expense
Amortization expense
Earnings from unconsolidated joint venture, net of distributions
Stock-based compensation
Loss on equity method investments carried at fair value
Distributions from equity method investments carried at fair value
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Trade receivables
Trade receivables - related party
Deferred revenue
Prepaid and other assets
Lease liabilities
Accrued personnel costs
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities of discontinued operations
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Contributions to equity method investments carried at fair value
Distributions from equity method investments carried at fair value
Purchase of fixed assets
Principal received on note receivable
Net cash provided by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from notes payable
Payments on notes payable
Loan financing costs
Proceeds from exercise of warrants
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of equity awards
Net cash used in financing activities from discontinued operations
Net cash used in financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid, net of interest capitalized
Income taxes paid

Supplemental disclosure for non-cash activity:
Accrued liability settled through issuance of stock
Conversion of noncontrolling interest to CHCI equity
Gain on deconsolidation of Investors X recorded in APIC
Increase in operating lease right-of-use assets
Issuance of stock in lieu of interest due
Gain on early extinguishment of debt
PPP Loan proceeds received

COMSTOCK HOLDING COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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For the years ended December 31,

2020 2019

$ 2082 $ 893
27 84

159 150

67 67

9% 50

777 479

193 560

103 —
404 (956)
46 (694)
— (1,875)

(64) 11

69 —

(474) 1,520

(915) 240

866 72

— 7,793

3,436 8,394
= (1,200)

1,818 1,525

(147) (207)

— 27

1,671 145

5,554 —

(7,071) (228)

= (28)

— 360

(69) (35)

— (5,951)

(1,586) (5,882)

3,521 2,657

3,511 854

$ 7032 $ 3,511
$ 397§ 420
$ — 3 —
$ 68 § 141
$ — 3 16,019
$ — 3 682
$ 8023 § 170
$ — 3 66
$ 50 $ —
$ 1,954 $ —
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COMSTOCK HOLDING COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in thousands, except per share data, number of units, or as otherwise noted)

1. ORGANIZATION

Comstock Holding Companies, Inc., incorporated in 2004 as a Delaware corporation, is a multi-faceted asset management and services company primarily focused in the Washington, D.C. Metropolitan Statistical
Area. In 2018, the Company made a strategic decision to transform its operating platform from being primarily focused on developing on-balance sheet, for-sale, homebuilding projects to being focused on commercial and residential
asset management and real estate related services. On April 30, 2019 the Company announced the exit from the homebuilding business. The Company now operates through five primarily real estate focused subsidiaries — CDS Asset
Management, LC (“CAM”), Comstock Residential Management, LC, Comstock Commercial Management, LC, Park X Management, LC and Comstock Environmental Services, LC (“CES”). See Note 21 - Subsequent Events for entity
name changes that occurred on February 18, 2021. The Company’s homebuilding operations are presented in Discontinued Operations (see Note 19 — Discontinued Operations). References in these Consolidated Financial Statements to
“Comstock,” “Company”, “we,” “our” and “us” refer to Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. together in each case with our subsidiaries unless the context suggests otherwise.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A summary of the significant accounting policies and practices used in the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements is as follows:

Basis of presentation

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”) and include the accounts of the
Company and its consolidated subsidiaries. Intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated. Investments in real estate ventures over which we exercise significant influence, but do not control, are accounted for either at
fair value or under the equity method.

‘When applying principles of consolidation, we begin by determining whether an investee entity is a variable interest entity ("VIE") or a voting interest entity. U.S. GAAP draws a distinction between voting interest
entities, which are embodied by common and traditional corporate and certain partnership structures, and VIEs, broadly defined as entities for which control is achieved through means other than voting rights. For voting interest
entities, the interest holder with control through majority ownership and majority voting rights consolidates the entity. For VIEs, determination of the "primary beneficiary" dictates the accounting treatment. We identify the primary
beneficiary of a VIE as the enterprise having both (i) the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the entity's economic performance and (ii) the obligation to absorb losses or receive benefits of the VIE
that could potentially be significant to the VIE. We perform the primary beneficiary analysis as of the inception of our investment and upon the occurrence of a reconsideration event. When we determine we are the primary beneficiary
of a VIE, we consolidate the VIE; when we determine we are not the primary beneficiary of the VIE, we account for our investment in the VIE at fair value or under the equity method, based upon an election made at the time of
investment.

Our determination of the appropriate accounting method to apply for unconsolidated investments is based on the level of influence we have in the underlying entity. When we have an asset management or property
management contract with a real estate limited partnership in which we also hold an ownership interest, the combination of our limited partner interest and the management agreement generally provides us with significant influence
over such real estate limited partnership. Accordingly, we account for such investments either at fair value or under the equity method. We eliminate transactions with such subsidiaries to the extent of our ownership in such subsidiaries.

Use of estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements and accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ from those estimates. Material estimates are utilized, including but not limited to, the valuation of equity method investments, valuation of deferred tax assets, analysis of goodwill impairment, and valuation of
equity-based compensation.
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Discontinued Operations

On July 23, 2019 the Company completed the transfer of Investors X subject to the Master Transfer Agreement (“MTA”). For the year ended December 31, 2019, we classified revenues and expenses related to
Investors X into discontinued operations on the Consolidated Statement of Operations and the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. See Note 19 — Discontinued Operations.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash and short-term investments with maturities of three months or less when purchased. The carrying amount of cash equivalents approximates fair value due to the short-
term maturity of these investments. The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents in financial institutions that at times exceeds federally insured limits. Management believes that the Company’s credit risk exposure is mitigated by
the financial strength of the banking institution in which the deposits are held. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $5.3 million in U.S. bank accounts which were not fully insured by the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation

Trade Receivables and Concentration of Credit Risk

Trade receivables are recorded at the amount invoiced. We reduce accounts receivable by estimating an allowance for amounts that may become uncollectible in the future. Management determines the estimated
allowance for uncollectible amounts based on their judgements in evaluating the aging of the receivables and the financial condition of our clients, which may be dependent on the type of client and the client’s current financial
condition.

The Company does significant business with related party entities. Financial instruments that subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of related party receivables. The Company generally
does not obtain collateral or other security to support financial instruments subject to credit risk, but monitors the credit standing of related party entities. The Company derives a substantial portion of its revenues from various related
party entities; with related party entities accounting for 79% of the Company’s total consolidated revenues in 2020.

See Note 14 — Related Party Transactions for more information.

Investments in real estate ventures

We invest in certain real estate ventures that primarily own and operate real estate in two sectors, land development and commercial office. These investments take the form of equity ownership interests and, based
upon investment-specific objectives, have included three to seven year planned investment periods. Our investments in real estate ventures are not redeemable until the disposition of the underlying real estate investment. We have
elected to account for these equity method investments using the fair value option.

For investments in real estate ventures reported at fair value, we maintain an investment account that is increased or decreased each reporting period by the difference between the fair value of the investment and the
carrying value as of the balance sheet date. These fair value adjustments are reflected as gains or losses on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The fair value of these investments as of the balance sheet date is generally
determined using a Discounted Cash Flow (“DCF”) analysis, based upon unobservable inputs in the fair value hierarchy.

See Note 4 - Equity Method Investments in Real Estate Ventures Carried at Fair Value for additional information on Investments in real estate ventures.

Fixed assets, net

Fixed assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and are depreciated on the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold improvements Shorter of asset life or related lease term
Furniture and fixtures 7 years
Office equipment 5 years
Vehicles 3 years
Computer equipment 3 years

Capitalized software 3 years
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Leases

Our operating leases are related to office space we lease in various buildings for our own use. The terms of these non-cancelable operating leases typically require us to pay rent and a share of operating expenses and
real estate taxes, generally with an inflation-based rent increase included. Our lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants.

Operating lease right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities are recognized based on the present value of the future minimum lease payments (e.g. rent) over the lease term beginning at the commencement date.
The Operating lease right-of-use assets are adjusted for lease incentives, deferred rent, and initial direct costs, if incurred. Our leases generally do not include an implicit rate; therefore, we use an incremental borrowing rate based on
information available at the lease commencement date in determining the present value of future minimum lease payments. The related lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

See Note 6 — Leases for more information.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired in a business acquisition. Following an acquisition, we perform an analysis to value the acquired company’s
tangible and identifiable intangible assets and liabilities. With respect to identifiable intangible assets, we consider backlog, non-compete agreements, client relationships, trade names, patents and other assets. We amortize our
intangible assets based on the period over which the contractual or economic benefits of the intangible assets are expected to be realized. We assess the recoverability of the unamortized balance of our intangible assets when indicators
of impairment are present based on expected future profitability and undiscounted expected cash flows and their contribution to our overall operations. Should the review indicate that the carrying value is not fully recoverable, the
excess of the carrying value over the fair value of the intangible assets would be recognized as an impairment loss.

We perform our annual goodwill impairment review during our fourth quarter as of October 1. In addition, we regularly evaluate whether events and circumstances have occurred that may indicate a potential change in
recoverability of goodwill. We perform interim goodwill impairment reviews between our annual reviews if certain events and circumstances have occurred, including a deterioration in general economic conditions, an increased
competitive environment, a change in management, key personnel, strategy or customers, significant or unusual changes in market capitalization, negative or declining cash flows, or a decline in actual or planned revenue or earnings
compared with actual and projected results of relevant prior periods.

‘When assessing goodwill for impairment, the Company may first assess qualitative factors to evaluate whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than it’s carrying amount or elect to
bypass such assessment. If it is determined that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than it’s carrying value, or the Company elects to bypass such assessment, the Company then determines the fair value
of each reporting unit. The estimate of the fair value of each reporting unit is based on a projected discounted cash flow model that includes significant assumptions and estimates including the Company's discount rate, growth rate and
future financial performance as well as a market multiple model based upon similar transactions in the market. Assumptions about the discount rate are based on a weighted average cost of capital built up from various interest rate
components applicable to the Company. Assumptions about the growth rate and future financial performance of a reporting unit are based on the Company's forecasts, business plans, economic projections and anticipated future cash
flows. Market multiples are derived from recent transactions among businesses of a similar size and industry. The fair value of each reporting unit is compared to the carrying amount of the reporting unit. If the carrying value of the
reporting unit exceeds the fair value, then an impairment loss is recognized for the difference

Debt Issuance Costs

Costs incurred in connection with the issuance of long-term debt are deferred and amortized as interest expense over the term of the related debt using the effective interest method for term debt and on a straight-line
basis for revolving debt. To the extent that debt is outstanding, these amounts are reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as direct deductions of debt and as assets for costs related to revolving debt. See Note 8 for additional
information on the Company's long-term debt and related debt issuance costs.
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Revenue recognition
The Company’s revenues consist primarily of

* Asset Management;

* Property Management;

« Capital Markets;

+ Leasing;

« Project & Development Services; and
* Environmental Remediation

Asset Management

Asset Management primarily provides comprehensive real estate asset management services to the CDS portfolio, representing a series of daily performance obligations delivered over time. Pricing includes a cost-plus
management fee or a market-rate fee form of variable consideration. The Company earns whichever is higher. See Note 14 — Related Party Transactions.

The amount of revenue recognized is presented gross for any services provided by our employees, as we control them. This is evidenced by our obligation for their performance and our ability to direct and redirect
their work, as well as negotiate the value of such services. In the instances where we do not control third-party services delivered to the client, we report revenues net of the third-party reimbursements. Consistent with the transfer of
control for distinct, daily services to the customer, revenue is typically recognized at the end of each period for the fees associated with the services performed.

Property Management

Property Management provides on-site day-to-day management services for owners of office, industrial, retail, multifamily residential and various other types of properties, representing a series of daily performance
obligations delivered over time. Pricing is generally in the form of a monthly management fee based upon property-level cash receipts, square footage under management or some other variable metric. Revenues from project
management may also include reimbursement of payroll and related costs for personnel providing the services and subcontracted vendor costs. Project management services represent a series of distinct daily services rendered over time.
Consistent with the transfer of control for distinct, daily services to the customer, revenue is typically recognized at the end of each period for the fees associated with the services performed.

The amount of revenue recognized is presented gross for any services provided by our employees, as we control them. This is evidenced by our obligation for their performance and our ability to direct and redirect
their work, as well as negotiate the value of such services. In the instances where we do not control third-party services delivered to the client, we report revenues net of the third-party reimbursements.

Capital Markets

We offer clients commercial mortgage and structured financing services. We are compensated for our services via a fee paid upon successful commercial financing from third party lenders. The fee earned is contingent
upon the funding of the loan, which represents the transfer of control for services to the customer. Therefore, we typically satisfy our performance obligation at the point in time of the funding of the loan, when there is a present right to
payment.

Leasing

‘We provide strategic advice and execution for owners, investors, and occupiers of real estate in connection with the leasing of office, industrial and retail space. We are compensated for our services in the form of a
commission. Our commission is paid upon signing of the lease by the tenant. We satisfy our performance obligation at a point in time; generally, at the time of the contractual event where there is a present right to payment.

Project & Development Services

We provide project and construction management services for owners and occupiers of real estate in connection with the management and leasing of office, industrial and retail space. The fees that we earn are typically
variable based upon a percentage of project cost. We are compensated for our services in the form management fees. Project and construction management services represent a series of performance obligations delivered over time and
revenue is recognized over time.
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Environmental Remediation

We provide environmental remediation services for owners of real estate. Remediation services are generally contracted and performed by Comstock Environmental. We are compensated for our services as well as for
the services of subcontractors used to perform remediation services. Fees earned are generally based upon employee time spent as well as a cost-plus arrangement for subcontractors used. Generally, environmental remediation services
represent a series of performance obligations delivered over time and revenue is recognized over time.

Contract Costs

Expenses, primarily employee commissions, incurred on leasing and capital markets transactions represent substantially all our incremental costs to obtain revenue contracts. We apply the applicable practical
expedient offered by ASC Topic 606 when the amortization period is one year or less and, therefore, recognize these costs as an operating expense as they are incurred.

Stock compensation

As discussed in Note 12, the Company sponsors stock option plans and restricted stock award plans. The Company accounts for its share-based awards pursuant to Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 718,
Share Based Payments. ASC 718 requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements over the service period based on their fair values at the date of
grant. For the year ended December 31, 2020, total stock based compensation cost was $0.8 million which was charged to expenses within ‘general and administrative’ in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. For the year ended
December 31, 2019, total stock based compensation cost was $0.5 million which was charged to expenses within ‘general and administrative’ and ‘Direct costs-real estate services’ in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Income taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method in accordance with ASC 740, Accounting for Income Taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for future tax consequences attributable
to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income
in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect of a change in tax rates on the deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.
We provide a valuation allowance when we consider it “more likely than not” (greater than a 50% probability) that a deferred income tax asset will not be fully recovered. Adjustments to the valuation allowance are a component of the
deferred income tax expense or benefit in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Recently adopted accounting pronouncements

In August 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU 2018-13, “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820) — Disclosure Framework — Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value
Measurement” (“ASU 2018-13”), which removes, adds and modifies certain disclosure requirements for fair value measurements in Topic 820. ASU 2018-13 removes the following disclosure requirements: (i) the amount of and
reasons for transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy and (ii) the entity’s valuation processes for Level 3 fair value measurements. ASU 2018-13 adds the following disclosure requirements: (i) provide
information about the measurement uncertainty of Level 3 fair value measurements as of the reporting date rather than a point in the future, (ii) disclose changes in unrealized gains and losses related to Level 3 measurements for the
period included in other comprehensive income, and (iii) disclose for Level 3 measurements the range and weighted average of the significant unobservable inputs and the way it is calculated. ASU 2018-13 is effective for fiscal years,
and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted. The Company adopted ASU 2018-13 prospectively as of January 1, 2020. The adoption did not have a material impact on
our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (Topic 326), which modifies how companies recognize expected credit losses on financial instruments and other commitments
to extend credit held by an entity at each reporting date. Existing GAAP requires an “incurred loss” methodology whereby companies are prohibited from recording an expected loss until it is probable that the loss has been incurred.
ASU 2016-13 requires companies to use a methodology that reflects current expected credit losses (“CECL”) and requires consideration of a broad range of reasonable and
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supportable information to record and report credit loss estimates, even when the CECL is remote. Companies will be required to record the allowance for credit losses and deduct that amount from the basis of the asset. The guidance is
effective for the Company for financial statement periods beginning after December 15, 2022, although early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this guidance will have on its financial statements and
related disclosures.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes, which is intended to simplify various aspects related to accounting for income taxes. ASU 2019-12 removes certain
exceptions to the general principles in ASC 740, Income Tax and also clarifies and amends existing guidance to improve consistent application. ASU 2019-12 will be effective for public business entities for annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2020, and interim periods within those periods. Early adoption is permitted. We do not expect the adoption of this pronouncement to have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

‘We have evaluated all other issued and unadopted Accounting Standards Updates and believe the adoption of these standards will not have a material impact on our consolidated statements of operations,
comprehensive income, balance sheets, or cash flows.

3. TRADE RECEIVABLES & TRADE RECEIVABLES - RELATED PARTIES

Trade receivables include amounts due from real estate services, asset management and project management. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had $1.5 million and $1.9 million, respectively, of trade
receivables. The Company records an allowance for doubtful accounts based on historical collection experience and the aging of receivables. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the allowance for doubtful accounts was de minimis
based on the Company’s historical collection experience for receivables older than 90 days along with an analysis of collections received as of the filing date.

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had $3.6 million and $3.6 million, respectively, of receivables from related parties. The Company does not record an allowance for doubtful accounts related to
receivables from related parties. This is due to the related party nature of the receivables along with the collection history.

4. EQUITY METHOD INVESTMENTS IN REAL ESTATE VENTURES CARRIED AT FAIR VALUE

Based upon elections made at the date of investment, the Company reports the equity method investments in real estate ventures at fair value. For such investments, the Company increases or decreases the investment each
reporting period by the change in the fair value and the Company reports the fair value adjustments in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the ‘loss on equity method investments carried at fair value’ line item. Changes in fair
value of the Company's investment in Investors X (defined below) are impacted by distributions as the fair value is based on finite cash flows from the wind-down of that entity.

Fair value of equity method investments are classified as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had equity method investments in real estate ventures at fair value of
$6.3 million and $8.4 million, respectively. The table below shows the change in the Company’s investments in real estate ventures reported at fair value.

2020 2019
Fair value of investments as of January 1 $ 8,421 $ —
Investments — 10,506
Distributions (1,921) (1,525)
Change in fair value (193) (560)
Fair value of investments as of December 31 $ 6,307 $ 8,421

See Note 14 — Related Party Transactions for additional discussion of our investments in real estate ventures at fair value.

Investors X

The Company has elected to account for the equity method investment in Comstock Investors X, L.C. (“Investors X”), a Variable Interest Entity (“VIE”) that owns the Company’s residual homebuilding operations at fair
value. Fair value is determined using a discounted cash flow model based on expected future cash flows for income and realization events of the underlying asset. Expected future cash flows includes contractually fixed revenues and
expenses as well as estimates for future revenues and expenses where contracts do not currently exist. These estimates are based on prior experience as well as comparable, third party data.
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As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the fair value of the Company’s investment in Investors X is $5.1 million and $7.2 million, respectively. The Company received distributions of $1.8 million and 1.5 million during the

years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and recognized a loss in fair value of $0.3 million and $0.6 million, respectively.

Summarized Financial Information for Investors X

Statement of Operations:
Total revenue
Direct costs
Net income (loss)

Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. share of net income (loss)

The Hartford

For the Year Ended December 31,

2019
14,515 $ 6,832
12,982 8,196
1,533 $ (1,364)

— % —

On December 30, 2019, the Company made an investment related to the purchase of a stabilized commercial office building located at 3101 Wilson Boulevard in the Clarendon area of Arlington County, Virginia (the
“Hartford”). The Company owns a 2.5% equity interest in the asset at a cost of approximately $1.2 million. The Company has elected to account for the equity method investment in the Hartford at fair value. Fair value is determined
using an income approach and sales comparable approach models. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the fair value of the Company’s investment in the Hartford was $1.2 million. The Company received distributions of $0.1 million

during the year ended December 31, 2020.

Summarized Financial Information for the Hartford

Statement of Operations:
Total revenue
Direct costs
Other costs
Net loss

Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. share of net loss

5. FIXED ASSETS, NET

Fixed assets consist of the following:

Computer equipment and capitalized software
Furniture and fixtures

Office equipment

Vehicles

Leasehold improvements

Less: accumulated depreciation

Year Ended December 31,
2020
$ 9,308
2,785
8,860
$ (2,337)
$ (58)
December 31, December 31,

2020 2019
$ 957 $ 893
66 63
224 224
139 141
56 6
1,442 1,327
(1,176) (1,049)
$ 266 $ 278

Depreciation expense, included in ‘general and administrative’ in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations, amounted to $0.2 million and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and

2019, respectively. The company did not record impairments during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.
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6. LEASES

The determination of whether an arrangement contains a lease and the classification of a lease, if applicable, is made at lease commencement, at which time the Company also measures and recognizes an ROU asset,
representing the Company’s right to use the underlying asset, and a lease liability, representing the Company’s obligation to make lease payments under the terms of the arrangement. For the purposes of recognizing ROU assets and
lease liabilities associated with the Company’s leases, the Company has elected the practical expedient to not recognize a ROU asset or lease liability for short-term leases, which are leases with a term of twelve months or less. The
lease term is defined as the non-cancelable portion of the lease term plus any periods covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised.

ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. The rates implicit within the Company's leases are generally not
determinable; therefore, the Company's incremental borrowing rate is used to determine the present value of lease payments. The determination of the Company’s incremental borrowing rate requires judgment. The Company looks to
similar corporate credit ratings and bond yields when determining the incremental borrowing rate. The incremental borrowing rate is determined at lease commencement, or as of January 1, 2019 for operating leases in existence upon
adoption of ASC 842. As of November 1, 2020, at the lease commencement of the new corporate office, the Company's incremental borrowing rate was determined to be 4.25%

The Company has operating leases for its office facilities as well as for office equipment. The Company's leases have remaining terms of less than one year to 10 years. The leases can contain various renewal and
termination options. The period which is subject to an option to extend the lease is included in the lease term if it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised. The period which is subject to an option to terminate the lease is
included if it is reasonably certain that the option will not be exercised. Lease costs related to the Company's operating leases are generally recognized as a single ratable lease cost over the lease term. See Note 14 - Related Party
Transactions for rent expense paid and recognized for the corporate office to related parties.

Maturities of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2020 are as follows:

Operating
Leases
2021 $ 895
2022 917
2023 939
2024 961
2025 and future years 6,083
Total lease payments 9,795
Less: imputed interest 1,865
Present value of operating lease liabilities $ 7,930

The Company does not have any lease liabilities which have not yet commenced as of December 31, 2020.

7. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLES

On July 17, 2017, Comstock Environmental, an entity wholly owned by CDS Capital Management, L.C., a subsidiary of the Company, purchased all of the business assets of Monridge Environmental, LLC for $2.3
million. Comstock Environmental operates in Maryland, Pennsylvania, New Jersey, and Delaware as an environmental services company, providing consulting, remediation, and other environmental services.

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, and it is not deductible for income tax purposes. As of the acquisition date, goodwill consisted
primarily of synergies resulting from the combination, expected expanded opportunities for growth and production, and savings in corporate overhead costs. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019 the balance of Goodwill was $1.7 million.
This Goodwill is reflected within our Real Estate Services segment.

Intangible assets include customer relationships which has an amortization period of four years. During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, $0.1 million of intangible asset amortization was recorded in
General and Administrative expense on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.
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December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Intangibles $ 268 $ 268
Less: accumulated amortization (232) (165)
$ 36 $ 103

As of December 31, 2020, the future estimated amortization expense related to these intangible assets was:

Amortization
Expense

2021 $ 36
Total $ 36

No impairments of the Company’s goodwill and other intangible assets were recognized during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.

8. DEBT
Notes payable, due to dffiliates

Revolving_Capital Line of Credit

On March 19, 2020, the Company entered into a Revolving Capital Line of Credit Agreement (the “Loan Documents”) with CDS, pursuant to which the Company secured a $10.0 million capital line of credit (the
“Revolver”). Under the terms of the Loan Documents, the Revolver provides for an initial variable interest rate of the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate plus 1.00% per annum on advances made under the Revolver, payable monthly in
arrears. The five-year term facility allows for interim draws that carry a maturity date of 12 months from the initial date of the disbursement unless a longer initial term is agreed to by CDS. This loan carries no covenants or collateral
requirements. On March 27, 2020, the Company borrowed $5.5 million under the Revolver. The $5.5 million borrowed has a maturity date of April 30, 2023.

Notes Payable Fully Repaid
Comstock Growth Fund

On October 17, 2014, the Company entered into an unsecured promissory note with Comstock Growth Fund (“CGF”) whereby CGF made a loan to the Company in the initial principal amount of $10.0 million and a
maximum amount available for borrowing of up to $20.0 million with a three year term. On December 18, 2014, the loan agreement was amended and restated to provide for a maximum capacity of $25 million. On May 23, 2018, the
Company entered into a Membership Interest Exchange and Subscription Agreement (the “Membership Exchange Agreement”), together with a revised promissory note agreement, in which a note (“CGF Note”) with an outstanding
principal and accrued interest balance of $7.7 million was exchanged for 1,482,300 shares of the Company’s Series C Non-Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share and a stated liquidation value of $5.00 per share (the
“Series C Preferred Stock”), issued by the Company to CDS. The Company exchanged the preferred equity for 91.5% of CDS membership interest in the CGF promissory note. Concurrently, the face amount of the CGF promissory
note was reduced to $5.7 million as of the Effective Date. The CGF Note bore interest at a fixed rate of 10% per annum. Interest payments were made monthly in arrears. The Company is the administrative manager of CGF but does
not own any membership interests. The Company had approximately $5.7 million of outstanding borrowings and accrued interest under the CGF loan, net of discounts, as of December 31, 2019. The maturity date for the CGF Note was
April 16, 2020. The CGF Note was repaid prior to maturity during the year ended December 31, 2020.

Secured financing

As of December 31, 2019 the Company had retired two secured loans related to Comstock Environmental. One loan was used to finance the acquisition of Comstock Environmental, and carried a fixed interest rate of
6.5%, and had a maturity date of October 17, 2022. At December 31, 2019, this financing had an outstanding balance of $0.7 million. This loan was retired during 2020. Comstock Environmental had an additional secured loan with an
outstanding balance of $27 thousand as of December 31, 2019 to fund the purchase of an asset used in the business. This loan was retired during 2020. These financings were secured by the assets of Comstock Environmental and were
guaranteed by our Chief Executive Officer.

Unsecured financing
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As of December 31, 2019, the Company had one unsecured seller-financed promissory note with an outstanding balance of $595 thousand. This financing carried an annual interest rate of LIBOR plus 3% and had a
maturity date of July 17, 2022. This loan had $50 thousand due on the third and fourth loan anniversary dates with the remainder due at maturity. At December 31, 2019, the interest rate was 5.0%. During 2020, the Company retired this
promissory note.

In addition, during the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company financed the Director’s and Officer’s insurance policy with a one year term loan. As of December 31, 2020, the balance on this loan was $5
thousand.

During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company made interest payments of $0.4 million and $0.6 million, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2020 the Company retired the $5.7 million of outstanding borrowings for the CGF Note and did not make principal payments for the Revolver. During the year ended
December 31, 2019, the Company did not make principal payments for the CGF loan.

Notes payable consisted of the following:

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Secured financing $ —| 8 694
Notes payable - due to affiliates, unsecured, net of $27 thousand discount and unamortized deferred financing charges as of December 31, 2019 5,500 5,706
Unsecured financing charges 5 595
Total notes payable, net $ 5505 $ 6,995
As of December 31, 2020, maturities of our borrowings are as follows:
2021 $ 5
2022 _
2023 5,500
Total $ 5,505

9. CORONAVIRUS AID RELIEF AND ECONOMIC SECURITY ACT
Paycheck Protection Plan Loan

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Paycheck Protection Program (the “PPP”) was established under the CARES Act and administered by the U.S. Small Business Administration (“SBA”). Companies who
met the eligibility requirements set forth by the PPP could qualify for PPP loans provided by local lenders, which supports payroll, rent and utility expenses (“qualified expenses”). If the loan proceeds are fully utilized to pay qualified
expenses over the covered period, as further defined by the PPP, the full principal amount of the PPP loan may qualify for loan forgiveness, subject to potential reduction based on the level of full-time employees maintained by the
organization during the covered period as compared to a baseline period.

In April 2020, the Company received proceeds of $1.95 million under the PPP (the "PPP Loan") provided by Mainstreet Bank (the “Lender”). Based on the term and conditions of the loan agreement, the term of the
PPP loan is two years with an annual interest rate of 1% and principal and interest payments will be deferred for the first six-months of the loan term, which has been updated according to the Paycheck Protection Program Flexibility
Act of 2020 (“Flexibility Act”).

In June 2020, the Flexibility Act was signed into law, which amended the CARES Act. The Flexibility Act changed key provisions of the PPP, including, but not limited to, (i) provisions relating to the maturity of PPP
loans, (ii) the deferral period covering of PPP loan payments and (iii) the process for measurement of loan forgiveness. More specifically, the Flexibility Act provides a minimum maturity of five years for all PPP loans made on or after
the date of the enactment of the Flexibility Act (“June 5, 2020”) and permits lenders and borrowers to extend the maturity date of earlier PPP loans by mutual agreement. As of the date of this filing, the Company has not approached the
Lender to request an extension of the current maturity date from two years to five years. The Flexibility Act also provides that if a borrower does not apply for forgiveness of a loan within 10 months after the last day of the
measurement period (“covered period”), the PPP loan is no longer deferred and the borrower must begin paying principal and interest. Therefore, the Company’s deferral period for principal and interest payments was updated from six-
months according to the terms and conditions of the loan agreement to ten months. In addition, the
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Flexibility Act extended the length of the covered period from eight weeks to 24 weeks from receipt of proceeds, while allowing borrowers that received PPP loans before June 5, 2020 to determine, at their sole discretion, a covered
period of either eight weeks or 24-weeks.

After reviewing the applicable terms and conditions of the Flexibility Act, the Company has elected to extend the length of the covered period from the lesser of (i) period whereby qualified expenses equal loan
proceeds or (ii) 24 weeks. The Company has performed initial calculations for the PPP loan forgiveness according to the terms and conditions of the SBA’s Loan Forgiveness Application (Revised June 16, 2020) and, based on such
calculations, expects that the PPP loan will be forgiven in full. In addition, the Company has determined that it is probable the Company will meet all the conditions of the PPP loan forgiveness. Therefore, the Company recognized PPP
funding as a contra-expense during the periods when qualified expenses were incurred. The contra-expense recognized lowered the reimbursable costs, billed as revenue, to clients under certain contracts where the Company earns
revenue from expenses incurred. The balance and activity related to the PPP loan is as follows as of December 31, 2020.

December 31,
2020

PPP loan proceeds $ 1,954
Qualified expenses eligible for forgiveness $ (1,954)
PPP loan balance $ -

The Company submitted the PPP loan forgiveness application to the lender in December 2020. In accordance with the terms and conditions under the Flexibility Act, the lender has 60 days from receipt of the
completed application to issue a decision to the SBA. If the lender determines that the borrower is entitled to forgiveness of some or all of the amount applied for under the statute and applicable regulations, the lender must request
payment from the SBA at the time the lender issues its decision to the SBA. The Lender completed its review and submitted the Company's forgiveness application to the SBA in February 2021. The SBA will, subject to any SBA
review of the loan or loan application, remit the appropriate forgiveness amount to the lender, plus any interest accrued through the date of payment, not later than 90 days after the lender issues its decision to the SBA.

Pursuant to the Flexibility Act, the Company’s PPP loan agreement will be amended in the event that no amount or less than all of the PPP loan is forgiven. In addition, starting in August 2021, the Company will be
required to make principal and interest payments totaling $0.1 million per month or an adjustment amount based on the loan amendment over the remaining term of the PPP loan until such time the loan is fully settled. The Company
may prepay the PPP loan at any time without penalty and the loan agreement evidencing the PPP Loan contains customary events of default relating to, among other things, payment defaults, or breaches of representations and
warranties, or other provisions of the loan agreement. The occurrence of an event of default may trigger the immediate repayment of all amounts outstanding, collection of all amounts owing from the Company, and/or the Lender filing
suit and obtaining a judgment against the Company.

Deferral of Social Security Tax Payments

Pursuant to sections 2302(a)(1) and (a)(2) of the CARES Act, the Company has elected to defer payments of its share of Social Security tax due during the "payroll tax deferral period". The payroll tax deferral period
began on August 1, 2020 and ended December 31, 2020. At December 31, 2020 the total amount of such deferral was $0.2 million and is reflected within 'Accrued personnel costs' on our consolidated balance sheet. Per the terms of the
deferral program, 50% of the deferred amount is due on December 31, 2021, and the remaining 50% is due on December 31, 2022 at 0% interest.

10. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The Company leases its headquarters under a non-cancelable operating lease. The lease contains various renewal options. See Note 6 for further discussion of the Company's operating lease commitments.

Currently, and from time to time, the Company is involved in litigation incidental to the conduct of its business. In accordance with GAAP, the Company records a provision for a liability when it is both probable that a
liability has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. While it is possible that an unfavorable outcome may occur as a result of one or more of the Company’s current litigation matters, at this time management has
concluded that the resolutions of these matters are not expected to have a material effect on the Company's consolidated financial position, future results of operations or liquidity. Legal defense costs are expensed as incurred.
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11. FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES

‘We measure certain assets and liabilities in accordance with ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, which defines fair value as the price that would be received for an asset, or paid to transfer a liability,
in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. In addition, it establishes a framework for measuring fair value according to the following three-tier fair value hierarchy:

. Level 1 - Quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets accessible as of the measurement date;
. Level 2 - Inputs, other than quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly or indirectly; and
. Level 3 - Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the reporting entity to develop its own assumptions.

Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities are reasonable estimates of their fair values based on
their short maturities. The fair value of fixed and floating rate debt is based on unobservable inputs (Level 3 inputs). The fair value of the fixed and floating rate debt was estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis on the blended
borrower rates currently available to the Company for loans with similar terms.

The following table summarizes the fair value of fixed and floating rate debt and the corresponding carrying value of fixed and floating rate debt as of:

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019

Carrying amount $ 5505 $ 6,995
Fair value $ 5485 $ 6,820

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on relevant market information about the financial instruments. These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters of
significant judgment and therefore, cannot be determined with precision. Changes in assumptions, such as an acceleration of amounts due and payable, could significantly affect the estimates.

Investments in Real Estate Ventures at Fair Value

‘We report our two investments in real estate ventures at fair value. For such investments, we increase or decrease our investment each reporting period by the change in the fair value and we report these fair value
adjustments in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Please see note 4 - Equity method Investments in real estate ventures carried at fair value for additional information.

For our investments in real estate ventures at fair value, we estimate the fair value using the level 3 Income Approach or a sales comparable approach to determine a fair value. Critical inputs to fair value estimates
include various level 3 inputs such as valuations of the underlying real estate assets and borrowings, which incorporate investment-specific assumptions such as discount rates, capitalization rates, rental and expense growth rates, and
asset-specific market borrowing rates. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, investments in the real estate ventures at fair value was approximately $6.3 million and $8.4 million, respectively.

Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements

The Company may also value its non-financial assets and liabilities, including items such as long-lived assets, at fair value on a non-recurring basis to determine if impairment has occurred. Such fair value
measurements use significant unobservable inputs and are classified as Level 3.
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12. STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Common Stock

Our certificate of incorporation authorizes the issuance of Class A common stock and Class B common stock. As of December 31, 2020, we are authorized to issue 59,780 thousand shares of Class A common stock
and 220 thousand shares of Class B common stock, each with a par value of $0.01 per share. Holders of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock are entitled to dividends when, as and if, declared by our board of
directors, subject to the rights of the holders of all classes of stock outstanding having priority rights to dividends. As of December 31, 2020, we have not declared any dividends. The holder of each share of Class A common stock is
entitled to one vote, while the holder of each share of Class B common stock is entitled to fifteen votes. Shares of our Class B common stock are convertible into an equivalent number of shares of our Class A common stock and
generally convert into shares of our Class A common stock upon transfer. Class A common stock and Class B common stock are referred to as common stock throughout the notes to these financial statements, unless otherwise noted.

As of December 31, 2020, there were 8.0 million shares of Class A common stock issued and 7.9 million shares outstanding. As of December 31, 2020, there were 220 thousand shares of Class B common stock issued
and outstanding.

Preferred Stock

The Company's certificate of incorporation authorizes the issuance of Series C non-convertible preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share and a stated value of $5.00 per share. As of December 31, 2020, the Company
is authorized to issue 20.0 million shares of Series C preferred stock. As of December 31, 2020, there were 3.4 thousand shares of Series C preferred stock issued and outstanding. The Series C Preferred Stock has a discretionary, non-
cumulative, dividend feature and is redeemable for $5.00 per share. The Series C Preferred Stock is redeemable by holders in the event of liquidation or change in control of the Company.

Stock-based Compensation Plans

On December 14, 2004, the Company adopted the 2004 Long-Term Compensation Plan (the “2004 Plan”). On February 12, 2019 the Company approved the 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2019 Plan”) which
replaced the 2004 Plan. The 2019 Plan provides for the issuance of stock options, stock appreciation rights, or SARSs, restricted stock, deferred stock, dividend equivalents, bonus stock and awards in lieu of cash compensation, other
stock-based awards and performance awards. Any shares issued under the Plan typically vest over periods of four years. Stock options issued under the plan expire 10 years from the date they are granted.

The 2019 Plan authorized 2.5 million shares of our Class A Common Stock subject to adjustment for forfeitures and tax withholding. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, there were 2.1 million shares available for
issuance under the 2019 Plan.

The fair value of each option award is calculated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and certain subjective assumptions. Expected volatilities are calculated based on our historical
trading activities. We recognize forfeitures as they occur. The risk-free rate for the periods is based on the U.S. Treasury rates in effect at the time of grant. The expected term of options is based on the Company’s historical experience.

The following table summarizes the assumptions used to calculate the fair value of options during 2019. There were no options granted in 2020.

2019
Weighted average fair value of options granted $ 1.65
Dividend yields _
Expected volatility 82.03%-82.32%
‘Weighted average expected volatility 82.27 %
Weighted average risk-free interest rates 215%
‘Weighted average expected term (in years) 8

The following table summarizes information about stock option activity:
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Granted
Exercised
Forfeited or Expired

Granted
Exercised
Forfeited or Expired

Outstanding at January 1, 2019

Outstanding at December 31, 2019

Outstanding at December 31, 2020
Exercisable at December 31, 2020

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the weighted-average remaining contractual term of unexercised stock options was 5.1 years and 4.5 years, respectively.

A summary of the Company’s restricted share activity is presented below:

Restricted unvested at January 1, 2019
Granted

Vested

Forfeited or Expired

Outstanding at December 31, 2019
Granted

Vested

Forfeited or Expired

Unvested at December 31, 2020

‘Weighted ‘Weighted-Average Aggregate
Average Remaining Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Price Contractual Term Value
418 $ 3.42 7.67 )
104 1.89
(7) 12.01
515 § 2.96 7.24 60
(79) 3.75
436 $ 2.81 6.74 424
274§ 3.23 5.12 256
Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Shares Fair Value
138§ 2.18
254 2.33
(46) 2.18
346 2.29
636 1.96
(112) 227
870 $ 2.06

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, there was $1.1 million and $0.6 million, respectively, of unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock options and restricted stock issuances granted under the 2019
Plan and 2004 Plan, respectively. The Company intends to issue new shares of its common stock upon vesting of restricted stock grants or the exercise of stock options.

In November 2014, our board of directors approved a share repurchase program authorizing the Company to repurchase up to 429 thousand shares of our Class A common stock in one or more open market or privately

negotiated transactions depending on market price and other factors.

At December 31, 2020 and 2019, 404 thousand shares of our Class A common stock remain available for repurchase pursuant to our share repurchase agreement.

13. CONSOLIDATION OF VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

Consolidated Real Estate Inventories in assets of discontinued operations

Included within the Company’s net loss from discontinued operations, net of tax are the activities of real estate entities that were determined to be VIEs. These entities have been established to own and operate real
estate property and were deemed VIEs primarily based on the fact that the equity investment at risk is not sufficient to permit the entities to finance their activities without additional financial support. Prior to July 23, 2019 the Company
determined that it was the primary beneficiary of these VIEs as a result of the Company’s majority voting rights and complete operational control of these entities.
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Prior to April 30, 2019, the Company evaluated Investors X and determined that the equity investment at risk is not sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional financial support and the
Company was the primary beneficiary of the VIE as a result of its complete operational control of the activities that most significantly impact the economic performance and its obligation to absorb losses or receive benefits. As a result
of the April 30, 2019 Master Transfer Agreement ("MTA") entered into between the Company and CDS, the Company determined that Investors X is considered held for sale effective April 30, 2019 and Investors X activities were
reclassified to discontinued operations in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements.

On July 23, 2019, the Investors X operating agreement was amended to clarify certain definitions resulting in the Company no longer being the primary beneficiary of Investors X. Therefore, the assets and liabilities of
Investors X were deconsolidated effective July 23, 2019 in the Consolidated Balance Sheets of the Company.

14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Lease for Corporate Headquarters

The Company previously leased its corporate headquarters from an affiliate controlled and owned by our CEO and family. On November 1, 2020, the Company relocated its corporate headquarters to a new office
space pursuant to a ten year lease agreement with an affiliate controlled and owned by our Chief Executive Officer and family, as landlord. Future minimum lease payments under this lease, which expires on October 31, 2030, is $9.8
million. The Company is also responsible for the pro-rata share common area maintenance costs to the landlord.

For each of the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, total rental payments made were $0.5 million and $0.6 million, respectively. Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $0.6 million
and $0.6 million, respectively. This is reflected within 'Direct costs - asset management' as it is a reimbursable costs under the 2019 AMA.

Asset Management Agreement

On March 30, 2018, CAM, an entity wholly owned by the Company, entered into that AMA with CDS. The effective date of the AMA is January 2, 2018. Pursuant to the AMA, CDS has engaged CAM to manage and
administer the CDS’ commercial real estate portfolio and the day to-day operations of CDS and each property-owning subsidiary of CDS (the "CDS Portfolio"). Pursuant to the terms of the AMA, CAM will provide investment
advisory, development and asset management services necessary to build out, stabilize and manage certain assets.

Pursuant to the AMA, CDS will pay CAM an annual cost-plus fee (the “Annual Fee”) in an aggregate amount equal to the sum of (i) the employment expenses of personnel dedicated to providing services to the CDS
Portfolio pursuant to the AMA, (ii) the costs and expenses of the Company related to maintaining the listing of its shares on a securities exchange and complying with regulatory and reporting obligations as a public company, and (iii) a
fixed annual payment of $1.0 million.

2019 Amended Asset Management Agreement

On April 30, 2019, CAM entered into the 2019 AMA with CDS, which amends and restates in its entirety the asset management agreement between the parties dated March 30, 2018 with an effective date as of
January 1, 2018. Pursuant to the 2019 AMA, CDS will engage CAM to manage and administer the Anchor Portfolio and the day to-day operations of CDS and each property-owning subsidiary of CDS (collectively, the “CDS
Entities”).

Pursuant to the 2019 AMA, the Company provides asset management services related to the build out, lease-up and stabilization, and management of the Anchor Portfolio. CDS pays the Company and its subsidiaries
annual fees equal to the greater of either (i) an aggregate amount equal to the sum of (a) an asset management fee equal to 2.5% of revenues generated by properties included in the Anchor Portfolio; (b) a construction management fee
equal to 4% of all costs associated with Anchor Portfolio projects in development; (c) a property management fee equal to 1% of the Anchor Portfolio revenues, (d) an acquisition fee equal to up to 0.5% of the purchase price of
acquired assets; and (f) a disposition fee equal to 0.5% of the sales price of an asset on disposition; or (ii) an aggregate amount equal to the sum of (x) the employment expenses of personnel dedicated to providing services to the Anchor
Portfolio pursuant to the 2020 AMA, (y) the costs and expenses of the Company related to maintaining the public listing of its shares and complying with related regulatory and reporting obligations, and (z) a fixed annual payment of
$1.0 million.

In addition to the annual payment of the greater of either the Market Rate Fee or the Cost Plus Fee, the Company also is entitled on an annual basis to the following additional fees: (i) an incentive fee equal to 10% of
the free cash flow of each of the real estate assets comprising the Anchor Portfolio after calculating a compounding preferred return of 8% on
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CDS invested capital (ii) an investment origination fee equal to 1% of raised capital, (iii) a leasing fee equal to $1.00/sf for new leases and $0.50/sf for renewals; and (iv) mutually agreeable loan origination fees related to the Anchor
Portfolio.

The 2019 AMA will terminate on December 31, 2027 (“Initial Term”), an extension from the original termination date of December 31, 2022, and will automatically renew for successive additional one year terms
(each an “Extension Term”) unless CDS delivers written notice of non-renewal of the 2190 AMA at least 180 days prior to the termination date of the Initial Term or any Extension Term. Twenty-four months after the effective date of
the 2019 AMA, CDS is entitled to terminate the 2019 AMA without cause upon 180 days advance written notice to CAM. In the event of such a termination and in addition to the payment of any accrued annual fees due and payable as
of the termination date under the 2019 AMA, CDS is required to pay a termination fee equal to (i) the Market Rate Fee or the Cost Plus Fee paid to CAM for the calendar year immediately preceding the termination , and (ii) a one-time
payment of the Incentive Fee as if the CRE Portfolio were liquidated for fair market value as of the termination date; or the continued payment of the Incentive Fee as if a termination had not occurred.

Residential, Commercial and Parking Property Management Agreements

The Company entered into separate residential property management agreements with properties owned by CDS Entities under which the Company receives fees to manage and operate the properties including tenant
communications, leasing of apartment units, rent collections, building maintenance and day-to-day operations, engagement and supervision of contractors and vendors providing services for the buildings, and budget preparation and
oversight.

The Company entered into separate commercial property and parking management agreements with several properties owned by CDS Entities under which the Company receives fees to manage and operate the office
and retail portions of the properties, including tenant communications, rent collections, building maintenance and day-to-day operations, engagement and supervision of contractors and vendors providing services for the buildings, and
budget preparation and oversight.

These property management agreements are each for one year initial terms with successive, automatic one year renewal terms, unless sooner terminated. The Company generally receives base management fees under
these agreements based upon a percentage of gross rental revenues for the portions of the buildings being managed in addition to reimbursement of specified expenses, including employment expenses of personnel employed by the
Company in the management and operation of each property.

Construction Management Agreements

The Company has construction management agreements with properties owned by CDS Entities under which the Company receives fees to provide certain construction management and supervision services, including
construction supervision and management of the buildout of certain tenant premises. The Company receives a flat construction management fee for each engagement under a work authorization based upon the construction
management or supervision fee set forth in the applicable tenant’s lease, which fee is generally 1% to 4% of the total costs (or total hard costs) of construction of the tenant’s improvements in its premises, or as otherwise agreed to by
the parties.

Business Management Agreements

On April 30, 2019, CAM entered into a Business Management Agreement (the “BMA”) with Investors X, whereby CAM will provide Investors X with asset and professional services related to the wind down of the
Company’s divested homebuilding operations and the continuation of services related to the Company’s divested land development activities. The aggregate fee payable to CAM from Investors X under the Management Agreement is
$937.5 thousand, payable in fifteen quarterly installments of $62.5 thousand each.

The Hartford Investment
On December 30, 2019 the Company made an investment related to the purchase of the Hartford, a stabilized commercial office building located at 3101 Wilson Boulevard in the Clarendon area of Arlington County,
Virginia. The Company’s maximum amount of investment related to the purchase of the Hartford is $1.2 million.

In conjunction with the investment, the Company entered into an operating agreement with Partners to form Comstock 3101 Wilson, LC, to purchase the Hartford. Pursuant to the Operating Agreement, the Company
holds a minority membership interest of the Hartford and the remaining membership interests of the Hartford are held by Partners. Partners is the manager of the Hartford. At the closing of the acquisition of the Hartford, the Company
received an acquisition fee of $500 thousand and is entitled to asset r 1ent, property r 1t, construction management and leasing fees for its
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management of the Property pursuant to separate agreements between the Hartford, or its affiliates, and the Company, or its affiliates. The Company is also entitled to an incentive fee related to the performance of the investment.

On February 7, 2020, the Company, Partners and DWF VI 3101 Wilson Member, LLC (“DWF”), an unaffiliated, third party, equity investor in the Hartford, entered into a limited liability company agreement (the
“DWC Operating Agreement”) to form DWC 3101 Wilson Venture, LLC (“DWC”) to, among other things, acquire, own and hold all interests in the Hartford Owner. In furtherance thereof, on February 7, 2020, the Original Operating
Agreement for the Hartford Owner was amended and restated (the “A&R Operating Agreement”) to memorialize the Company’s and Partners’ assignment of 100% of its membership interests in the Hartford Owner to DWC. As a result
thereof, DWC is the sole member of the Hartford Owner. The Company and Partners, respectively, hold minority membership interests in, and DWF holds the majority membership interest in, DWC. The Company’s ownership interest
in the Hartford remains at 2.5%.

Private Placements and Promissory Notes

On March 19, 2020, the Company entered into a Revolving Capital Line of Credit Agreement (the “Loan Documents”) with CDS, pursuant to which the Company secured a $10.0 million capital line of credit (the
“Revolver”). Under the terms of the Loan Documents, the Revolver provides for an initial variable interest rate of the WSJ Prime Rate plus 1.00% per annum on advances made under the Revolver, payable monthly in arrears. The five-
year term facility allows for interim draws that carry a maturity date of 12 months from the initial date of the disbursement unless a longer initial term is agreed to by CDS. On March 27, 2020 the Company borrowed $5.5 million under
the Revolver. On April 10, 2020, the capital provided to the Company by the Revolver was utilized to retire all of the Company’s 10% corporate indebtedness maturing in 2020 owed to CGF.

See Note 8 - Debt for further description of the CGF Private Placement and the Revolver.

Revenues from Related Parties
The following table details the revenue earned from related parties.

Years ended

2020 2019
Related party revenue
Asset management $ 21,818 $ 19,370
Real estate services 945 1,192
Total Related Party Revenue $ 22,763 $ 20,562

15. UNCONSOLIDATED JOINT VENTURE

The Company accounts for its interest in its title insurance joint venture using the equity method of accounting and adjusts the carrying value for its proportionate share of earnings, losses and distributions. The
investment in the unconsolidated joint venture was $29.0 thousand and $125.0 thousand as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and is included within ‘Prepaid and other assets, net’ in the accompanying Consolidated Balance
Sheets. Earnings for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, from this unconsolidated joint venture of $33 thousand and $222 thousand, respectively, is included in ‘Other income, net’ in the accompanying Consolidated
Statement of Operations. During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company collected and recorded a distribution of $130 thousand and $172 thousand, respectively, from this joint venture as a return on investment.

Summarized financial information for the unconsolidated joint venture is as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2020 2019
Statement of Operations:
Total net revenue $ 185 $ 558
Total expenses 119 115
Net income $ 66 $ 443
Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. share of net income $ 3 $ 222

16. REVENUE
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The following table presents the Company’s revenues from contracts with customers disaggregated by categories which best represents how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenues are affected by
economic factors.

Years ended December 31,

2020 2019
Revenue by customer
Related party $ 22,763 $ 20,562
Commercial 5,963 4,755
Total Revenue by Customer $ 28,726  $ 25,317

Years ended December 31,

2020 2019

Revenue by contract type
Fixed-price $ 5229 §$ 4,137
Cost-plus 13,702 14,546
Time and Material 9,795 6,634
Total Revenue by contract type $ 28,726 $ 25,317

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, $28.0 million and $23.3 million of our revenues were earned for contracts where revenue is recognized over time, respectively. For the years ended December 31,
2020 and 2019, $0.8 million and $2.1 million of our revenues were earned for contracts where revenue is recognized at a point in time, respectively.

17. NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE

The weighted average shares and share equivalents used to calculate basic and diluted (loss) income for continuing and discontinued operations per share for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are presented
in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations. Restricted stock awards, stock options and warrants for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are included in the diluted income (loss) per share calculation using the
treasury stock method and average market prices during the periods, unless their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.

The following share equivalents have been excluded from the continuing operations dilutive share computation for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 as their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.

Years Ended December 31,
2020 2019
Restricted stock awards 1 -
Stock options 134 237
Warrants 548 604
683 841

The following share equivalents have been excluded from the discontinued operations dilutive share computation for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 as their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.

Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019
Restricted stock awards — 207
Stock options — 263
Warrants — 604

— 1,074

18. INCOME TAXES
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During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized income tax expense of $25 thousand from continuing operations and the effective tax rate was 0.45%. During the year ended December 31, 2019,
the Company recognized income tax expense of $2 thousand and the effective tax rate was 0.29%.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The
Company assesses available positive and negative evidence to estimate whether sufficient future taxable income will be generated to permit use of existing deferred tax assets. The cumulative loss incurred by the Company over the
three-year period ended December 31, 2020 constitutes a significant piece of objective negative evidence. Such objective negative evidence limits the ability to consider other subjective evidence, such as our projections for future
profitability and growth. Based on this evaluation, as of December 31, 2020, the Company maintained a full valuation allowance against net deferred tax assets as their realization did not meet the more-likely-than-not criterion. The
amount of deferred tax assets considered realizable, however, could be adjusted in the future if objective negative evidence in the form of cumulative losses is no longer present and additional weight is given to subjective evidence such
as our projections for future profitability and growth. With a full valuation allowance, any change in the deferred tax asset or liability is fully offset by a corresponding change in the valuation allowance.

The Company currently has approximately $146 million in Net Operating Losses (“NOLs), which is based on current statutory tax rates, including the lower corporate tax rate enacted by the Tax Act. If unused, these
NOLSs will begin expiring in 2027. Under Code Section 382 (“Section 382”) rules, if a change of ownership is triggered, the Company’s NOL assets and possibly certain other deferred tax assets may be impaired. We estimate that as of
December 31, 2020, the three-year cumulative shift in ownership of the Company’s stock has not triggered a limitation in the use of our NOL asset. However, if an ownership change were to occur, the Section 382 limitation would not
be expected to materially impact the Company’s financial position or results of operations as of December 31, 2020, because the Company has recorded a full valuation allowance on substantially all of its net deferred tax assets.

The Company’s ability to use its NOLs (and in certain circumstances, future built-in losses and depreciation deductions) can be negatively affected if there is an “ownership change” as defined under Section 382. In
general, an ownership change occurs whenever there is a shift in ownership by more than 50 percentage points by one or more 5% stockholders over a specified time period (generally three years). Given Section 382’s broad definition,
an ownership change could be the unintended consequence of otherwise normal market trading in the Company’s stock that is outside of the Company’s control. In an effort to preserve the availability of these NOLs, Comstock adopted
a Section 382 rights agreement, which expired in May 2014. In June 2015, at the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, the Company’s stockholders approved a new Internal Revenue Code Section 382 Rights Agreement (the “Rights
Agreement”) to protect stockholder value. The Rights Agreement expires on March 27, 2025. The Rights Agreement was adopted to reduce the likelihood of such an unintended “ownership change”, thus preserving the value of these
tax benefits. Similar plans have been adopted by a number of companies holding similar significant tax assets over the past several years.

The Company has not recorded any accruals related to uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. We file U.S. and state income tax returns in jurisdictions with varying statutes of
limitations. The 2017 through 2019 tax years remain subject to examination by federal and most state tax authorities. The income tax provision for continuing operations consists of the following as of December 31:

2020 2019
Deferred:
Federal $ (143) $ 178
State (26) 32
(169) 210
Valuation allowance 194 (208)
Total income tax expense $ 25 $ 2

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.
Components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:
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Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards
Stock based compensation
Investment in affiliates
Deferred Revenue - Advance payment
Other
Depreciation and amortization

Less - valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation and amortization
Goodwill amortization
Net deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)

A reconciliation of the statutory rate and the effective tax rate after adjustments for non-includable partnership income arising from non-controlling interest follows:

Federal statutory rate

State income taxes - net of federal benefit
Permanent differences

Return to provision adjustments

Change in valuation allowance

Current state income tax

Change in enacted state rates

Other, net

Effective tax rate

19. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

2020 2019

37,899 § 37,440

648 502

264 482

= 64

14 213

37 —

38,862 38,701
(38,780) (38,601)

82 100

— (55)

(103) (56)

(103) (111)

(1) $ (11)

2020 2019

(21.00 %) (21.00 %)
(4.93 %) (4.74 %)
22.77 % (0.44 %)
(0.81) % 0.42 %
(8.48) % 25.47 %
— % — %
1353 % — %
(1.53) % — %
(0.45 %) (0.29 %)

On April 30, 2019, the Company entered into the MTA with CDS, an entity wholly owned by Christopher Clemente, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and FR54, LC (“FR54”), an entity also controlled by
Mr. Clemente, that sets forth certain transactions to complete the Company’s previously announced exit from the homebuilding and land development business in favor of a migration to an asset management model. Refer to Note 14 —

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities for further discussion regarding the accounting related to discontinued operations.

The Company did not carry any assets or liabilities from discontinued operations on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.
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The operating results of the discontinued operations that are reflected on the Consolidated Statement of Operations within the net income (loss) from discontinued operations are as follows:

Revenues
Revenue—homebuilding
Total revenue
Expenses
Cost of sales—homebuilding
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Loss from discontinued operations before income taxes
Income tax benefit
Net loss from discontinued operations
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests

Net loss attributable to Comstock Holding Companies, Inc.

20. SEGMENT DISCLOSURES

‘We operate our business through our two segments: Asset Management, and Real Estate Services.

Year Ended December 31, 2019

14,919

14,919

14,901
270
21

(273)
(15)

(258)
313

(571)

In our Asset Management segment, we focus on providing management services to a wide range of real estate owners and businesses that include a variety of commercial real estate uses, including apartments, hotels,
office buildings, commercial garages, leased lands, retail stores, mixed-use developments, and urban transit-oriented developments. The properties and businesses we currently manage are located primarily along the Washington, D.C.

Metro Silver Line in Fairfax and Loudoun Counties, but we also manage projects in other jurisdictions including Maryland and Virginia.

In our Real Estate Services segment, our experienced management team provides a wide range of real estate services in the areas of strategic corporate planning, capital markets, brokerage services, and environmental
and design-based services. Our environmental services group provides consulting and engineering services, environmental studies, remediation services and provides site specific solutions for any project that may have an
environmental impact, from environmental due diligence to site-specific assessments and remediation. The Real Estate Services segment operates in the Mid-Atlantic Region.

The following table includes the Company’s two reportable segments of Asset Management and Real Estate Services, excluding discontinued operations, for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2020
Gross revenue

Gross profit
Net income
Total assets

Depreciation, amortization, and stock based compensation

Interest expense
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Asset
Management

Real Estate
Services

Total (from continuing

operations)

21,923
3,478
1,542

24,886

774
344

6,803
2,706
540
3,693
227
35

28,726
6,184
2,082

28,579
1,001

379
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Asset Real Estate Total (from continuing
Management Services operations)

Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2019

Gross revenue $ 19,605 $ 5712 $ 25,317
Gross profit 3,044 1,101 4,145
Net income (loss) 1,737 (273) 1,464
Total assets 15,270 4,663 19,933
Depreciation, amortization, and stock based compensation 430 266 696
Interest expense $ 390 $ 84 $ 474

21. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Legal entity names changes

On February 18, 2021, the Company amended the entity names for several subsidiaries as part of operational efficiency enhancements initiated in the first quarter of 2021. The entity names were changed for the
following Company subsidiaries: (a) CDS Asset Management, L.C is now CHCI Asset Management, LC, (b) Comstock Commercial Management, LC is now CHCI Commercial Management, LC, (c) Comstock Residential
Management, LC is now CHCI Residential Management, LC, CDS Capital Management, L.C. is now CHCI Capital Management, LC and Comstock Real Estate Services, LC is now CHCI Real Estate Services, L.C.

Momentum at Shady Grove Metro final payment

In connection with the Momentum at Shady Grover Metro Station project, a subsidiary of the Company received the final payment for real estate development management services from the Comstock Stratford JV on
February 23, 2021.
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Effective Date:
Landlord:

Tenant:

Premises:

Term:

Commencement
ate:

Rent
Commencement

ate:

Expiration Date:

Base Rent:

Tenant’s Share of
Operating Cost:

BASIC LEASE INFORMATION

November 1, 2020
CRS PLAZA T, L.C, a Virginia limited liability company

COMSTOCK HOLDING COMPANIES, INC ., a Delaware corporation

1900 Reston Metro Plaza, 10™ Floor, Reston, Virginia 20190. The Premises consi

“The initial Leasc Term commencing on the Commencement Date (hereinafter defi
and ending on the Bxpiration Date (hereinafter defined), subject to Landlord
Termination Right (as hereinafter defined).

November 1, 2020

November 1, 2020

October 31, 2030 (i.e. the last day of the Tenth (10™) Lease Year (hereinafter defined))
(the ““Initial Expiration Date’), or any earlier date on which tt Lease is terminated or
any later date on which this Lease is extended, in each case, in accordance with the
provisions hereof.

An annual amount based upon Net Rentable Area (hereinafter defined) as specified below:

Base
Rent Annual Monthly

Lease Year PSE Base Rent Base Rent
Lease Year 1 39.00 $852,228.00 $71,019.00
Tcase Year 2 39.08 $873,533.70 $72.,794.48
Lease Year 3 540.97 $895.372 04 $74,614.34
Lease Year 4 542 .00 $017.756.34 $76.479.70
Lease Year $43.05 $940.700.25 $78.391.69
Lease Year 6 $44.12 $964,217.76

Lease Year 7 $45.23 $988.323.20 $82,360.27
Icase Year 8 $46.36 $1,013,031.28 $84.419.27
Lease Year 9 $47.52 $1,038,357.06 $86,529.76
Lease Year 10 $48.71 $1.064,315.99 $88,693.00

6.31%, subject to adjustment pursuant to Section 2(b) and based upon 21,852 square
feet of Net Rentable Area. A fraction, expressed as a percentage. the numerator of
which shall be the Net Rentable Area of the Premises and the denominator of which
shall be the Not Rentable Area of the Office Area (as defined in Section 1(b)).

BASIC LEASE INFORMATION - 1




Tenant’s Share of
Taxes

Tenant
Improvement
Alloywances:

Building Operating

Flours:

Security Deposit:

Project:

Office Area:

Building:

Land:

Parking:

Landlord’s Notice
Address:

Rent Payment

dress:

6.16%, subject to adjustment pursuant to Section 2(b) and based upon 21,852 squarc feet
of Net Rentable Area. A fraction, expressed as a percentage, the numerator of which shall
be the Net Rentable Area of the Premises and the denominator of which shall be the Net
Rentable Area of the Building.

One Hundred Seventy-Six and 00/100 Dollars ($176.00) per square foot of Net Rentable
Arca (approximately $3,845.952).

Business Days (as defined in Section 9(a)): 8:00 a.m. — 6:00 p.m.
Requested Saturday Mornings (as defined in Section 9(a 0 a.m. —

00 p.m.

None

Reston Station, a transit-oriented, mixed-use development at the intersection of Wiehle
Avenue and Dulles Toll Road in Reston, Virginia, as deseribed in Section 1(b).

The Premises and certain other space in the Project (as defined in Section 1(b)) designated
by Landlord for office use, as described in Section 1(a). The Net Rentable Area of the
Office Area of the Building is 346,320.25 sq. ft.

“The building in which the Premises are located, commonly known as 1900 Reston Metro
Plaza in Reston, Virginia 20190, and all other improvements loeated on the Land. The Net
Rentable Area of the Building is 354.865.5 sq. fi.

The tax lot(s) on which the Building is built, legally described on Exhibi

it A attached
hereto, subject to adjustment in accordance with Section 1(b).

Subject to Section 39, two (2) monthly contracts for every 1,000 square feet of Net
Rentable Arvea of the Premises (the “Tenant’s Allocated Parking™), for the use of
unreserved parking spaces in the Office Parking F: os (as defined in Section 2(a)).

See Section 39 for additional details on parking.

CRS Plaza I, LC

c/o Comstock Companies

1900 Reston Metro Plaza, 10% Floor
Reston, Virginia 20190

Attention: Asset Mgt - Reston Station

with a copy to:

Comstock Companies

1900 Reston Metro Plaza, 10™ Floor
Reston, Virginia 20120

Attention: General Counsel

CRS Plaza I, LC
PO Box 744970
Atlanta, Georgia 30384-4970

BASIC LEASE INFORMATION - 2




Tenant’s Notice
Addres

Renewal Option:

Brokenr:

Comstock Holding Companies, Inc.
1900 Reston Metro Plaza, 10" Floor
Reston, Virginia 20190

Adttention: Asset Mgt - Reston Station !

with a eopy to:

Comstock Holding Companies, Inc.

1900 Reston Metro Plaza, 10® Floor i
Reston, Virgin i
Attention: General Counsel

None.

“The Tenant hereby represents that it is not represented by a Broker for this Lease, and the
Landlord hereby represents that it is not represented by a Broker for this Lease.

BASIC L]

ASE INFORMATION - 3




DEED OF LEASE

This Deed of Lease (“'Lease’™) is made and entered into as of the Effective Date between Landlord and
Tenant. The “Basic Lease Information™ (above) is incorporated into this Lease as if fully set forth herein.
Capitalized terms used and not otherwise expressly defined within the body of th
ascribed to them in the Basic Lease Information,

Lease will have the mean

WITNESSETH:

1 PREMISES, PROJECT AND OFFICE AREA.

(a) Premises. Subject to and upon the terms, provisions and conditions hereinafter set forth, and each in
consideration of the duties, covenants and obligations of the other hereunder, Landlord does hereby lease to Tenant
and Tenant does hereby lease from Landlord, the Premises, fogether with the right 10 use the Common Arcas in
accordance with Section 2(a). The Net Areca of the Building and the Premises have been caleulated in
accordance with this subscction and are hereby stipulated for all purposes hereof to be the square footages set forth
in the Basic Lease Information. For the purposes of this Lease, “Net Rentable Area™ shall be determined b;
Landlord’s architect in accordance with the 2017 Building Owners and Managers Association Standard Methods
of Measurement (ANSI/BOMA 2765, 1-2017) Method B (*BOMA™).

() Project and Office Areca.

i The Premises are part of a vortically-integrated, mixed-use development known as Reston
Station (“Project™, which is depicted on Exhibit attached hereto and generally described in the Basic Lease
Information and which is governed by the Project Documents (hereinafter defined). The Project includes
improvements owned by Landlord and by other private party owners (including, as applicable, affiliates of
Landlord), as well as improvements owned and/or operated by thé Board of Supervisors of Fairfax County, Virginia,
in its proprietary capacity (or its suecessors in interest), such as, but not limited to. the public parking facility and
its appurtenances (“Public Garage™. As used in this Lease, the term “Project Documents™ refers collectively to
that certain Ground Lease (defined hereinafter) and to all ts, conditions and restrictions
relating to, affecting, or encumbering all or a portion of the Project, including the Premises, now or hereafier recorded,
including that certain Reciprocal Easement Agreement, dated July 1, 2014, recorded among the land records of
Fairfax County (“Land Records”) in Deed Book 23712 at Page 1626, thal certain Private Party Declaration for
Reston Station, dated July 1, 2014 and recorded among the Land Records in Deed Book 23712 at Page 1678, and
that certain Declaration of Parking Availability (“Parking Dcclaration”), dated November 28, 2016 and recorded
among, the Land Records in Deed Book 24857 at Page 0007, as each and any of the foregoing may have been and
ay hereafter be further amended, modified, supplemented, restated or replaced from time to time. Landlord
represents that it has delivered to Tenant and Tenant acknowledges receipt of true and accurate copies of the Project
Documents prior to the date of this Lease. The Project may be increased or decreased from time to time in
accordance with the Project Documents. The Premises and all other office space in the Building, together with the
Office Common Areas, comprise the “Office Area.” None of the plans provided by Landlord or any of Landlord’s
agents depicting the general layout of the Building, Office Arca or Project constitutes a warranty, representation or
agreement that the Office Area, Building, or Projeet, or facilities therein, will be exactly as indicated. This l.ease
is subject to and subordinate to the Project Docuiment: Landlord shall have the right to amend any Project
Document at any time and without the consent of Tenant if doing so will not materially or adversely decrease
Tenant’s rights or materially or adversely increase Tenant’s obligations under this Lease.

i As used herein, the term “Ground Lease” means that certain Deed of Lease between the
Board of Supervisors of Fairfax County, Virginia in its proprietary capacity (“Ground Lessor”) and Landlord,
dated November 28, 2016, which term includes the Memorandum of Ground Lease recorded among the Land
Records in Deed Book 24856 at Page 2007, as each or any of the foregoing may have been and may hereafter be
further amended, modified, supplemented, restated or replaced from time to time, and which term may include a
replacement gt ‘ound lease for all or a portion of the Project containing the Premises between Ground Lessor and Landlord,
I i terest, any affiliate of either of them, and any successor to any such affiliate. The provisions
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of the Ground lLease are not incorporated into this Lease. The terms of thi:
and Tenant.

Lease shall control as between Landlord

2. COMMON AREAS.

) Common Areas. (i) During the Term, Tenant shall have the non-exclusive right to use the Common Areas
(hereinafter defined) for their intended purposes. As used in this Lease, “Common Areas” refers collectively to:
(A) the portions of and facilitics in and on the Building, if any, that are designated for common use by Landlord,
Tenant and all other oceupants (retail, office and otherwise), tenants and users of the Building, together with any
such facilities outside the Building which are not Project Common Areas (hereinafter defined) or Office Common
Areas (hereinafier defined) (“Building Common Aveas”, which Building Common Areas include, without
limitation, the Common Facilities (as defined in Section 45 below); (B) the portions of and facilities in the Office
Avrea, if any, that are designated for common use by Landlord, Tenant and all other tenants and users of the Office
Arca (“Office Common Areas™); and (C) the portions of and facilities within the Project, if any, that are designated
by Landlord. its affiliates, or the Association for common use by Landlord, Tenant and all other owners, occupants,
tenants and users of the Project, including common areas in the Project which are owned or maintained by the
Association pursuant to the Project Documents (“Project Common Areas™, but in all cases excluding the Public
Garage. As used herein, “Association™ refers to the Reston Station Owners Association. The Common Areas may
include parking areas, access roads and faci s in or about the Project, including truck ways, driveways, loading
bays, zones, docks and areas, delivery arcas, multi-story parking facilities, furnished rooffop patio, bike storage
facilities package pickup sta s, fitness center, conference center, elevators, escalators, pedestrian sidewalks,
malls, courts and ramps, landscaped areas, retaining walls, stairways, bus stops, transit facilitics, first-aid and
comfort stations, lighting facilitics, sanitary systems, utility lines, water filtration and treatment facilities and those
areas within and adjacent to the Project for ingress and egress to and from the Project, as well as any temporary or
permanent off-site utility systems or parking facilities serving the Project. All such improvements now or hereafter
constructed at the Project which provide or relate to parking for the Office Arca (whether exclusive or shared with
other users of the Projeet), including, without limitation, the Building Parking Garage (defined in Section 39(a)
below), are referred to herein as the “Office Parking Facilitics™. For clarity, the “Office Parking Facilities” do not
include any parking facilities in the Public Garage. Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the
Association to manage, operate and maintain the Project Common Areas (including any Office Parking Facilities)
in accordance with the standards required by the Project Documents. Costs of the Common Areas shall be included
in Operating Cost in accordance with Section 7(c).

iy ‘Tenant shall not use the Common Areas for any advertising, sales or display purposes, or for any
other purpose which would impede or create hazardous conditions for the flow of pedestrian or other traffic, without
Landlord’s prior written consent.

G Reservation of Rights. Landlord hereby reserves, on behalf of itself and its affiliates, the right, from ti
to time: (i) 1o alter, modify, increase or decrease the Land, Building, Office Area and Project, including changing
and adding or removing spaces, buildings or units from any of the foregoing, and adjusting boundaries of any of
them: (i) to modify, increase, decrease, demolish and construct improvements, and to perform other acts, including
changing the shape, size, location and access to improvements, in the Building, the Office Area, the Office Parking
Facilities and any other portion of the Project; (iii) to revise the ownership structure of properties at the Project,
including by establishing one or more condominium regimes in order to create separate ownership of the uses at the
Project (o.g., commercial condominium units for retail, office, etc.) and to sever portions of the Project into separate
ground leases as and to the extent contemplated by the Ground Lease; (iv) to change the name of the Building,
Office Arca and Project, and the names of individual streets and other named areas in the Project or any address
therein: and (v) to install, maintain, use, repair and replace pipes, ducts, cables, conduits, plumbing, vents, utility
lines and wires to, in, through, above and below the Premises and other parts of the Building. Landlord has the
exclusive right to use the exterior faces of all perimeter walls of the Building. the roof. and all air space above the
Building. In its exercise of the foregoing rights, Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to minimize
any adverse effect upon Tenant’s use and enjoyiment of the Premises, its operations therefrom, or its access thereto.
In the event of any exercise of Landlord’s reserved rights, the terms used in this Lease (including “Building™ and
“Land”) and other provisions hereof shall be appropriately modified to reflect such change, and if the Net Rentable
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Area of Office Area or the Net Rentable Area of Building, as applicable, is remeasured in accordance with BOMA
in connection with an expansion or contraction of the Building or the Office Area, and/or in connection with a
change in use of portions of the Building or Office Area, Tenant’s Share of Operating Cost aud Tenant’s Share of
Taxes shall be adjusted based upon such remeasured Net Rentable Area of Office Area or remeasured Net Rentable
Area of Building, as applicable, effective only afier written notice to Tenant from Landlord, supported by reasonable
back-up documentation.

3. INITIAL LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS. Landlord shall deliver the applicable portion of the
Premises to Tenant " " condition on the applicable Commencement Date; provided, however, that

n their "as-i
Landlord shall construct in the Premises, at Landlord's sole cost and expense, the Landlord's Work (here
defined) in accordance with the terms of the Work Agreement attached hercto as | C (the ™
Agreement”). ‘Tenant, at Tenant's sole cost and expense, subject, however, to the application of the Tenant
Improvement Allowance (hereinafter defined). shall construet the Tenant's Work in the Premises in accordance with
the terms of the Work Agreement. The Tenant's Work shall be subject to Landlord's prior written approval, shall
comply with all applicable building codes, laws and regulations (including, without limitation, The Americans with
Disabilities Act (the “ADA’")), shall not require any changes to or modifications of any of the mechanical, electrical,
plumbing or other systems of the Building, and shall otherwise be constructed in strict accordance with the terms
of the Work Agreement.

4. TERM. This Lease shall be effective as of the Effective DD
the Commencement Date, subject to and upon the terms and cond
Expiration Date. Landlord and Tenant shall execute a Declaration of Lease Commencement, in the form attached
hereto as Exhibit IE, mutually confirming, among other things, the Commencement Date, Rent Commencement
Date, and Net Rentable Area of the Premises, each as determined pursuant to the terms of this Lease. If Tenant fails
to execute such a declaration, or state Tenant’s objection to information contained in such declaration, within ten
(10) days after delivery of such declaration to Tenant shall be deemed confirnmation of an agreement with the
information set forth in such ion. “Sul ially C d”” (and any derivations thereof) shall mean that
the work in guestion has been completed in accordance with the provisions of the Work Agreement applicable
thereto and this Lease (except for Punch List Items (hereinafter defined)). “Punch List Items” shall mean any minor
details of construction or materials installations that do not materially interfere with Tenant’s use or occupancy of
the Premises. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the parties acknowledge and agree that
as of the Effective Date, Tenant has inspected the Premises and agrees that the Premises are Substantially Completed
as of the Effective Date.

5. USE AND OPERATION.

@ The Premises shall be used and occupied by Tenant (and its permitted assignees and subtenants) solely for
general office purposes (the “Permitted Use™), and for no other purpose whatsoever. The Premises shall not be
used for any purpose which would tend to impair the first-class character of the Project or otherwise interfere with
standard Project operations. Tenant shall be solely responsible for obtaining and maintaining all governmental
lu:ense; pe ficates necessary for Tenant’s use of the Premises (other than the base building
nol i i i i , which Landlord has

esidential use permit which shall permit use of the Premises for office
obldxned) Tenant shall keep current such permit or license at Tenant’s sole expense, and shall promptly deliver a
copy thereof 1o Landlord. Tenant hereby represents and warrants that as of the Effective Date of this Lease, Tenant
s not a Restricted Party (as defined in Section 11(k) below) and shall not become a Restricted Party during the
Term of this Lease.

Ti acibifion ta und not in

purposes”  and shall hot be permitted: (5 fny 1se of the PromiScs by an orEanization Or PErSoN CjoyinE Sovercign
or diplomatic immunity; (ii) any use of the Premiscs by or for any medical, mental health or dental p:nchce Giii)
any use of the Premises by or for an employment agency or bureau
purposes (other than internal training purposes); (v) any use of the Premises by or for any u
governmental or other payments. benefits or information to persons that personally appear at the Premises; (vi) any




other use of the Premises or any portion of the Project by any user that will attract a volume, frequency or type of
visitor or employee to the Premises or any portion of the Project or the Building which is not consistent with the
standards of a high quality, first-class, office building in the Reston submarket arca or that will in any way impose
an excessive demand or use on the facilities or services of the Premises or the Building.

[} Tenant acknowledges and agrees it is solely responsible for determining its business complies with the
applicable zoning regulations, and that Landlord makes no representation (explicit or implied) concerning such
zoning regulations.

@ Tenant shall not do or permit nnyﬂung to be done in or about the Premises which will in any way (i)
unreasonably interfere with the rights of. or es, other tenants of the Building: or (i) unreasonably interfercs
with the operation of the Building or p.ojeu- or (iii) allow the Premises to be used for any improper, immoral,

ble or objecti ble purpose o commit or allow 16 be committed any waste; or (iv) constitute a publie or
private nuisance in. on, or about the Premises. Tenant shall keep all doors leading fr cs to the rest of
the Building closed when not in use. Tenant shall not occupy or use, or permit any portion of the Prem
occupied or used for any business or purpose which is untawful or permit anything to be done, which would in any
way increase the rate of all-risk property insurance coverage carried by Landlord on the Project and/or its contents:
it being agreed that the use of the Premises for the Permitted Use or any of the ancillary uses permitted under
S(a) shall not violate this sentence if Tenant shall pay for such increased rates.

) Without limiting the foregoing or any other provisions of this Lease, Tenant shall observe and confor:
the rules and regulations attached hereto as hibit 1 (a e same may be modified from time to time by Landiord
in accordance with this Lease) (the “Rules and Regulations™). Landlord shall act reasonably in its application of
such rules and regulations and shall not enforce same in a manner which discriminates agair Tenant. In the event
of a conflict between the provisions of such rules and regulations and the provisions of this Lease, the provisions
of this Lease shall control. Notwithstanding the foregeing or anything to the contrary contained in this Lease,
Tenant shall not be bound by any such modification to such rules and regulations that shall increase, except to a de
minimis extent, Tenant’s obligations, or, except to a de minimis extent, reduce Tenant’s rights, under this Lease.

(65 Subject to compliance with all of the other terms and provisions of this Lease, Tenant shall be entitled,
without Landlord’s consent, to permit Tenant’s clients, business partners, consultants, independent contractors,

ies, affiliates, s, and vendors wlth whom Tenant has a direct business relationship to use in the
ordinary course of. and incidental to, Tenant’s business, portions of the Premises; provided (i) such use is permitted
under, and in compliance with, the terms of this [Lease and is related to Tenant’s business in the Premises and Tenant
does not charge such user for such use, (i) such user does not acquire any possessory interest in the Premises or
any portion thereof, (iif) such user complies with the terms of this Lease, including without limitation, the Rules
and Regulations, and (iv) the portion of the Premises used pursuant to this Section 5(f) does not have a separatc
entrance and is not separated from the other portions of the Premises by demising walls or similar slab-to-slab
partitions (any such user permitted to usc the Premises pursuant to the foregoing shall be referred to as a “Permitted
Deslk User™); it being agreed that any such use and occupancy by any Permitted Desk User shall not be deemed a
Transfer (as defined in Section 11(a)) or otherwise subject to the provisions of Section 11. A Permitted Desk User
ocoupying any portion the Premises pursuant to this Seetion 5(f) shall be deemed not to have sublet any such space
for purposes of this Lease. Nothing contained in this Lease or otherwise (including the provision of any services to
the Premises) shall be deemed to (a) create any landlord-tenant or other relationship between Landlord and any
Permitted Desk User, or (b) create any contractual liability or duty on the part of Landlord to any Permitted Desk
User Any act, omission or default (of any provision of this Lease) by any such Permitted Desk User shall be
deemed an act, omission or default by Tenant. Within thirty (30) days affer request by Landlord, Tenant shall
provide a list to Landlord of all then Permitted Desk Users.

6.

() Commencing on the Rent Commencement Date, Tenant hereby agrees to pay the Base Rent for this lease
and use of the Premises, in the amount set forth in the Basic Lease Information. Each successive twelve (12) month
period during the Term following the Rent Commencement Date is a “Lease Year,” provided, however, that, if the
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Rent Commencement Date is not the first day of a calendar month, then the first Lease Year shall be extended to
end on the last day of the calendar month in which the first anniversary of the Rent Commencement Date occurs.

) Tenant shall also pay. as “Additional Ren€” (i) commencing on the Rent Commencement Date, Tenant’s
Share of Operating Cost (as defined in Section 7(b)), (i) commencing on the Rent Commencement Date, ‘Tenant”s
Share of Taxes (as defined in Section 7(0), and i) all other sums of money as shall become due and payable by
Tenant to Landlord under this Lease. Landlord shall have the same remedies for default in the payment of any
Additional Rent as arc available to Landlord in the case of default in the payment of Base Rent. The term “Rent”
shall mean Base Rent and Additional Rent. Tenant shall pay all Rent and sums provided to be paid to Landlord
hereunder at the times and in the manner herein provided.

(<) Commenc on the Rent Commencement Date, Base Rent shall be payable in twelve (12) equal
installments in advance on the first day of each calendar month during each Lease Year during the Term, including
any extensions or renewals thereof: provided that if the Rent Commencement Date is not the first of a month, then
Base Rent for the month in which the Rent Commencement Date occe s shall be prorated (based on the number of
days elapsed and the actual number of days in such month) and paid on the Rent Commencement Date. Tenant
shall pay Rent to Landlord at Landlord’s Rent Payment Address set forth in the Basic Lease Information (or at such
other address as may be designated by Landlord upon not less than ten (10) Business Days® prior written notice to
Tenant), or by ACH or other commercially recognized electronic payment method. without demand and without
any deduction, abatement, counterclaim or setoff, except deductions, abatements and set-offs to which Tenant shall
be entitled pursuant to the express terms of this Lease. Without limiting the foregoing, if the Rent Commencement
Date oceurs on, or if this Lease ends on, any day other than the first (in the case of the Rent Commencement Date)
or last (in the case of Lease termination) day of a month, then the Base Rent and other Additional Rent provided
for herein for such month shall be prorated on a daily basis based upon a thirty (30)-day month and the installment
or installiments so prorated shall be paid in advance.

() If this Lease does not specifically provide the date by which any sum of money is due and payable, the
same shall be duc and payable thirty (30) days after delivery of Landlord’s invoice or written demand therefor. In
the event any sum of money due from Tenant hereunder is not paid within five (5) days afier it is due, then Tenant
also shall pay to Landlord a late payment fee equal to the greater of (x) Two Hundred Fifty and No/100 Dollars
($250.00) or (¥) five percent (5%) of such delinquent payment or any component thercof, for cach and every month
or part thereof that such payment or any component thereof remains unpaid. In addition, all past due amounts of
Rent shall bear interest from the date due until paid at the lesser of the following rates (the “Interest Rate™): the
maximum rate permitted by applicable law or four percent (4%) above the prime commercial lending rate
announced by Bank of America o successor (or if there is no successor, then the highest prime commercial
lending rate published by The Wall Street Journal from time to time), such intercst rate to change automatically,
effective as of the date of each change in such prime rate. No payment by Tenant or receipt by Landlord of a lesser
amount than the Rent herein stipulated will be deemed to be other than on account nor shall any endorsement or
statement on any check or any letter accompanying any check or payment of Rent be deemed an accord and
satisfaction, and Landlord may accept such check or payment without prejudice to Landlord’s right to recover the
balance of such Rent or pursue any other remedy provided for in this Lease or available at law or in equity. Tenant’s
obligation to pay the Rent due under this Lease for the Term shall sur < the expiration or termination of this
Lease.

7. OPERATING COST AND TAXES.
(a) Commencing on the Rent Commencement Date, Tenant shall pay Tenant’s Share of Operating Cost and
Tenant’s n this Lease, “Tenant’s Share™

shall be deemed to refer to Tenant’s Share of Operating Cost or Tenant’s Share of Taxes, as the context may require.

[O) The estimated Operating Cost (hereinafter defined) for any particular calendar year shall be the Operating
Cost for such calendar year as estimated by Landlord prior to commencement of such ealendar year. Landlos
revise the estimated Operating Cost from time to time during the calendar year, and, upon receipt of the revised
estimated Operating Cost statement, Tenant shall pay the revised estimated amount of Tenant’s Share of Operating




Cost (subject to the Controllable Operating Cost Cap (hereinafter defined). Tenant’s Share of Operating Cost shall
be due and payable in advance on the first day of each calendar month during such calendar year in twelve (12)
cqual installments.

() The ter n) “Operating Cost” means all expenses and costs of every kind and nature which Landlord shall
pay or become obli d to pay or in ion with the ownership, management, maintenance, repair
and operation of all or any portion of the Office A a, and to the extent reasonably and equitably allocable to the
Office Area in accordance with the following, paragraph, the Building and the Project, including without limitation
the following: (i) wages, salaries and related expenses of all on-site and, to the extent of their involvement, of
personnel engaged in the operation and maintenance and security of the Office Area, Building and the Project, and
all costs and expenses of operating a property lnﬂnﬂgcnleut office benefitting the Office Au,a, ululudlng but not
limited a reasonable market rent and to all costs ith the telepl system, coy s and other
office furniture and equipment; (ii) cost of all supplies, Iool< portable equipment, labor, and materials purchased
and used in the operation, maintenance, repair, replacement or life safety of the Office Area and the equipment and
systems thercof, including any service and maintenance contracts; (iii) costs of accounting and other professional
services in connection with the Office Area, including the costs of audits by certified public accountants; (iv) costs
of water, sewer, gas, electricity, heating, cooling, and other utilities; (v) premiums and other costs of all insurance
maintained by or for the benefit of Landlord on or with respect to the Office Area and Landlord’s and the property
management company’s personal property used in connection therewith, including ali-risk property insurance,
liability insurance, rental insurance, busin inter insurance and other types of insurance
determined by Landlord or any mortgagee to be necessary or des urance Costs™); (vi) the Office Arca’s
share of shared expenses and assessments under the Project Do ments, (provided, however, Operating Cost shall
not include any assessments, expenses, costs or othe: chmgcs impesed pursuant to the Project Documents for any
amounts of the type which, if i 1 by the L. ion with the Office Area, the Building or the
Project, would be expressly excluded from the definition or Operating Cost or Taxes under this Lease), and other
Project-wide agreements, including any expenses for services set forth elsewhere in this Lease to the extent provided
by the Association or similar entity; (vii) management fees: (viii} the cost of trash removal, snow removal,
landscaping and other operations at the Office Area; (ix) the portion of Project Costs allocated to the Office Area;
provided, that “Project Costs” includes any costs, expenses or disbursements relating to the owning, operating,
managing, repairing, insuring, replacing, maintaining, or cleaning of the Project Common Areas and any payments
made by Landlord or assessed or billed to Landlord or the Building or Land ‘pursuant to the Project Documents: (x)
costs and expenses incurred by Landlord in repairing, insuring, replacing, operating, and maintaining the
improvements that contain all o any portion of the Office Area (including the Building). to the extent such costs
and expenses are allocated to the Office Area; and (xi) all other expenses of any nature arising from the ownership
and operation of the Office Area (or any portion thereof). expenditure for an improvement
to the Building and/or the Office Area (or any portion thereof) the cost of which, under generally accepted
accounting principles, is required to be capitalized (a “Capital Expenditure™) (A) by installing energy conservation
or labor-saving devices intended to reduce Operating Cost, (B) to comply with any Legal Requirement pertaining
to the Land and/or the Building first in effect after the Commencement Date, or (C) to comply with insurance
requirements imposed by Landlord’s Mortgagee, and if, then the cost thereof shall be amortized over a period equal
to the useful life of such improvement as determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and the amortized costs allocated to each calendar year during the Term, together with an imputed interest amount
calculated on the unamortized portion thercof, using an interest rate of twelve percent (12%) per ar . shall be
treated as an Operating Cost (any cost permitied to be included in “Operating Cost” pu cntence, a
“Permitted Capital Expenses”). If Landlord receives any sales tax credits or other eredits, refunds or abatements

the amount of the Permitted Capital Expenses.

Without limiting the foregoing, Landlord and/or the Association shall be entitled to incur costs or purchase
sing Operating Cost and relating to the Office Area, the Building, and one or more buildings in the
Project under a single contract or otherwise together (including, without limitation, use of a shared onsite
management office, if any), and Landlord shall (or shall cause the Association 10) allocate such costs, expenses or
disbursements to the Office Area on a reasonable basis. Operating Cost which are incurred on a building-by-
building basis rather than for the entire Project (e.g., Insurance Costs for all-risk property insurance or costs asscsscd
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through the Project Documents to a particular building or lot) shall be aggregated among buildings in the Project,
but prior to such aggregation, Landlord shall allocate such Operating Cost among the office and non-office portions
of the building on a reasonable basis (such as, by way of example and not limitation, based upon the Net Rentable
Avea of the Building), using sound accounting principles, consistently applied. If any management office in the
Building is included in the core factor and serves one or more buildings in the Project or any other property owned
by Landlord or an Affiliate of Landlord, then for purposes of determining Tenant’s Share of Operating Cost,
Tenant’s Share shall be equitably adjusted by Landlord to exclude such portion of the rentable area of the
management office allocable to any such other buildings or properties or any retail portion of the Building.

) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of subsection (b), above, Operating Cost shall not include any
costs and expenses related to the following: (i) financing charges and payments of principal and interest on debt or
amortization payments on any morfgage and rent or any other payments under any gnound lease or other underlying
lease, except and to the extent a portion of such rent payments represents the payment of taxes, utilitics, insurance
or other “net” elements under any such mortgages, ground lease or underlying lease (or payments in lieu thercof);
(ii) deductions for income tax purposes on account of depreciation and amortization: (iii) leasing commissions,
brokerage fees and advertising expenses incurred in connection with procuring tenants for the Office Area: (iv)
costs of pri epmmg space in the Office Area for occupancy by tenants whether for initial occupancy or renewal
including tenant and () services performed by Landlord specifically for other tenants in
the Office Area to the extent such work or services are in excess of Office Area standard services including the cost
of afiei freight elevator and loading dock service billed to other tenants, and costs separately

ssable to other tenants; (vi) utilities and services provided to other tenants in the Office Area to the extent
Landlord is actually reimbursed the costs therefor by such tenants; (vii) the cost of any repair, restoration,
replacement or other item, to the extent Landlord is actually reimbursed therefor by insurance, warranties, or
condemnation proceeds; (viii) salaries, wages or other compensation paid to officers, directors and executive
employees above the level of senior property manager, except that such expenses may be paid out of the
management fee; (ix) fees, costs and expenses incurred Landlord in connec n with or relating to claims against
or disputes with tenants of the Project, including without limitation, legal fees and disbursements; (x) costs to the
extent covered by third party warrantics and guaranties recovered by Landlord; (xi) that portion of any Operating
Cost which is paid to any entity affiliated with Landlord (or any member of Landlord) which is in excess of the
amount which would otherwise be paid to an entity which is not affiliated with Landlord for the provision of the
same service; (xii) capital expenditures except Permitted Capital Expenses: (< gal fees and exponses and
transfer and ion taxes in cor with the sale or tranafer of an interest in Landiord or the
Building; (xiv) costs relating to maintaining Landlord’s existence as an entity; (xv) contributions to political

anizations: (xvi) Taxes (as defined in subscction (g) below); (xvii) costs of the original construction of the
Building or of structural re; to the Building, and costs of repai latent defects or inadequacies in the design
or construction of the Building, or in any tenant’s (including Tenant’s) or occupant’s premises; (xviii) capital and
related costs incurred in connection with the acqu ion, sale, financing or other disposition of air rights,
transferable development rights, easements or other real property interests; and (xix) the portion of any Operating
Cost allocable exclusively to the retail portions of the Bllilding.

as:

£

6] Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, Landlord shall not include in Operating Cost that
portion of Controllable Operating Cost (hereinafter defined) which exceed the Controllable Operati ost Cap
(hereinafter defined) during a calendar year. As used herein, the term “Controliable Operating Cost Cap™ shall
mean (i) for the first calendar year of the Term, the aggregate amount of the Controllable Operating Cost incurred
during such calendar year, or (ii) for each calendar year thereafter, an amount equal to the greater of (x) one hundred
five percent (105%) of the Controllable Operating Cost Cap that was effective in the Immediately-preceding calendar year
and (y) one hundred five percent {105%%) of the actual amount of Controllable O, Cost i 1 the i

preceding calendar year; provided, however, that the Controllable Operating Cost Cap for any year shall bbe determ ined
on a cumulative and compounding basis throughout the entire Term (i.e.. if the Controllable Operating Cost for a calendar
year exceeds the Controllable Operating Cost Cap for the calendar year, the excess is permitied to be carried over to any
Subsequent calendar year in which the Controllable Operating Cost for the calendar year is less than the Controllable
Operating Cost Cap for the calendar year). As used herein, the term “Contrellable Operating Cost™ shall mean all
Operating Cost, except for Insurance Costs, Taxes, Comimon Area refuse removal, costs incurred for snow and ice
removal, security and costs of compliance with Legal Requirements or other laws not in effect as of the Commencement
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Date. utilities and any other Operating Cost outside of the reasonable control of Landlord to determine (without
regard to whether any of the foregoing was incurred directly by Landiord or was assessed to Landlord through the
Project Documents).

3 The estimated Taxes for each calendar ycar shall be the Taxes for such year as estimated by Landlord prior
to commencement of such year. Tenant’s Share of Taxes shall be due and payable in advance on the first day of
each calendar month during such calendar year in twelve (12) equal installments. Landlord may revise the estimated
Taxes from time to time during the year, and, upon receipt of the revised estimated Taxes statement, Tenant shall
pay the revised estimated amount of Tenant’s Share of Taxes.

hy “Taxes” shall mean all taxes, assessments, sewer and vault rents, service payments in lieu of taxes, excises,
levies, fees or charges, general and special, ordinary and extraordinary. h as well as . of any kind
which are assessed, levied, charged, confirmed or imposed by any public authority, guasi-public authority,
development authority or taxing district upon the Building or Land, including the Building’s share of Taxes upon
the operation of the Office Area, Landlord’s or its affiliates’ interest in the Common Areas, to the extent reasonably
allocable to the Building. or the Rent provided for in this Lease, including any business, professional, and
occupational license fees based on rents or gross receipts (€.g., the “BPOL Tax> administered by Fairfax County),
the Transportation Tax (Va. Code §58.1-3221.B), and including any costs and fees incurred by Landlord in any tax
contest, appeal or negotiation. Taxes shall not include (i) franchise or “value added™ tax, succession or estatc tax,
taxes on profits, use or occupancy tax, capital gains tax, capital stock tax, revenue tax, excise tax, inheritance tax,
gift tax, transfer tax, gross receipts tax, mortgage or deed of trust record tax, documentary or stamp tax,
unincorporated business tax or income tax; and (ii) any taxes on Landlord’s, Superior Lessor’s or Superior
Mortgagee’s income (collectively, “Excluded Items™); provided, however, that if at any time during the Term there
shall be assessed or posed as a substitute for, or in lieu of, any such taxes, assessments, levies, impositions or
charges in effect as of the Effective Date, any taxes, assessments, levies, impositions or charges assessed or imposed,
wholly or partially, as an assessment, levy, imposition or charge, on the rents received from the Building or the
rents reserved herein or any part thereof, then such assessments, levies, impositions or charges, to the extent so
levied, assessed or imposed with respect to the Building, shall be added to and deemed to be included in Taxes.
Taxes shall not include late charges, interest or penalties incurred as a result of Landlord®s failing to paying any
taxes or assessments as the same shall beeome due unless such late charges, penalties or interest are due to Tenant’s
failure to timely pay any amounts due under this Lease. To the extent that the Building is not separately assessed
for real estate tax purposes, but is assessed as part of a larger parcel or consists of multiple parcels, Landlord shall
make a reasonable allocation as to the amount of taxes, assessments, levies or similar charges that should be
allnca(ed to the Building for purposes of determining Taxes hereunder. In the event Landlord receives a refund (or
n liew of refund o tax benefit arising solely from Tneant’s occupancy of the Premises) of Taxes for
Any calendar year during the T'erm or the actual Tenant’s Share of Taxes for any calendar year during the Term is
less than Tenant’s Share of Taxes set forth in the Tax Statement for such calendar year (as a result of reduction or
otherwise), Landlord shall pay to Tenant Tenant’s Share of the net refund or credit (i.e., after deducting from such
refund or credit Landiord’s Out-of-Pocket Costs of obtaining the same. As used in this Lease, “Out-of-Pocket
Costs™ shall mean actual, reasonable out-of-pocket costs, without any profit, markup, overhead or administrative
ce.

o) Tenant will be responsible for and will pay all ad valorem taxes on Tenant’s Personal Property. As used in
this Lease, the term “Personal Property” means (i) tangible personal property, including, furniture, furnishings,
trade fixtures, inventory, supplies and business equipment of a tenant or occupant for the conduct of its business
(collectively, the “FF&E™), and (ii) documents, files, papers, computer or other information storage media or
materials, any books and records, library materials, or any computer programs or software.

[€)] Upon written equu>| by Tenant (no more frequently than one time each year based on when the annual tax
assessment for the Building is issued to Landlord by the applicable taxing authority), Landlord shall timely file for
an administrative review of the tax assessment of the Building. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any provi
hereof to the contrary, in ne event shall Landlord be obligated to file an action in the Circuit Court of Fai
County, Virginia.




8. RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING COST AND TAXES.

(@) 1n the event that the actual Tenant’s Share of Operaling Cost for any calendar year during the Term exceeds
the estimated Tenant’s Share of Operating, Cost for such calendar year, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as Additional
Rent for such year, an amount equal to the difference between the estimated amounts for Tenant’s Share of
Operating Cost for that year and amounts actually paid by Tenant as estimates (the “Operating Cost
Underpayment™). In the event that the actual Tenant’s Share of Taxes for any year during the Term exceeds the
estimated amount of Tenant’s Share of Taxes for such year, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as Additional Rent for
such year, an amount equal to the difference between the actual and estimated amounts for Tenant’s Sharc of Taxes
for that year and amounts actually paid by Tenant as estimates (the ““Tnxes Underpayment™).

by In the event that the actual Tenant’s Share of Operating Cost for any calendar year during the Term is less
than the estimated Tenant’s Share of Operating Cost for such calendar ycar, Landlord shall credit to Tenant against
future amounts due under this Lease an amount equal to the difference between the estimated amounts of Tenant’s
Share of Operating Cost for that year and amounts actually paid by Tenant as estimates (the “Operating Cost
Overpayment”). In the event that the actual Tenant’s Share of Taxes for any year during the Term is less than the
estimated Tenant’s Share of Taxes for such year, Landlord shall eredit to Tenant against future amounts due under
this Lease an amount equal to the difference between the estimated amounts of Tenant’s Share of Taxes for that

year and amounts actually paid by Tenant as estimates (the “Taxes Overpayment™). If no amounts then remain
Hug e Landlord uner THILT e, T-aniord WA hafand mach bues payments to Tenant.

© Within one hundred fifty (150) days after the end of cach calendar year, all or any portion of which falls
during the Term, Landlord shall deliver to Tenant a statement showing the determination of Tenant’s Share of
Operating Cost and Tenant’s Share of Taxes for such calendar year (the “Annual Statement”). If, according to the
Annual Statement, Section 8(a) is applicable, Tenant shall pay perating Cost Underpayment or Real Estate
Tax Underpayment to Landlord within thirty (30) days afler receipt of an invoice therefor, accompanied by a copy
of the Annual Statement. If, according to the Annual Statement, Section 8(b) is applicable, Landlord shall credit or
refund the Operating Cost Overpayment and Taxes Overpayment to Tenant within thirty (30) days of sending the
Annual Statement to Tenant.

@ If during any calendar year during the Term, (i) less than the entire Net Rentable Area of the Office Area
is fully occupied or (ii) any part of the Office Area is leased to a tenant (including Tenant) who provides its own
services in lieu of Landlord providing the same, the cost of which would otherwise be included in Operating Cost,

then Operating Cost for such period shall be “grossed up” to that amount of Operating Cost that would have been
incul by Landlord if one hundred percent (100%%) of the Office Area was occupied or if Landlord had provided
and paid for such services with respect to one hundred percent (100%6) of the Office Area. In no event shall Landlord
gross up any Operating Cost to an amount which would permit Landlord to collect more than the actual amount of
the Operating Cost incurred by Landlord, plus any administrative fees set forth herein.

w

Within one (1) calendar year after receipt of an Annual Statement, Tenant shall be entitled to the following
right. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall any au e permitted during the period from
December Ist of any given calendar year through and including April 30™ of the next calendar year. Such audit
right shall be exercisable by Tenant providing Landlord with a written notice of its election to exercise of such audit
rvight. If Tenant exercises such audit right, Tenant shall have the right to inspect and audit Landlord’s books and
records relating to the calendar year in question on reasonable advance notiee to Landlord, during regular business
hours, at Landlord’s main office at 1900 Reston Metro Plaza, 10" Floor, Reston, Virginia 20190, or such other
address as Landlord provides to Tenant from time to time in accordance with this Section 8(e). Tenant shall have
the right to conduct such examination using Tenant’s own employees or a reputable independent certificd public
accounting firm reasonably approved by Landlord. If Tenant clects to employ such accountant, then Tenant shall
deliver to Landlord a confidentiality and nondisclosure agreement in form and substance reasonably acceptable to
Landlord, Tenant and Tenant’s accountant, by such , and provide Landiord not less than thirty
(30) days’ notice of the date on which the accountant desires to examine Landlord’s books and records during
regular business hours; provided, however, that such date shall be between thirty (30) and ninety (90) days after
Tenant delivers to Landlord such notice. In no event shall the audit be conducted on a contingency fee basis, Such

-
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audit shall be limited to a determination of whether Landlord calculated the Annual Statement for the calendar yeal
in question in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Lease and Landlord’s normal and customary method
of accounting for and calculating Tenant’s Share of Operating Cost. All costs and expenses of any such audit shall
be paid by Tenant, except if such audit discloses that the amounts paid by Tenant to Landlord as a result of
demonstrated errors exceeded the amounts to which Landiord was entitled by more than five percent (5%a), in which
cvent Landlord shall promptly reimburse Tenant for the reasonable costs and incurred in such audit (not
to exceed Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000) in the aggn‘cgalc). 1f such audit shows that the amount paid by Tenant to
Landlord on account of demonstrated errors in such charges exceeded the amounts to which Landlord was entitled
hercunder, Landlord shall pay to Tenant the amount of such excess within thirty (30) days afier the date Landlord
is notified in writing of the error. b ding anything A haraiiite the cantens v, Tenant shall be entitled
to exercise its right to audit uant to this Section 8(e) only in strict accordance with the foregoing procedures. The
audit rights pursuant 1o this sccnon 8(e) are personal to the named Tenant under this Lease and non-assignable, and
shall not transfer or apply to any assignee or subtenant, or any other person or entity other than the named Tenant under
this Lease. In addition, Tenant shall not be entitled to exercise such rights on behalf of any assignee or subtenant, or
any other person or entity.

9. UTILITIES AND SERVICES.
(a)y (i) Services Provided. From and after the Commencement Date (or such earlier date as may be

provided herein). Landlord shall, at Landlord’s sole cost and expense (subject to reilnburselnenl directly by Tenant
to the extent provided below or to the extent includable in Tenant’s Share of Operating Cost) p: e the following
utilities and services to the Premises: (A) electric current on a direct meter basis up to Hlnlduly, l—lk_ulllz_al Standard
(hereinafter defined); (B) hot and cold water; (C) lavatory supplies ta Common Area restroom facilities; (D) heat,
ventilation and air-conditioning (“HVAC”) during Building Operating Hours (including, only if applicable,
Requested ™M s(l ter defined)); (E) freight elevator service via one (1) elevator serving the
Premises in common with other tenants of the Building, subject to availability on a “first come, first served’ basis
and, after Building Operating Hours, subject to prior scheduling with Landlord on a “first come, first served” basis
and, if utilized after Building Operating Hours, subject to payment of Landlord’s Out-of-Pocket Costs for labor for
after-hours usage; (F) access to the loading dock subject to availability on a “first come, first served” basis and,
after Building Operating Hours, subject to prior scheduling with Landlord on a “first come, first served® basis and,
if utilized after Building Operating Hours, subject to payment of Landlord’s Out-of-Pocket Costs for labor for after-
homs usngc. and (H) trash removal, cleaning and char service (after Building Opcmung Hours on Monday through
Fr Holidays (! T fined)). As used herein, the term “Holidays™ shall mean all federally-
dcuumtcd holidays, including without limitation New Year’s Day, Martin Luther ng s Birthday, President’s Day,
Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Golumbus Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day
and any other holiday designated by the US Government as a “federal holiday™ in the future. “Business Day” shall
mean all days excluding Saturdays, Sundays and Holidays.

G Afier-Hours HVAC Services. At times other than the Building Operating Hours and days
aforesaid, central air conditioning and heating shall be provided to Tenant upon at least twenty-four (24) hour
prior notice from Tenant (and not later than 3:00 p.m. on Fi v if Friday is a Holiday, then the immediately
preced work day, for weekend service), and upon payment by Tenant of the hourly charge established by
Landlord from time to time for each hour (or a portion thereof) of usage before or after Building Operating Hours.
The current hourly charge for each hour (or any portion thereof) of after-hours usage of central air conditioning and
heating is Sixty and No/100 Dollars ($60.00) per hour (or any portion thereof) per zone (if system is zoned) or per
floor (or any portion thereof) of the Building if not zoned, such amount to escalate at three percent (3%) per annum
(the “After-ITours HVAC Charge™). Such Afier-Hours HVAC Charge shall be an item of Additional Rent due ten
(10) days after rendition of a bill therefor. Landlord reserves the right to adjust, from time to time, the After-Hours
HVAC Charge, based on Landlord’s reasonable determination of inereases in the ost (without mark-up) incurred
by Landlord in providing such service (including depreciation and actual d); provided, | -, Landlord
shall provide thirty (30) days prior notice to Tenant of any change thereto. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the
cvent that Tenant desires HVAC service on a Requested Saturday Morning (excluding Holidays) between the hours
of 8:00 a.m. to 1:00 p.m., and provided that Tenant delivers a written request (which may be by facsimile or email)
to Landlord prior to 3:00 p.m. on the business day immediately preceding the Saturday on which Tenant request
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vice between the hours of 8:00 am. and 1:00 p.m. (the “Requested Saturday Morning™), and
es in such notice the hours between 8:00 aun. and 1:00 p.m. during which Tenant requests that
Landlord provide such HVAC service, Landlord shall provide HVAC service to the Premises at no additional charge
to Tenant during the requested period (but not before §:00 a.m. or after 1:00 p.n.) on such Requested Saturday
n

such HVAC s

Gii) a Landlord shall provide at least one (1) passenger elevator is operating from the Building
lobby/first floor to cach floor on which the Premises is located twenty-four (24) hours per day, seven (7) days per
week, subject to casnalty, condemnation, Force Majeure, required inspections as required by law, and emergencies
beyond the reasonable control of Landlord.

Giv) Bulbs. All Building standard light bulbs, lamps. ballasts and tubes in the Premises shall be
furnished and replaced by Landlord and the cost thereof shall be included in Operating Cost. At Tenant’s option,
non-Building standard light bulbs, lamps, ballasts and tubes in the Premises shall be installed and replaced by
Landlord, in which case Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for Landlord’s Out-of-Pocket Costs therefor within thirty
(30) days after delivery of a reasonably detailed invoice therefor. Tenant shall furnish its own bulbs, lamps, bailasts
and tubes for non-Building standard light fixtures in the Premises, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense.

) Access. Tenant shall have access to the Premises, the Building and the Office Parking Facilitics
twenty-four (24) hours per day, seven (7) days per week, three hundred sixty-five (365) days per year, subject to
Force Majeure, casualty, condenation, compliance with Legal Requirements and emergencies beyond Landlord’s
reasonable control. Thé Building has an electronic entry system to control access after Building Operating Hours.
Landlord shall initially supply Tenant with up to five (5) electronic entry cards to the Building per 1,000 rentable
square feet of space contained within the Premises at no charge to Tenant. Tenant shall pay Landlord for the Out-
of-Pocket Cost of any additional or replacement entry cards. Landlord acknowledges that Tenant intends to install
its own access control system for the Premises, and Landlord shall reasonably cooperate, without additional cost to
Landlord, in connection with such installation and the eonnection of such system to the base building access control
system, if applicable, provided: (A) Landlord reasonably determines the access control system installed by Tenant
is compatible with Landlord’s base building access system, (13) Landlord reasonably determines that the access
control system installed by Tenant will not adversely affect Landlord’s base building access control system or
adversely affect or compromise any warrantics for the base building access control system, (C) Landlord is at all
times provided with access cards and/or other reasonable means of access to the Premises in accordance with
Seetion 15: and (D) any tie-ins to the base building access control system performed by Tenant are subject to the
provisions of Section 12.

) Electricity. Tenant will not, without the prior written consent of Landlord, use any electrical apparatus or
device in the Premises with constitutes Special Equipment. As used herein, “Special Equipment* shall mean (i)
any equipment or fixture which uses current in excess of the Building Electrical Standard (hereinafter defined) or
(ii) supplementary air conditioning equipment or equipment of like energy draw. Tenant will not connect to elect
current any apparatus or device for the purpese of using electric current or water, except through existing electrical
outlets in the Premises or water pipes. As used in this Lease, the term “Building Electrical Standard” means six
(6) watts per usable square foot of the Premises (including any supplemental HVAC installed by Tenant, but
exclusive of base Building HVAC and base Building lighting).

) Additional Electricity and Water. If Tenant shall desire to install Special Equipment, require electricity in
excess of the Building Electrical Standard or water in excess of that which would otherwise be furnished or supplied
for the intended use of the Premises, Tenant shall first secure the written consent of Landlord for the use thereof,
which consent Landlord may refuse in its discretion. Landlord may condition its consent upon the requirement that
a water submeter or electric current meter or submeter be installed so as to measure the amount of water and electric
current consumed for any such excess use in the Premises. The cost of such meters and installation, maintenance
and repair thercof, the cost of any such excess utility use as shown by said meter, the cost of any new or additional
utility installations, including, without limitation, wiring and plumbing, resulting from such excess utility use, and
the cost of any additional expenses incurred in keeping count of such excess utility use shall be paid by Tenant
promptly upon demand by Landlord or, if Tenant is billed separately thercfor, promptly upon receipt of a bill for
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same. Whenever heat generating machines or equipment are used in the Premises which affect the temperature
otherwise maintained by the air condi omng system, Landlord reserves the right to install or require Tenant to
install supplementary air conditioning units the Premises and the cost thereof, including the cost of installation,
operation and maintenance thereof, shall be pald by Tenant to Landlord upon demand by Landlord.

(<) Tenant’s Equipment Operation. Subject to the provisions haleof rcnnnt shall have the right to install and
operate in the Premises personal computers and other electrically-or ed office equipment used in

modern offices. Tenant shall not install cquipment of any kind or nature wtmnowu nor engage in any practice or
use which will or may an; 2 ts or additions to, or in the use of, the waler system,
heating system, plumbing system, air conditioning system, electrical system, floor load eapacities, or other
mechanical or structural system of the Premises or the Building without first obtaining the prior written consent of
Landlord, ywhich consent may be conditioned upon, but not limited to, Tenant first securing at its expense additional
eapacity for any said service in the Building: provided, however, Tenant shall be responsible for paying for any
excess utility consumption arising from any such change, replacement, use or addition, such payments to be based
on Landlord’s reasonable estimate or, at Landlord’s option, a submeter or sim device to measure such usage
(said device to be installed at Tenant’s expense). Additionally, in the event that Landlord reasonably determines
that Tenant’s electrical consumption exceeds the Building Electrical Standard, Tenant shall pay the amount of such
excess electrical consumption, as reasonably determined by Landlord, within ten (10) days after demand therefor.
Machines, equipment and materials belonging to Tenant which cause vibration, noise, cold, heat, fumes or odors
that may be transmitted outside of the Premises to such a degree as to be objectionable to Landlord in Landlord”
sole opinion or to any other tenant in the Building shall be treated by Tenant at its sole expense so as to climinate
such objectionable condition, and shall not be allowed to operate until such time as the objectionable condition is
remedied to Landlord’s satisfaction.

(e) Additior If Tenant desires any Additional Service (hereinafter defined) Te rant shall
make request for Additional Service to Landlord, the property manager or to such other party nated by
Landlord from time to time in writing according to Building procedures. “Additional qawice" means any
additional, after hours, overtime or premium pay service requested by Tenant to Landlord which is in addition to
those services expressly required to be provided by Landlord pursuant to this Lease. Except as otherwise expressly
sot forth in this Lease, in the event Tenant requests any Additional Service, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, Landlord’s
Out-of-Pocket Costs of providing such Additional Service, plus Landlord’s Fee) (it being agreed that Landlord’s
Fee shall not be applicable to any amounts charged 1o Landlord by any third-party utility), in either case, within
thirty (30) days after delivery of a reasonably detailed invoice therefor from Landiord. If Landlord is required to
furnish additional cleaning services to Tenant because of (i) the carelessness of Tenant, (ii) the use of portions of
Promises for other than normal office purposes requiring greater or more difficult cleaning than office areas or
removal of any refuse and rubbish from the Premises (except for discarded material placed in wastepaper baskets
and left for emptying as an incident to Tenant’s normal cleaning of the Premises) in excess of that ordinarily
accumulated in business office occupancy, then, in each such case, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, Landlord’s Out-
of-Pocket Costs of providing such Additional Service, plus Landlord’s Fee, within thirty (30) after delivery of a
reasonably defailed invoice therefor from Landlord.

[O) Interruptions. Except as otherwise set forth in this Lease, failure by Landlord to any extent to furnish any
services to Tenant, the Premises and the Project, or any cessation thereof, shall not render Landlord liable in any
respect for damages to person, property or otherwise, nor be construed as an eviction of Tenant, nor work as an
abateinent of rent, nor relieve Tenant from fulfillment of any covenant or agreement hereof. Except in a case of
emergency, Landlord shall provide Tenant with reasonable advance notice of any interruption, curtailment or
cessation, and in an emergency or unanticipated event, Landlor 11 provide such notice as is practicable. In the
event of any interruption, cessation or curtailment of services, Landlord shall, however, use reasonable diligence to
prompily répair or restore (or cause the Association or applicable provider (o repair or restore) any affected systems
and services. Except in the case of an emergency, an unanticipated event, or as otherwise directed by any
governmental authority having jurisdiction, Landlord shall, if reasonably practicable, confine all such intor
cessations or curtailments affecting the Premises to times that are not Building Operating Tou
the foregoing, in the event of such failure which (i) renders the Premises untenantable and Tonant ceases operating
therein, (i) is within Landlord’s control to remedy (Tenant hereby acknowledging that public utilities are not within
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the reasonable control of Landlord), (iii) was not caused by Tenant or any employee, contractor, or agent of Tenant,
and (iv) continues ininterrupted for a period of five (5) bus ays, Base Rent shall abate for the number of days
such failure continues beyond such five (5) business day period.

10. CARE AND MAINTENANCE; REPATIRS.

@ Tenant shall not commit or allow any waste or damage to be committed on any portion of the Premises or
the Building, and at the termination of this Lease, by lapse of time or otherwise, to deliver up the Premises to
Landlord in the condition required under Section 20 below.

by Tenant shall keep the Premises, the Improvements (hereinafter defined) made thereto, and the fixtures and

equipment located therein (including repair or replacement as necessary or
clean, safe, sanitary and otherwise first-class condition and in compliance with all applicable Legal Requirements
at all times during the Term, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense. Landlord shall have no obligation to Tenant to
make any repairs in or to the Premises or any Improvements therein. Prior to Tenant making any such repairs which
affect or may affect the Building’s mechanical, electrical, plumbing, life safety, fire alarm, heating, ventilation and
air conditioning systems outside the Premises, Tenant shall give notice to Landlord of the nature and extent of such
repairs and, if Landlord so elects, Tenant shall retain the services of Landlord or a maintenance company reasonably
selected by Landlord to perform such repairs and Tenant shall pay Landlords actual cost of providing such repai
services (fo the extent that such actual cost does not exceed the then-current market rate for such services being
charged by qualified third party maintenance companics) as Additional Rent hereunder within ten (10) days after
receipt of an invoice therefor.

1 good repair and in a

«

«©) At Tenant’s own cost and expense, Tenant shall (i) repair or replace any damage or
Building or Project caused by Tenant or Tenant’s agents, contractors, employees, invitees or vis
any structural changes necessary. in whole or in part, as a result of any Improvements made by Tenant or as a result
of Tenant’s (as opposed to other tenants in general) specific use of the Premises by Tenant; provided, however,
that Landlord may, at its option, make such structural repairs or replacements or changes, and Tenant shall repay
Landlord’s actual cost thereof plus Landlord’s Fees within ten (10) days following Tenant’s receipt of written
demand therefor. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any damage or injury to the Building or its systems and any
damage or injury to Tenant’s hmprovements which affects the Building’s structural components or major
mechanical, electrical or plumbing systems, caused by Tenant or its agents, contractors, employees, invitees or
visitors shall be repaired or replaced by Landlord, but at Tenant’s expense plus Landlord’s Fees. As used in this
Section 10, the terms “damage” and “injury” are not intended to include permitted alterations and improvements
performed in accordance with the provisions of Section 12 oi Subject to the provisions of this Section
10, Landiord shall make improvements or repa
clements of the Building, the costs of which may be incl Aed Operating Cost to the extent permitted in Section
7 hereof. Landiord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Association to make repairs to the
Common Areas maintained by the Association. This Section 10 shall not create any obligation of Landlord to repair
any damage by fire or other casualty.

njury done to the
o

11. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING.

(a) Neither this Lease nor the interest of Tenant in this Lease shall be sold, assigned, transferred, mortgaged,
pledged, hypothecated or otherwise disposed of, whcthcr by operation of law or otherwise, no

or any part thereof be sublet or subject to any license or concession (each of the foregoing, a “Transfer”) without
the prior written consent of Landlord, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed,
but which approval shall be subject t6 the terms and conditions of this Section 1 1. The sale or transfer of stock or
hip interest constituting a controlling interest in Tenant shall be considered for the purposs
of this Lease to be a Transfer, and likewise shall require Landlord®s prior writien consent. Except as specifically
set forth herein, for the purposes of this Lease, the entering into of any management agreement or any similar
agreement which tr nnsf‘ers l:c)ntlo] of the business operations of Tenant in the Premises shall be treated as a Transfer
written consent. Other than a Transfer made to a Qu
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s set forth in this Section 11(a) the conditions for Landlord’s
reasonable approval of any Transfer being set forth in Section 11(c) below may be granted or withheld in Landlord’s
sole and absolute discretion. Any proposed Transfer shall be subject to and conditioned upon the written consent
of Landlord’s mortgagee if such required by the terms of any mortgage or by a collateral document securing the
same obligations as are secured by such mortgage.

upon any third party. Landlord’s consent to the matter

[ Tenant shall initially oceupy the Premises. In the event Tenant should desire to Transfer more than twenty
ercent (20%) of the Premises pursuant 1o a sublease or partial assignment of this Lease, Tenant shall give Landlord
written notice thereof, which notice shall include the proposed date of Transfer and to the extent then available, the
ne of the proposed sublessee or assignee and then-current Is for such subl or C"Tenant’s
ansfer Notice™). Landlord shall then have a pei of thirty (30) days following receipt of the Tenant’s Transfer
Notice within which to notify Tenant in writing whether Landlord elects (i) to terminate this Lease with respect to
the proposed subletting or partial assignment, effective as of the date of the proposed effective date of such Transfer,
in which event upon Tenant’s timely surrender in accordance with Section 20, Tenant thereafier will be relieved of
all further obligations hereunder as to such space, (ii) to reject Tenants Transfer request, based on the standards set
forth below: or (iii) to permit Tenant to Transfer (by way of a subletting or partial assignment of this Lease) subject
to the conditions set forth below. If Landlord should fail to notify Tenant in writing of such election within said
thirty (30) day period, Landlord shall be deemed to have elected t6 reject Tenant’s Transfer request.

fo)

[ If Landiord elects to permit Tenant to Transfer all or any portion of the Premises or this Lease, the following
shall apply (and be conditions thereto):

At the time of any such Transfer, this Lease is in full force and effeet and no Event of
Dofanit, o sondifbn whish with the giving of noties and the passage of ime would sonatitatean Event of Dotanlt
exists.

i Tenant shall notify Landlord of the prof “Transferee™ with
three (3) months after Landlord has notificd Tenant that it will permit Tenant to Transter this Lense as set forth in
Section_11(b) (failure to deliver such notice shall render Landlord’s consent to Transfer null and void and the
n 11(b) shall reactivate) and at least thirty (30) days in advance of the subletting or assignment
Cwhich notification shall include current financial data with respect to the party proposed and a complete copy of
the fully executed proposed assignment or sublease document) and Landlord shall approve or disapprove the
proposed Transferee within thirty (30) days of Landlord™s receipt of such notice and all information reasonably
requested by Landlord in order to make an informed judgment as to the proposed Transferee, including the
Transferce’s certified financials, business plan and history. So long as no Event of Default exists at the time of the
request. Landlord’s approval of the Transferee will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed if the proposed
sublessee or assignee (A) has the financial capacity and creditworthiness to undertake and perform the obligations
of this Lease or the sublease (and in the event of assignment, at least the net worth of Tenant as of the date of this
Lease), (B) is of a type and quality consistent with the first-class nature of the Building. (C) is not a party by whom
any suit or action could be defended on the ground of sover: i ty, (D) will not
impose any additional material burden upon Landlord in the operation of the Building (to an extent greater than the
burden to which Landlord would have been had Tenant continued to use such part of the Premises). (E) not a tenant
in the Building or Project or a potential tenant with whom Landlord or any affiliate of Landlord is engaged in active
negotiations or has been so engaged within the immediately preceding ninety (90)-day period, and (F) approved by
Landlord’s mortgagee. Within thirty (30) days after Tenant’s receipt of a statement therefor, Tenant shall reimburse
Landlord for all reasonable legal fees and expenses incurred by Landlord in connection with each Transfer proposed
by Tenant. In no event shall the following be considered as suitable Transferees under this subsection: any
governmental body, agency or bureau (of the United States, any state, county, municipality or any subdivision
thercoD; any foreign government or subdivision thercof; any health carc professional or health care service
organization: schools or similar organizations; employment agencies; radio, television or other communication
stations; courier services; banks; loan offices and other financial institutions; travel agencics and other
transportation ticket offices; persons whose proposed use would be in violation of the Project Documents; persons
that constitute Prohibited Transferees (hereinafter defined).
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Gii) Any Traunsfer shall be subject and subordinate to all the terms, covenants and conditions of
this Lease, including the Permitted Use required by this Lease, and any assignee must assume in writing all of the
obligations of Tenant under this Lease. Landlord shall be permitted to ¢ the provisions of this Lease directly
against Tenant and/or against any assignee or subl without f ] in any way against any other person.

() In the event that Tenant defaults hereunder, Tenant hercby assigns to Landlord the Rent due from any
subtenam and hereby authorizes each such subtenant to pay said Rent directly to Landlord. Nothing in this Section
11, however, shall result in any obligation of Landlord to any subtenant of Tenant. Collection or acceptance of
Rent from any such assignee, subtenant or occupant shall not constitute a waiver or release of Tenant from the terms
of any covenant or obligation contained in this Lease, nor shall such collection or acceptance in any way be
construed to relieve Tenant from obtaining the prior written consent of Landlord to such assignment or subletting
or any subsequent assignment or subletting.

() If the aggregate rental, bonus or other consideration paid by the Transferee (other than a Qualified ‘Tenant
Affiliate) exceeds the sum of (A) Tenant’s rent to be paid to Landlord for the Premises (or portion subleased) during
such period and (B) the out-of-pocket costs and expenses actually incurred by Tenant under or in connection with
such Transfer (including costs and expenses of finishing out or renovation of the space involved, cash u.mal
coneessions and rental commissions actually paid), then fifty percent (50%) of such excess shall be paid to Landlord
within fifteen (15) days after receipt by Tenant.

[G) A transfor of a direct or indirect interest in Tenant that results in a change of control of Tenant shall
constitute a Transfer for purposes of this Lease. As used in this subsection, “control”” means the ownership of; or
power to direct, fifty percent (50%4) or more of the ownership interests in the controlled entity. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary contained herein, Tenant may upon at least thirty (30) days prior written notice to Landlord
(the “Affilinte Notice™). but without Landlord’s prior written consent, assign this Lease, or s sos to
a Qualified Tenant Affiliate (hereinafter defined), provided, that the business operations of the proposed assignee
or subtenant (which shall be disclosed in the Affiliate Notice) do not conflict with any exclusivity or other limitation
that may be imposed upon Landlord, no Event of Default by Tenant exists hereunder and such Qualified Tenant
Affiliate uses the Premises solely for the Permitted Use. A “Qualified Tenant Affilinte” shall mean a corporation
or other entity which (A) shall control, be controlled by or be under common control with Tenant or which results
from a merger with Tenant or which acquires all or substantially all of the business and asscts (or stock) of Tenant,
(B) is of a type and quality consistent with the first-class nature of the Building, (C) has the financial capacity and
ereditworthiness to undertake and perform the obligations of this Lease or the sublease, (D) is not a party by whom
any suit or action could be defended on the ground of sovereign immunity, and (B) in the case of a merger or
acquisition, has a net worth and general rthiness i Iy after the transfer at least equal to the net
worth and general ereditworthiness of Tenant immediately prior to thé transfer. In the event of any Transfer to a

ied Tenant Affiliate, Tenant shall remain fully liable to perform the obligations of Tenant under this Lease,
such obligations to be joint and several with the obligations of the Qualified Tenant Affiliate as tenant under this
Lease, and Tenant shall execute such guaranty or other agreement as Landlord shall request to confirm such liability.

(S Any Transfer by Tenant shall not relieve Tenant of any obligation under this Lease; the granting of any
such release shall be at Landlord’s sole d i i t the sole discretion of
Landlord, any Transfer by Tenant of this Lease or Premises for which Landlord’s approval is required under this
Section 11 and for which such approval has not been granted in violation of the terins of this Section 11 shall be
void and shall constitute a default hereunder

(h) Any sublease document shall contain substantially the following provision: “This sublease may not be
assigned or the premises demised hereunder further sublet, in whole or in part, without the prior vwritten consent of
the underlying Landlord.”

W ny consent by Landlord to a particular Transfer shall not constitute Landlord’s consent to any other or
subsequent Transfer and any proposed further Transfer by Tenant or a sublessee of Tenant shall be subject (o the
provisions of this Secti against Transfer described in this Section 11 shall be deemed to

n 11. The restrictior
include a restriction against Tenant’s mortgaging its leaschold estate as well as against an assignment or sublease
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which may occur by operation of law (but shall not apply to any financing of equipment or other per
the time an Event of Default occurs under this Lease and while the same is continuing. the Premises or any pairt
thereof have been sublet, Landlord, in addition to any other remedies herein provided or available at law or in
equity, may, at its option, collect directly from such subtenant all rents due and becoming due to Tenant under such
sublease and apply such rent against the Rent due to Landlord from Tenant hes nder, and no such collection shall
be construed to constitute a novation or a release of Tenant from the further performance of its obligations
hereunder. No portion of the Premises shall be subject to more than one subletting at any given time during the
Term.

onalty). If, at

With respect to any of the consents requested by Tenant, regardless of whether Landlord has consented
thereto, Tenant shall pay to Landlord all reasonable counsel fees and disbursements and all other expenses incurred
by Landlord in connection therewith.

(k) In no event, and notwithstanding anything set forth in this Lease to the contrary, shail Tenant be permitted
to undertake any Transfer (and Landlord’s consent to any such Transfer shall be deemed to be automatically denied)
to any of the following Transferees (each, a “Prohibited Transferee™): (a) any Restricted Party (hereinafter
defined); and (b) any person or entity which is an affiliate of a Restricted Party with the ownership of, or power to

cet, twenty percent (20%%6) or more of the ownership interests in the controlled entity or with the power to control
the day-to-day management or operations of such controlled entity. The term “Restricted Party” shall mean each
of the following entities, or any person or entity which is an Affiliate (as hercinafter defined) of the Restricted
Parties listed in (1) through (10): (1) Amazon, (2) Apple, (3) Facebook. (4) Linkedin, (5) Microsoft, (6) Yahoo, (7)
IBM, (8) Mapbox, (9) Oracle, (10) Salesforce, (11) General Electric, (12) Pratt & Whitney, (13) United
Technologies Corp., (14) Bom hm(her (15) Embraer, (16) General Dynamies, (17) Boeing, and/or (18)
Airbus/EADS. As used in this sub: 1 (k). an “Affiliate” means, as to any designated person or entity, any other
person or entity which controls, is cmmonad by, or is under common control with, such de: gnated person or entity;
and “control” (and with correlative meaning, “controlled by” and “under common contro! ) 15 (x) the
ownership or voting control of (directly or indirectly) fifty percent (50%) or more of the voting stock, partnership
interests or other beneficial ownership interests of the enfity in question, or (¥) the ability to manage or direct the
day-to-day operations of the entity in question (notwithstanding that one or more other persons or entities may have

the right to approve, reject or direct specified “major’ decisions).
12. ALTERATIONS, IMPROVEMENTS AND TENANT’S PERSONAL PROPERTY.
(a) Tenant shall not make or allow to be made any Alteration (hereinafter defined) in or to the Premises, without

first obtaining the written consent of Landlord, not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, in
accordance with the provisions of Section 12(h) below, except Landlord’s consent shall not be required for any
Permitted Alteration (hereinafter defined). If Tenant fails to obtain Landlord’s consent prior to making any
Alteration or Improvement for which Landlords” consent is required, then Landlord may correct or remove the same
and Tenant shall be liable for any and all loss, damage. cost or expense (including attorneys’ fees and court costs)
incurred by Landlord in the performance of this work as well as Landlord”s Out-of-Pocket Costs and Landlord’s
Fee. As used in this Lease, the term “Alteration” means the construction, installation, relocation or removal of any
Improvement other than Tenant's Work (which shall be governed by the terms of the Work Agreement. As used
in this Lease, the term “Improvemen €’ means any addition, improvement or equipment installed in or attached to,
or serving, the Prem ises, rogardioss of by whom, axcluding  Personal Property.

(b) “Permitted Alteration” shall mean any non-Material Aleration, including any Decorative Work
(hereinafter defined). “Mnaterial Alteration” shall mcan an Alteration that (i) materially and adversely affects the
structure of the Building; (ii) affects the proper functioning of any Building systems; (i) is not limited 1o the interior
of the Premises or affects the exterior of the Building (including the exterior appearance to the extent readily visible
from ground leveD; (iv) requires the issuance of a building permit to undertake, (v) materially and adversely impacts
the use or operation of any other tenant or occupant of the Building or (vi) costs in excess of Fifty Thousand and
No/100 Dollars ($50,000.00) in the aggregate. Tenant shall not be required to obtain the prior written St of
Landlord for any Permitted A lteration; however, Landlord must receive no less than five (5) Business Days® written
notice prior to the commencement of any Permitted Alteration (including any decorative work (e.g., ,m..m.,g,
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carpeting, hanging pictures) (“Decorative Worlk™)) and Tenant must otherwise comply with the terms of this
Seection 12. and nothing herein shall be deemed to be an agreement or consent by Landiord to subject Landlord’s
interest in the Premises, Building or Land to any mechanic’s or materialinan’s liens which may be filed i
to such Alterations made by or on behalf of Tenant. Tenant shall provide Landlord with its plans and spe
and any proposed contractors for a Material Alteration within five (5) Business Days after Tenant notifies Landlord
of such Material Alterations. Landlord shall have ten (10) business days after Landlord’s receipt of the plans and
specifications and proposed contractors for Material Alterations to provide approval. Landlord shall have five (5)
Business Days after receipt to review any resubmissions. If Landlord disapproves any part of Tenant’s submission,
such disapproval shall set forth in reasonable detail the reasons for such disapproval and detail any portions of the
plans so disapproved. Landlord’s consent to or approval of any Alterations (or the plans therefor) shall not
constitute a representation or warranty by Landiord, nor Landlord’s acceptance, that the same comply with sound
architectural and/or engineering practices or with Legal Requirements, and Tenant shall be solely responsible for
ensuring all such compliance. Tenant shall comply with (and shall cause all of its contractors and subcontractors.
to comply with) the rules and regulations attached hereto as Exhibit M (the “Alterations Rules and Regulations™),
including, without limitation, all insurance requirements contained therein. Landlord reserves the right from time
to time to make modifications to the Alterations Rules and Regulations (including the insurance requirements
contained therein).

(e In connection with Tenant’s performance of Tenant’s Work and Alterations in the Premises, Landlord shall
have the right to post notices of non-responsibility and similar notices, as appropriate in and about the Premis
Tenant shall not allow any liens or notices of liens to be filed against the Premises or the Project in connection with
any Tenant’s Work and/or Alterations performed in the Premises. If any such liens or notices of liens shall be filed,
‘Ténant shall cause the same to be discharged of record, released and/or bonded over within ten (10) days after
Tenant’s receipt of notice thereof. If Tenant does not so discharge, release, remove or bond over any such lien
within such ten (10) day period, Landlord shall have the right to pay the amounts claimed to remove the same or
otherwise bond over such lien, and Tenant shall repay Landlord’s Out-of-Pocket Costs therefor, together with
Landlord®s Fee (measured against Landlord’s Out-of-Pocket Costs to cure) within thirty (30) days after delivery of
a reasonably detailed invoice therefor.

() At Landlord’s option, with respect to Material Alterations, Landlord may require Tenant to reimburse
Landlord for Landlord’s Out-of-Pocket Costs in reviewing any plans with respect to any such Material Alterations.
All Alterations shall be performed in compliance with applicable Legal Requirements (including the Americans
With Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended and the regulations promulgated thereunder (the “ADA™) and in a good
and workmanlike manner.

S} Tenant shall indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from all Out-of-Pocket Costs, damages, claims and
expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) arising out of or relating to the performance of any Alterations
performed in the Premises, including any occasioned by the filing of any lien.

() Within thirty (30) days after the completion of any Material Alterations performed in the Premises, Tenant
shall furnish Landlord with a statement of costs thercof, “as built” architectural and engincering working drawings
therefor and final unconditional waivers of lien from all contractors, suppliers and matorialmen furnishing labor or
materials for such Alterations.

(&) Upon termination of this Lease by lapse of time or otherwise, Tenant shall, at Tenant’s sole cost remove all
of Tenant’s Personal Property from the Premises and repair any damage caused by the installation and/or removal
of same. If Tenant fails fo remove any such Personal Property on or before the Expiration Date, the same shall be
deemed abandoned and Landlord may have the same removed and any resulting damage repaired at Tenant’s
expense, and Tenant shall repay Landlord’s Out-of-Pocket Costs for such removal, together with an additional
charge to cover overhead in an amount equal to twenty percent (20%) of such cost as Additional Rent hereunder
within thirty (30) days after delivery of a reasonably detailed invoice therefor. In such event, such Personal Property
will automatically become the property of Landlord and may be retained by Landlord or disposed of by Landlord
in its sole discretion, without any right of reimbursement therefor to Tenant o any claim of conversion. Any
Improvements shall be the property of Tenant during the Term and, upon the expiration or earlier termination of

7-




this Lease, shall become the property of Landlord and, except as otherwise set forth in this Lease, shall be
swrendered to Landlord at the end of the Term unless Landlord notifies Tenant in writing at the time of plan
approval of Landlord’s election to require Tenant to remove any or all of any Specialty Alterations (hereinafier
defend) set forth in the applicable plan (each, a “Designated Specialty Alteration™), n which event, such
Designated Specialty Alterations shall be removed by Tenant on or prior to the Expiration Date or carlier
termination of this Lease at Tenant’s sole cost and expense. “Specialty Alterations™ means any and all of (i) any
cooking kitchens (but not any pantries, cafoterias or seating areas), (ii) vaults, (iii) structural reinforcements
(provided that structural reinforcements below the slab shall not be deemed Specialty Alterations if same shall not
impact future tenant installations or reduce the useable area of the leasable space below such reinforcements, in
each case, except (o a de mininis extent), (iv) dumbwaiters; (v) conveyors; (vi) supplemental HVAC units; and (vii)
internal stairwells. If Tenant does not remove any such Designated Specialty Alterations at the end of the Term
following written demand therefor by Landlord to Tenant, in addition to its other remedies provided for in this
Lease or otherwise under law, Landlord shall have the right to remove the same, and Tenant shall repay Landiord’s
actual cost for such removal and for repa any damage caused by such remaoval plus Landlord’s Fee within thirty
(30) days after delivery of a reasonably detailed invoice therefor. The provisions of this Section 12(g) shall survive
termination of this Lease.

(h) Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate with Tenant (i) to obtain all permits and
approvals for Alterations, at no cost to Landlord; (ii) to sign all applicable governmental applications as may be
required to obtain such permits and approvals, at no cost to Landlord, and (iii) to obtain any third party consents
and approvals, at no cost to Landlord, provided, that Landlord shall have no liability for any failure to secure the
same.

13. SIGNS/ BUILDING DIRECTORY; BUILDING STANDARD SIGNAGE; ADVERTISING. Subject
to the terms of 17 hercof, no sign, advertisement or notice shall be inscribed, painted, affixed or displayed
by Tenant on any part of the outside or the inside of the Building or within the Premises if the same ble from
outside of the Premises, and if any such sign, advertisement or notice is nevertheless exhibited by Tenant, Landlord
may remove the same and Tenant shall be liable for Landlord’s Out-of-Pocket Costs incurred in connection
therewith. Landlord shall provide, at Landlord’s expense, as part of Tenant’s initial occupancy, a listing on the
Building directory for Tenant (which may be electronic) and on the suite entry door(s) of the Premises, in such
places, number, size, color and style as are reasonably determined by Landlord. Any additions or changes after the
Commencement Date to either the Building directory listing or the suite entry signage for Tenant shall be made by
Landlord at Landlord’s reasonable discretion and at Tenant’s sole cost. Landlord shall have the right to prohibit
any advertisement of Tenant in, on or about the Building or naming the Building or its address which in Landlord’s
opinion tends to impair the reputation of the Building or its d bility as a high-quality office building, and, upon
written notice from Landlord, Tenant shall immediately refrain from and discontinue any such advertisement.
Directory listing and/or signs for approved assignees or approved subtenants shall be at Landlord’s sole discretion
based on the availability of space. Tenant agrees that any reference to the Project in any Tenant advertising
(electronic or on site signage) shall refer to the Project as “Reston Station™. Subject to all applicable Legal
Requirements, the comprehensive sign plan for the Project, the ng tenants as of the Effective Date of
this Lease, and Landlord’s ability to offer exterior Building s monument signage to a future tenant
leasing at least one (1) full floor of the Building, Landlord reserves the r Building
signage opportunity either on the fagade of the Building or the monument sign. In the event Lan(llmd offers Tenant
such signage opportunity, the parties will ncgotlate and execute, in good fa h mutually
acceptable terms governing such exterior signage opportur

14. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS; ADA.
1) Tenant shall, and shall cause its contractors, subcontractors, agents and suppliers to, comply with all present
and future laws, ordinances, orders, rules and regulations (federal, 1 or pron by other or

bodies having any jurisdiction thereof) and with the Project Documents and all documents of record relating to the
use, condition or occupancy of the Premises (“Legnl Requirements™). Tenant shall indemnify Landlord from.,
apgainst and with respect to all expense or liability that may be claimed against Landlord as a result of a violation of
any of the covenants in this Section 14(a) by Tenant, or Tenant’s contractors, subcontractors, agents and suppliers.

-18-




Tenant’s obligations to indemnify Landlord as aforesaid shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this
Lease.

wy Without limiting the generality of Section 14(a). Tenant shall comply with the applicable provisions of the
ADA as amended from time to time and all regulations premulgated thereunder with respect to all portions of the

ses, access (hereto (path of travel), and the operation of Tenant’s business therein; provided. however,
notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Lease, Tenant shall not be obligated to construct, install and make
any improvements which may be required from time to time by the ADA to any areas outside of the Premises or to
any facilities or systems (or the portions thercof) that do not exclusively serve the Premises, unless such
improvements are required due to Tenant’s (as opposed to other tenants in general) specific use of the Premises or
due te Tenant®s Work or Alterations made by Tenant.

1s. LANDLORD’S ENTRY; LANDLORD’S RESERVATION. Tenant shall permit Landlord or its agents
or representatives to enter into and upon any part of the Premises at all reasonable hours to inspect same, clean or
make repairs, alterations or additions thereto, as Landlord may be required or permitted to make pursuant to the
terms of this Lease, to exhibit the Premises to prospective tenants (within the final twelve (12) months of this Lease
Term), lenders, or purchasers or to any mortgagee, to post notices of non-respons ity, and to affix and display
“For Rent” signs, and Tenant shall not be entitled to any abatement or reduction of any sums due under this Lease
by reason thereof. Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to minimize any interference to Tenant’s
ongoing business in connection with any entry by Landlord into the Premises pursuant to this tion 15 and, except
in the case of emergencies (or resolving any safety issue or hazardous situation) or Landlord’s maintenance
operations provided pursuant to Sections 9(a) and 10(c) hereof (in which cases no notice shall be nccessary),
Landlord shall provide Tenant with reasonable prior notice of such entry. Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant for
damages by reason of interference with the business of Tenant or inconvenience or annoyance to Tenant or the
customers of Tenant. The Rent reserved herein shall not abate while the Landlord’s rights under this Section 15 are
sed, and Tenant shall not be entitled to any set-off or counterclaims for damages of any kind against Landlord
by reason thereof, all such claims being hereby expressly released by Tenant. In addition, Landlord reserves the
right to install wiring, plumbing, ductwork and other materials in the space measured downward two feet (2°) from
the slab above the Premises to provide services to the Premises or other portions of the Building. Tenant will not
interfere with Landlord’s access to or use of this reserved area.

16. MORTGAGE; SUBORDINATION.

(a) Subordination, General. This Lease is subject and subordinate to any mortgage, ground lease, or deed of
may now or hereafter encumber the Land and Building and to all renewals, modifications,
consolidations, replacements and extensions thercof (any of the foregoing, a “mortgage” and the holder of such
mortgage, a “mortgagee™). In the event of the enforcement by the trustee or the beneficiary or ground lessor under
any such mortgage of the remedics provided for by law or by such mortgage. Tenant will, upon request of any
person or party succeeding to the interest of Landlord as a result of such enforcement (“Sueccessor™) (at the sole
clection of such Successor), automatically attorn to and become the Tenant of the Successor without change in the
terms or other provisions of this Lease; provided, however, that such Successor shall not be (i) subject to any offsets
or defenses which Tenant may have against any prior landlord, (ii) bound by any payment of Rent for more than
one month in advance, (iii) bound by any amendment or modification of _ease made after such lien is placed
against the Building or Land (provided Tenant has been given notice thereof) without the written consent of such
trustee or such beneficiary. or (iv) liable for any act or omission of any prior landlord (including Landlord) under
this Lease, 1i such svent, the Suesessor shall have all the rights of Landlord under this Lisase, including the right
to collect any rent or other sums due o) ng to Landlord and to enforee those rights by court proceeding or
otherwise. Tenant waives the provision of any statute or rule of law. now or hereafter in effect, which may give or
purport o zive Tenant any right (o terminate or otherwise adversely affect this Lease and the obligations of Tenant
hereunder in the event that any such foreclosure proceeding is prosecuted or completed or in the event any ground
lonse is terminatod. Notwithstanding the forogoing, Tenant agrecs that at any time, the holdor of a mortgage on the
Building or Land may unilaterally subordinate its lien, in whole or in part, to this Lease, effective upon notice from
Landlord or such mortgagee. The provisions of this Section shall be self-operati

tive and no further instrument of
subordination need be required by any mortgagee. Tenant shall, however, within ten (10) days after Landlord’s
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request, exccute and deliver any appropriate certificate or instrument in confirmation of such subordination and
attornment in form acceptable to Landlord’s lender. Within fifteen (15) days after the Effective Date, Landlord shall
use commercially reasonable efforts to cause its current lender to deliver to Tenant, at no cost to Tenant, a subordination,
non-disturbance and attornment agreement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit H (“SNDA’). Landlord represents and
warrants that as of the date hercof, no mortgages or ground lease affects the Building and/or the Land. except for the
mortgage identified in the SNIDA and the Ground Lease. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this
Section_16(a). with respect to any mortgage hereafter encumbering the Building, it shall be a condition precedent to
Tenant™s subordination hereunder that Landlord obtains from the mortgagee in question a colnl‘nar(_lnlly Iﬁdaunablf_ non-
disturbance agreement in favor of Tenant on such mortgagee's standard form.

(O] Ground Lease Requirements. Without modifying or mitigating the provisions set forth in this Lease,
including those set forth in Section 16(a) above, the following shall apply for all purposes under this Lease:

[©) Tenant hereby represents and warrants that no person or entity having an interest (directly or
indirectly) in Tenant constituting or exceeding five percent (5%) or greater in the aggregate (x) has cver been
convicted of a felony, (v) is a person or entity against whom a legal action or administrative proceeding is then-
pending to enforce the rights of the County of Fairfax, Virginia (or any agency, department, public authority or any
public benefit corporation thereof) arising out of a real property dispute or a property management dispute, or (z) is
a person or entity with respect to whom any notice of substantial monetary default which remains uncured has been
given by the County of Fairfax, Virginia (or any agency, departiment, public authority or any public benefit
corporation thercof) in respect of real property or a property management agreement

(iiy Tenant shall use and occupy the Premises consistent with Legal Requirements.

Ciii) This Lease is subject and subordinate to all of the te
ions of the Ground Lease.

ms, covenants, agreements, provisions and

iv Tenant shall not pay Base Rent under thi
hercunder (excluding any security and other deposits requ

Lease more than one (1) month in advance of'its due date
od under this Lease).

) If there is a termination of the Ground lLease, or Ground lLessor shall exercise its rights to
dispossess Landlord or to re-enter the Project or Premises, Tenant shall, at Ground Lessor’s election, attorn to
Ground Lessor and Ground L.essor shall have all rights of Landlord under this Lease, including the right to collect
any rent or other sums due or aceruing to Landlord under this Lease, and to enforce those rights by court proceeding
or otherwise.

(vi) I'enant shall not mortgage or pledge its interest in this Lease.
i) All indemnities and waivers of Tenant sct forth in th

v Lease shall benefit Ground Lessor in addition
to the listed beneficiaries set forth therein.

(6% All policies of insurance for which Tenant is required to list Landlord as an additional insured or
loss payee SRRIL alac it the Gronnd T essor as adaitional insurod therounter,

Cix) The following uses are Prohibited Uses: (A) parlor Iuding m services provided
at day spas, salons or other similar reputable businesses), (B) a store for providing off-track betting or gambling
(excluding lottery, lotto, Keno or similar type of gaming), (C) a store whose primary purpose is the sale of drug
paraphernalia (e.g., a “*head shop™), (D) a store whose primary purpose is the sale, rental or display of pornographic
materials, () a store whose primary purpose is for the sale or display of firearms or other weapons, (F) a strip club,
or (G) any illegal purpose or for any other use prohibited by the Project Documents.

«) If the holder of any mortgage of which the Premises are a part shall reasonably require a modification of
the terms and provisions of this Lease as a condition to continuing its financing for the Building or any lender shall
reasonably require such modification as a condition to granting a new mortgage loan for the Building, Tenant shall
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execute and deliver within thirty (30) days after Landlord’s request therefor, a written agreement incorporating such
modifications into this Lease; provided. however, that the modifications required do not decrease, exceopt to a de
mininis, extent, Tenant’s rights or increase, excepl (o a de minimis extent, Tenant’s obligations hereunder. If Tenant
fails or refuses to execute the requested modification, within such thirty (30) day period, then such failure shall
constitute an Event of Default hereunder entitling Landlord to exercise its remedics for such default as provided in
Section 26 below.

17. ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE. At Landlord’s written request, within ten (10) Business Days afier receipt
(but in no event more than three (3) times in any twelve (12) month period), Tenant will execute and deliver to

Landlord an estoppel certificate, which cer uﬁcate may be relied upon by Landlord, mortgagee or any prospective

purchaser or mortgagee of the Building or Land, g as to such facts (if true; and to Tenant’s knowledge, if
applicable) as Landlord (or such other  Fremaritionest party) may reasonably request (including reasonable notice
provisions, term commencement, Tenant’s acceptance of the Premises, the absence of defaults and other factual
matters concerning this Lease). If any requested statements are untrue, Tenant shall specify the reasons therefor in
such certificate.

18. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY. Except for injury to person or property damage directly caused by the
gross negligence or intentionally wrongful acts or omissions of Landlord or any Landlord Party, neither Landtord
nor any Landlord Party shall be liable to Tenant, its employees, agents, business sees, customers,
clients, family members, guests or trespassers for loss or damage 1o any property or injury to or death of persons
for any reason, including those arising from (i) the repairing or construction of any portion of the Building or Project,
(ii) any interruption in the use of the Premises, (iii) accident or damage resulting, from the use or operation (by
Landlord, Tenant, or any other person or persons whatsoever) of clevators, escalators, or heating, cooling, clectrical
or plumbing equipment or apparatus, (iv) the termination of this Lease by reason of the destruction of the Premises
or a taking or sale in licu thereof by eminent domain, (v) any fire, robbery, theft, criminal act and/or any other
casualty, (vi) any leakage in any part of the Premises or the rest of the Building or Project, or from water, or
snow that may leak into, or flow from, any part of the Premises or the rest of the Building or Project, or from drains,
pipes or plumbing work in or about the Building, or (vii) any other cause whatsocver. Notwithstanding anything
contained in this Lease to the contrary, in no event shall Landlord have any liability to Tenant on account of any
claims for the interruption of or loss to Tenant’s business or for any indirect damages or consequential losses. All
goods, property or personal effects stored or placed by Tenant in or about the Premises or Project shall be at the
sole risk of Tenant. The agents and employees of Landlord are prohibited from receiving any packages or othe
articles delivored to the Build hg for Tenant, and if any such agent or employee receives any such package o
articles, such agent or employee shall be the agent of Tenant for such purposes and not of Landlord. No shareholder,
member, manager, principal, trustee, partner, director, officer, employee, representative or agent of Landlord (a
“Landlord Party”) shall be personally liable in respect of any covenant, condition or provision of this Lease.
Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary herein, Tenant shall look solely 1o the estate and property of the then-
existing Landlord in and to the Building and the Land in the event of any claim against Landlord arising out of or
in connection with this Lease, the relationship of Landlord and Tenant, or Tenant’s use of the Premises, and Tenant
agrees that the bility of Landlord arising out of or in connection with this L.ease, the relationship of Landlord and
Tenant, or Tenant’s use of the Premises, shall be limited to such estate and property of Landlord in and to the
Building. No other properties or assets of Landlord or any Landlord Party or any other person or entity other than

interest and property of Landlord in and to the Building and the Land shall be subject to levy, execution
or other enforcement procedures for the satisfaction of any judgment (or other judicial process) or for the satisfaction
of any other remedy of Tenant arising out of or in connection w
Tenant or Tenant’s use of the Pramises. Landlord’s estate or interest in the Building shall include (i) all rent or
other consideration received by Landlord by reason of any lease, license, or other a including,
without limitation, any lease or operating agreement with respect to the Office Parking Facilities; (ii) the net
proceeds of a sale, financing or refinancing of the Building or the Land (or any portion thereof), or of Landlord’s
estate or interest therein, n any property, equipment or improvements in or about the Building or the Land (or
any portion thereo); and (iii) any insurance proceeds or condemnation awards relating to any portion of the Building
orthe Land (1o the extent in excess of any restoration costs and net of all costs of obtaining such proceeds or awards).

this Lease, the relationship of Landlord and

19. INTENTIONALLY OMITTED.
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20. SURRENDER; HOLDING OVER.

Ca)y Upon the expiration or carlier termination of this Lease, Tenant shall (i) surrender possession of the
Premises to Landlord broom clean and in the same condition as on the Commencement Date (subject to Tenant’s
removal obligations set forth in this Lease), reasonable wear and tear, casualty, condemnation and the obligations
of Landlord under this Lease, excepted and (ii) comply with all of Tenant’s covenants under this Lease respecting
turnover of the Pr ses to Landlord.

m

(b) In the event of holding over by Tenant after expiration or termination of this Lease, Tenant shall pay, as
Base Rent, the greater of (i) one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the monthly amount of Base Rent which Tenant
was obligated to pay for the month immediately preceding the end of the Term for each month or any part thereof
of any such holdover period (plus any Additional Rent) or (i) one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the fair market
rental value for the Premises a termined by Landlord (plus any Additional Rent): such amount shall be deemed
earned by Landlord for the entire month and shall not be prorated for partial months. No holding over by
after the Term shall operate 16 extend the Term. In the event of any unauthorized holding over, (A) Landlord shall
have the right to regain possession of the Premises by any legal process in force at such . (B) the Sccourity
Deposit provided 1o Landlord pursuant to the terms of this Lease shall be forfeited, and (C) Tenant shall indemnify
and hold Landlord harmless from all claims for damages arising from such holding over, including all legal costs
and fees and all claims by any other lessee to whom Landlord may have leased all or any part of the Premises
covered hereby. Any holding over with the consent of Landlord in writing shall thereafter constitute this Lease a
lease from month to month on the terms agreed upon by Landlord and Tenant.

21. CASUALTY.

1) In the event of a fire or other casualty in the Premises, Tenant shall immediately give notice thereof to
Landlord.

(b) Ifthe Premises shall be partially destroyed by fire or other casualty so as to render the Premises untenantable

in whole or in part for a period in excess of ten (10) days, the Base Rent provided for herein shall abate thereafter
as to the portion of the Premises rendered ur ls.nanmblc from the first day of such damage until the carlier of (i) the
date that the Premises is made tenantable or (ii) sixty (60) days after Landlord has completed Landiord’s Restoration
Work (as set forth in Section 21(d) below). Each Df Landlord and Tenant agrees to commence and prosecute its
respective repair work promptly and with all due diligence or, if required by the Project Documents, Landlord agrees
to take whatever action is necessary to cause the Association to undertake such repairs. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, in the event (A) such destruction results in the Premises being untenantable in whole or in substantial
part for a period reasonably estimated by Landlord to be one hundred eighty (180) days or longer after
commencement of construction of the Landlord’s Restoration Work set forth in subsection (d) below (due allowance
being given for the time required for adjustment and settlement of insurance claims and for such other delays as
may result from government restrictions or permitting), or compliance with the requirements under the Ground
Lease, (B) of damage or destruction of the Building ot Project from any cause for which the period to restore is
reasonably estimated by Landlord to be one (1) year or longer after the casualty, or of damage or destruction that
affects fifty percent (50%) or more of the Building, (C) Landlord does not receive sufficient insurance proceeds to
perform Landlord’s Restoration Work (whether due to disbursement of such proceeds to any mortgagee or
otherwise), or (D) the Premises is substantially damaged by casualty during the last year of the Term, then, in a

of the foregoing instances, Landiord shall have the i
such destruction or termination shall be pal Y
tenantable space until termination of this Lease; provided that such tenantable space is of such size and configuration
as to allow Tenant to con s business therefrom). Landlord shall give Tenant written notice of its de
estimates or elections under this Section 21¢b) within sixty (60) days after any such damage or destruction.

) In the event of destruction to the Premises resulting in the Premises being untenantable in whole or in
substantial part for a period reasonably estimated by Lzlndlord to be one hundred cighty (180) days or longer after
commencement of construction of Landlord’s Restoral n Work set forth in subscction (d) below (due allowance
being given for the time required for adjustment and e ont CE D Ui Es STaia® Ard for ek GHicy Habis a8
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may result from government restrictions, permitting or compliance with the requirements of the Ground Lease)
Landlord has not then terminated this Lease as provided in Section 21(b), then Tenant shall have the right, within
thirty (30) days after Landlord delivers the written estimate to Tenant of time to restore, to terminate this 1 e by
written notice to Landlord and all Rent owed up to the time of such termination shall be paid by Tenant (it being
understood that Tenant shall pay Rent on all tenantable space until termination of this Lease; provided that such
tenantable space is of such size and configuration as to allow Tenant to continue its business therefrom).

(dy Landlord shall be obligated to restore or rebuild the Building only to the condition existing as of the
Effective Date, prior to installation of the Tenant's Work (““Landlord®s Restoration Work”), and nothing herein
shall be construed to obligate Landlord under any cireumstances (o repair or restore any other tenant finish work.
Tenant shall be obligated to diligently proceed to perform the work necessary to restore and replace Tenant’s Work,
s Alterations and its Personal Property therein. At Landlord’s sole option, Landlord may repair and
*s behalf, all (or any portion) of the Tenant's Work or Alterations in the Premises that Tenant is
required to repair and restore pursuant to this Scction, in which case, Tenant shall make all of its insurance proceeds
available to Landlord for such use; provided, however, that in no event shall Landlord be required to spend more
on any such repair or restoration than the amount of insurance proceeds Landlord actually receives from Tenant.
Landlord may require Tenant to pay Landlord a reasonable fee to reimburse Landlord for overhead and
administrative costs and expenses incurred in connection with any such repair or restoration undertaken or
supervised by Landlord.

() Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 21, to the extent not contrary to the provisions of
Section 29 of this Lease, in the event of any casualty arising from the negligence or willful misconduct of Tenant
or any of Tenant’s owners, officers, employees, agents, contmctom, invitees or cus(omcrs, Tenant shall indemnify
and hold Landlord harmless from any and all costs, nd of any kind arising therefrom,
and Rent shall not be abated.

All goods, property or personal cffects stored or placed by Ten

3] t in or about the Premises or
Project shall be at the sole risk of Tenant.

22. CONDEMNATION.
(> Except in connection with a temporary taking, if all or substantially all of the Premises shall be

taien or condemned by any governmental, quasi-governmental, public or other authority for any public or qua:
public use or purpose (including sale under threat of such a taking), herein referred 1o as a “Taking,” then the Term
shall cease and terminate as of the date of the Taking, and all Rent shall be abated as of such date. If less than
substantially all of the Premiscs is the subject of a Taking, the Rent shall be equitably adjusted as of the date of the
Taking and this Lease shall otherwise continue in full foree and effect, and Landlord shall restore the Premises to a
complete architectural unit, as necessary. If the Taking is temporary, all Rent shall abate for the period of the Taking
only, after which, this Lease shall continue in full force and effect, unmodified. Notwithstanding tl
in the event of a Taking of so substantial a part of the Building that Landlord concludes, in its reasonable discretion,
that it is impracticable to continue to operate the Building, then Landlord, at its option, shall have the right to
terminate this Lease by giving Tenant termination notice specifying a date not earlier than thirty (30) days after the
date of such notice as of which this Lease will terminate.

All proceeds from any taking or condemnation of the Premises shall belong to and be paid to
Landlord; provided, however, that nothing hereunder I restrict the right of Tenant to claim separately for any
award or compensation in respect of Tenant’s Work and/or Tenant’s Alterations, Improvements and/or Personal
Property, and/or relocation expenses to which Tenant may otherwise be entitled to receive and as may be allowed
in the condemnation proceedings; provided that such award or compensation shall be made in addition to and not
in reduction of the amount of the award made for the Land and the Building or the part thereof so taken and only
so long as such a claim by Tenant does not result in the reduction of Landlord’s award.

23. ATTORNEYS® FEES. If, as a result of any breach or default in the performance of any of the provisions
of this Lease, litigation ensues, then the losing party in any such litigation shall reimburse the prevailing party (as
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specifically determined by the court presiding over such action) upon demand for any and all reasonable attorneys”
fees and expenses (excluding “in-house” legal fees) so incu by the prevailing party after rendering of a final.
non-appealable judgment, within thirty (30) days after delivery of a reasonably detailed invoice therefor. Tenant
will pay to Landiord within thirty (30) days after delivery to Tenant of a reasonably detailed invoice therefor and
as Additional Rent all reasonablé third-party legal fees Landlord actually incurs in enforcing this Lease, including
reasonable court costs arising from an Event of Default of Tenant hereunder.

24. ASSIGNMENTS BY LANDLORD. Landiord or any successor-in-interest to Landlord shall have the
right to transfor and assign, in whole or in part, all its rights and obligations hereunder and in the Building, Project
and property referred to herein, and in such event and upon the transferee Landlord’s assumption of transferor
Landlord’s obligations thereafter accruing hereunder (any such transferee to have the benefit of, and be subj
the provisions of Section 16), Landlord shall be released automatically from all liabilities and obligations thereafter
accruing against transferor Landlord hereunder from and after the date of such assumption of transferor Landlord’s
obligations. Upon request by transferor Landlord, Tenant agrees 1o execute a certificate certifying such covenant
and facts as wransforor Landlord may reasonably require in connection with any such assignment by transferor
Landlord.

25. DEFAULT BY TENANT. Landlord may treat the occurrence of any one or more of the following events
as a breach of this Lease (each, an “Event of Default™): (a) Tenant fails to pay Basc Rent, Tenant’s Share of
Operating Cost or Tenant™s Share of Taxes in full on the date such sums are due, although no legal or formal demand
has been made therefor; provided, however, that no Event of Default shall occur for the first occasion of lure to
pay Base Rent, Tenant’s Share of Operating Cost or Tenant’s Share of Taxes in any calendar year so long as Tenant
pays the sum in full within five (5) days after notice that the same is past due (however, Landlord shall not be
required to provide notice of failure to pay Base Rent, Tenant’s Share of Operating Cost or Tenant’s Share of Taxes
more than once per calendar year during the Term, and the second and each additional failure to pay Base Rent,
Tenant’s Share of Operating Cost or Tenant’s Share of Taxes as and when due during any calendar year will
constitute an Bvent of Default without the requirement of notice); (b) Tenant fails to pay any other Additional Rent
due under this lLease in full on the date such sum is due; provided, however, that no Event of Default shall occur
the first occasion of failure to pay Additional Rent (other than Tenant’s Share of Operating Cost or Tenant’s
n any calendar year so long as Tenant pays the sum in full within five (5) days after notice that the
same is past due (however, L.andlord shall not be required to provide notice of failure 1o pay Additional Rent more
than once per calendar year during the Term, and the second and ecach additional failure to pay Additional Rent as
and when due during any calendar year will constitute an BEvent of Default without the requirement of notice); (e)
Tenant fails to make the deliveries required pursuant to Sections 16 or 17 of this Lease within the ten (10) day
od required for such deliveries; (d) Tenant fails to maintain the in nee coverage required by Section 20
hereof: (¢) default shall be made in the performance of any of the other honetary covenants or conditions
which Tenant is required to observe and to perform, and such default shall continue for twenty (20) days after notice
thereof (or such additional time as is reasonably necessary, provided Tenant commenced to cure such default within
such twenty (20) day period and is diligently prosecuting such cure to completion, which additional time, however,
shall in no event exceed ninety (90) days after Landiord’s default not . Landlord shall not be required
to provide notice of default for non-monetary covenant or condition fa 2
the Term, the third and each additional failure to perform Tenant’s covenants or abide the conditiolls of this Lease

£
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filed by or against Tenant (the term “Tenant” shall include, for the purpose of this b agraph of Scction 25, any
guarantor of Tenant’s obligations hereunder): (i) in any bankruy or other insol (i) seeking any
relicf under any state or federal debtor relief law; (i) for the appointment of a hquldﬂtor or receiver for all or
substantially all of Tenant’s property or for nt’s interest in this Lease; or (iv) for the reorganization or
modification of Tenant’s capital structure: however, if such a petition is filed against Tenant, then such filing shall
not be a default unless Tenant fails to have the proceedings ted by such petition dismissed within thirty (30)
calendar days after the filing thereof, or if T'enant shall be liquidated or dissolved; (g) Tenant shall vacate the
Premises during the Term or any renewals or extensions thereof: or (h) at the option of Landlord, if Tenant shall
attempt to assign this Lease or sublet any portion of the Premises except as permitted herein, or if Tenant is a

or limited liability company, and Tenant shall cease to exist as a corporation or limited liability
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company, as applicable, in good standing in both the Commonwealth of Virginia and the state of its formation or if
Tenant is a partnership or other entity, and Tenant shall be dissolved or otherwise liquidated.

26. REMEDIES. If an Event of Default has oceurred, Landlord shall have any one or more of the following
rights and remedies, in addition to any other rights and remedies provided in this Lease or allowed at law or in
equity, without further notice or demand of any kind:

(a) Landlord may make any payment or perform any act required of Tenant but the making of such payment
or the deoing of such act by Landlord shall not operate to cure such Event of Default or to estop Landlord from the
pursuit of any remedy to which Landlord would otherwise be entitled. Tenant shall repay Landlord’s actual cost
for such payment or act, plus Landlord’s Fee Gneasured against the cost to cure) within ten (10) days of receipt of
a bill therefor,

(b) Landlord, with or without terminating this Lease or Tenant’s right of possession hereunder, may recover
any damages including those contemplated under subseetions (d)(i). (i) and (iv) below which are capablé of being
calculated at that time or delinquent payments due hereunder, in separate actions, from time to time or in a single
proceeding deferred until the expiration of the Term (in which event Tenant hereby agrees that no cause of action
shall be deemed to have accrued until the expiration of the Term). Tenant hereby waives all notices and rights of
recovery in connection with Landlord’s recovery or retaking possession of thé Premises and contents thereof,
including any statutory right to a notice to quit or right of redemption.

) Landlord, immediately or at any time after an Event of Default, may terminate this Lease and forthwith
ref the P. without d < or notice of any kind to Tenant (including any notice to quit, which right to
receive is hereby waived by Tenant), whereupon this Lease shall end and all rights of Tenant hereunder shall expire
and terminate, but Tenant shall remain liable as hereinafter provided. Upon such termination by Landlord, Tenant
shall immediately surrender possession of the Premises to Landlord and remove all of Tenant’s effects therefrom,
and Landlord may reenter and repossess the Premises and remove all persons and effects therefrom, by summary
proceeding, ejectment or other legal action or by using such force as may be necessary. Neither Landlord nor its
agents shall be liable by reason of any such reentry, repossession or removal. Tenani’s failure to vacate shall be
treated as a holdover without consent under Section 20(b) of this Lease.

(dy In the event of any such termination of this Lease, Landlord ma; d The of d
Which Landlord may recover in the event of such termination shall inciude, without limitation, the following:

[0 The worth, at the time of the award, of the unpaid Rent that had been ecarned at the time of
termination of this Lease;

(i) The worth, at the time of the award, of the amount by which the unpaid Rent that would have been
carned after the date of termination of tl IL.ease until the time of award exceeds the amount of the loss of Rent that
Tenant proves could have been reasonably avoided;

[GD) The worth, at the time of the award, of the amount by which the unpaid Rent for the balance of the
Term after the time of award cxceeds the amount of the loss of Rent that Tenant proves could have been reasonably
avoided: and

Civ) Any other amount necessary to compensate Landlord for all the detriment proximately caused by
Tenant’s failure to perform Tenant’s obligations under this Lease or which in the ordinary course of things would
be llkcly to result therefrom, including costs incurred by Landlord in recovering the Premises,

(%) restoring the Premises to good order and condition, or in remodeling. renovating or
otherwise preparing the Premises for reletting, the entirety of any tenant improvement allowance provided to a
replacement tenant subsequently taking possession of the Premises (regardless of whether all or any portion of such
allowance is used for work within the Premises, within other premises occupied by such replacement tenant or
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elsewhere within the Project) and any brokerage commissions and reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred by Landlord
in reletting the Premises.

“The worth, at the time of the award,” as used in clauses (i) and (ii) above. is to be computed by allowing interest
at the maximum rate an individual is permitted by law to charge. “The worth, at the time of the award,” as referred
above, is to be computed by discounting the amount at the discount rate of the Federal Reserve
Bank of Richmond at the time of the award, plus one percent (1%6). For the purpose of determining the unpaid rent
in the event of a termination of this Lease, the monthly rent reserved in this Lease shall be deemed to be the sum of
Base Rent, and Additional Rent (specifically including Tenant’s Share of Operating Cost and Tenant’s Share of
Taxes). Operating Cost and Taxes shall be calculated to include the monthly average of all such amounts payable
to Landlord during the one-year period prior to tenant’s default.

to in clause (iii

@) Landlord may terminate Tenant’s right of possession (with or without terminating this Lease) and
may enter upon and take possession of the Premises by any lawful means without demand or notice of any kind to
Tenant (including any notice to quit) and without terminating this Lease, and expel or remove Tenant and any other
person who may be occupying the Premises or any part thereof, and all property therefrom, without being liable for
ccution or any claim for any damages or liability therefor. If Landlord so elects, Landlord may make such
tions and repairs as, in Landlord’s reasonable discretion, may be necessary to relet the Premises, and Landlord
may (without any obligation on Landlord’s part to do so) relet the Premises or any part thereof, without notice to
Tenant, for such rent and such use, and for such period of time and subject to such terms and conditions as Landlord,
in its reasonable diseretion. may deem advisable and receive the rent therefor. Tenant shall be responsible for all
costs of reletting, including costs to alter, decorate, and repair the Premises to prepare it for reletting, and legal fees
and brokerage commissions incurred by Landlord in connection with leasing the Premises (or any portion thereof)
to a substitute tenant, which amounts shall constitute Additional Rent hereunder. Upon each such reletting, all rent
received by Landlord from such reletting shall be applied against amounts due from Tenant under this Lease, but
in ail events, such rent shall be Landlord®s sole property. Tenant agrees to pay Landlord, on demand, any deficiency
that may arise by reason of such reletting. Tenant shall be liable for all damages sustained by Landlord, including
without limitation deficiency in rent, interest, attorneys’ fees, other collection costs, all court costs and all other
expenses (including, without limitation, leasing fees) of placing the Premises in first-class rentable condition.
Landlord shall not be liable for any failure to relet the Premises or any part thereof or for any failure to collect any
rent due upon any such reletting. It is apreed that commencement and prosecution of any action by Landlord in
unlawful detainer, ejectment or otherwise, or any judgment obtained in an action to recover possession of the
Premises or other re-entry or removal shall not be construed as an election to terminate this Lease and shall not
discharge Tenant from any of its obligations hereunder. Notwithstanding any such reletting without termination,
Landlord may at any time thereafter elect to terminate this Lease for such prior default,

w Landiord shall have the right, at its option, to take cxclusive possession of Tenant’s Personal
Property and any other property located in the Premises and to use such property without charge ther efo., except
for that property subject o any lien rights pursuant 1o liens permitted in this Lease or property otherwise properly
removed prior to termination in accordance with the provisions of this Lease. Subject to the provisions of this
Lease, Landlord, to the extent permitted by law, shall have (in addition to all other rights) a right of distress for rent
and a lien on all Tenant’s Personal Property and any other property in the Premises as security for all Rent payable
under this Lease.

27. NON-WAIVER. Failure of Landlord to declare any default immediately upon occurrence thereof,
in taking any action in conneection therewith, shall not waive such default, but Landlord shall have the
declare any such default at any time thereafter.

delay
right 1o

28. DEFAULT BY LANDLORD. In the event of any default by Landlord, Tenant’s exclusive remedy shall
be an action for damages (Tenant hereby waiving the benefit of any laws granting Tenant a lien upon the property
of Landlord or upon Rent due Landlord), but prior to any such action Tenant will give Landlord and any mortgagee
notice, (the existence of which Tenant has received) specifying such default with particularity, and Landlord and/or
such mortgagee shall have thirty (30) days after receipt of such notice in which to cure any such default: provided,
however, that if such default cannot, by its nature, be cured within such period, Landlord shall not be deemed in
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default if Landlord and/or mortgagee shall within such period commence to cure such default and shall diligently
prosecute the same to completion. Unless and until Landlord and/or any mortgagee fails so to cure any default after
notice, Tenant shall have no remedy or cause of action by reason thercof. All obligations of Landlord hereunder
I be construed as covenants, not conditions; all such obligations will be binding upon Landlord only during the
period of its ownership of the Building and not thereafter; and no default or alleged default by Landlord shall relieve
or delay performance by Tenant of its obligations to continue to pay Base Rent and Additional Rent hercunder as
and when the same shall be due. If Landlord fails to perform any of Landlord”s non-monetary obligations unde:
this Lease and such failure materially and adversely affects Tenant’s ability to conduct Tenant’s business in the
Premises, then Tenant shall give Landlord a written notice (“Tenant’s S/H Notice™) «lemd‘ymg such failure in
detail and notifying Landlord of Tenant’s intention to exercise its rights under this Section 28 with respect thereto.

If such failure by Landlord shall continue for ten (10) Business Days (or such shorter period, if any, as may be
feasible in case of any emergency) after Landlord’s receipt of Tenant’s S/IH Notice (or, if such failure is not
reasonably susceptible of cure within such period, such longer period as may be reasonably necessary to complete
the same with due diligence: provided that Landlord commences the cure within said ten (10) Business Day period
and prosecutes the same with reasonable diligence), then Tenant may provide Landlord with a second Tenant’s S/F
Notice. and if Landlord fails to commenee the cure within five (5) Business Days following Landlord’s receipt of
the Second Tenant’s S/H Notice (or thereafter fails to prosecute the cure with reasonable diligence), Tenant shall
have the right (but not the obligation), for the account of Landlord, subject to the terms and limitations of this
Section 28, to perform the obligation which Landlord so failed to perform, with such performance being in
accordance with all Legal Requirements and the minimum necessary to cure the immediate problem. In the event
of an emergency, Tenant shall have the right (but not the obligation), for the account of Landlord, to perform the
obligation which Landlord so failed to perform subject to the terms and limitations of this Section 28 regardless of
whether Tenant delivers Tenant’s S/H Notice: provided that Tenant notifies Landlord of such emergency, there is
imminent danger to persons or property, and Landlord fails to cure the same within twenty-four (24) hours after
such notice is given. If Tenant performs any of Landlord’s obligations under this Lease in accordance with this
Section 28, Landlord shall repay Tenant’s Out-of-Pocket Costs, plus a fee to ‘Tenant in an amount equal to ten
percent (10%%) of such Out-of-Pocket Costs, within thirty (30) days after delivery of a reasonably detailed invoice
therefor. If Landlord shall fail timely to pay Tenant’s Out-of-Pocket Costs within such thirty (30) day period,
I'enant shall have the right to set-off the unpaid amount (including the aforesaid fee), together with interest on
Tenant’s Out-of-Pocket Costs (but not on the aforesaid fee) at the Interest Rate, against the next installment(s) of
Base Rent due and payable under this Lease. In no event, however, shall Tenant be entitled to exercise the self-
help/cure rights set forth in this Section 28 with respect to any of the Common Arcas or other portions of the
Building outside the Premises or with respect to any base Building system or structural components, except with
respect to any base Building systems within the Premises (provided that the work performed by Tenant could not
adversely affect any other part of the Building or any services provided to any other part of the Building or occupant
of the Building). In addition, Tenant shall not be entitled to exercise the cure rights set forth in this Section 28 while
Tenant is in default under this Lease. In the event Tenant seeks to cure or remedy any event or condition which
gives rise to Tenant’s remedies set forth in this Section 28, Tenant shall (1) proceed in accordance with all applicable
Legal Requirements (2) use only such contractors, suppliers, etc. as are duly licensed in the Commonwealth of
Virginia and insured to effect such repairs and who perform such repairs in first class buildings in the normal course
of their business; (3) upon commencing such repairs, complete the same within a reasenable period of time, (4)
effeet such repairs in a good and workmanlike quality: (5) use new or like-new materials; (6) make reasonable
efforts to minimize any material interference or act on the other tenants and occupants of the Building; and (7)
indemnify and hold harmless the Landlord Indemnified Parties against any Claims arising out of or resulting from
Tenant’s exercise of such rights.

29. INSURANCE.

@ Landlord shall maintain “all-risk™ property insurance on the Building (excluding all Improvements within
the Premises, which Tenant will insure for their full replacement cost) in amounts sufficient to avoid the provisions
of co-insuwrance under the dppllcablc insurance policies. Landlord may maintain other insurance as Landlord
determines in its sole v, the costs of which shall be included in Operating Cost.
Insurance shall be maintained v\uth an insurance company authorized to insure properties in the Commonwealth of
Virginia. If the annual premiums to Landlord for this property insurance cxceed the standard premium rates because
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of the nature of Tenant’s operations, conlents or Improvements (including Tenant's Work) or because the same
result in extra hazardous exposure, then Tenant shall upon receipt of copies of appropriate premium invoics
reimburse Landlord for such increases in such premiums.

O} Tenant shall carry Causes of Loss - Special Form (i.c., “all risk™ or its equivalent, property damage
insurance, including insurance for fire, water, ler, extended coverage, dstorm, vandalism, malicious
mischief, flood, carthquake, and other casualty for the full replacement cost (including an agreed amount
endorsement) of (i) all furniture, fixtures and equipment, or any personal or other removable property in the
Premises, whether or not owned by Tenant, and (i) all Tenant’s Work and any other improvements now in or
hereinafter installed in the Premises. Additionally, Tenant shall carry business interruption insurance in an amount
sufficient to cover costs, damages, lost income, expenses, Base Rent, and all Additional Rent and all other sums
payable under this Lease, should any or all of the Premises not be usable for a period of up to twelve (12) months;
AIll property insurance shall name Landlord and any other party designated by Landlord, including the Ground
Lessor, any other mortgagce, Landlord’s affiliates, lenders and agents, as their interests may appear, as loss payees.
In the event Tenant provides any insurance in this Section (or Section 29(e), below) in the form of a blanket policy,
Tenant shall furnish Landlord with satisfactory proof that such blanket policy complies in all respects with the
provisions of this Lease and that the coverage thereunder is at least equal to the coverage which would be provided
under a separate policy covering only the Premises.

© Tenant shall maintain a policy or policies of commercial general liability insurance (including bodily injury
and contractual liability coverage) written on an occurrence basis with the premiums thereon fully paid in advance,

ued by and binding upon an insurance company of good financial standing, such insurance to afford minimum
tection of not less than $2.000,000.00 combined single limit, with a $4,000,000.00 annual aggregate, for bodily
injury and prope: amage. This policy shall contain a uat liability In addition, Tenant will
carry the following coverages throughout the Term: a policy of worker’s compensation insurance as required by
applicable law cmployer’s liability insurance with limits of ne less than $1,000,000.00 per accident,
$1,000,000.00 disease-policy limit and $1,000,000.00 disease - per employee: a policy of comprehensive
automobile liability insurance, including loading and unloading, and covering owned, non-owned and hired
vehicles, with limits of no lIess than $1,000,000.00; and umbrella insurance coverage over all risks set forth in
Sections 29(b) and (c) of not less than $10,000,000.00. (All such i shall name La and any other party
designated by Landlord, including the Ground Lessor, any other mortgagee, Landlord’s affiliates, lenders, and
agents, as additional insureds thereunder).

(&) All insurance policies required to be carried by Tenant under this Lease (including this Secti
subject to the prior approval of Landlord, and shall be written as primary policy coverage and not cont
or in excess of any coverage which Landlord may carry. In addition, ail insurance policies carried by Tenant shall
be issued by a company or companies licensed to do business in the jurisdiction in which the Project is located zlnd
rated not lower than “Class A/VIII™, as rated in the most recent edition of the Alfred M. Best Company, Inc.’s Key
Rating Guide for insurance companies and otherwise approved by Landlord. Certificates of insurance (us
ACORD Form 28 or its then-current replacement form, or other form satisfactory to Landlord) (or copies of policies,
if requested by Landlord from time to time) evidencing the effectiveness of the insurance coverage Tenant is
required hereunder to maintain shall be delivered to Landlord at least annually by Tenant, and within fifteen (15)
days after request by Landlord, and each policy shall contain an endorsement that will prohibit its cancellation or
material modification prior to the cxpiration of thirty (30) days after notice of such proposed cancellation or material
modification to Landlord. Tenant shall be required to maintain the insurance required hereunder no later than the
date that Tenant or any agent, employee or contractor of Tenant first has access to the Premises or the Building,
unless an earlier date is otherwise provided hercin. Any deductible/self-insured retention in excess of $10,000.00
per occurrence requires Landlord?s written consent. Tenant shall cause all contractors providing services to the
Premises to carry insurance as set forth in Section 12 herein, which insurance shall be subject to Landlord’s
approval, and which shall name Landlord, and any other party designated by Landlord in a written notice to Tenant,
including Landlord’s affiliates, lenders and agents, as their interests may appear, as additional insureds.

30. WAIVER OF CLATMS AND SUBROGATION. Anything in this Lease to the contrary notwithstanding,
andlord and Tenant each hereby waives any and all rights of recovery, claim, action or cause-of-action, against
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the other, its agents (including partners, both general and limited), officers, directors, sharcholders, employees or
representatives, for any loss or damage that may occur to the Premises, or any Improvements therein, or the Building
of which the Premises are a part, or any Improvements therein, or any personal property of such party therein, by
reason of fire, the elements or any other cause which are, or are required by this Lease 1o be, insured against under
a policy(ies) containing a waiver of subrogation or permission to release liability and to the extent that such loss or
damage would have been recoverable under such insurance policies, notwithstanding the negligence of Landlord or
any Landlord Party or Tenant or any Tenant Party (as applicable). Each of Landlord and Tenant shall have the
policies required under this Lease endorsed with a waiver of subrogation clause whereby the insurance provider’s
right of subrogation is waived with respect to the other party hereto, or, if such waiver should be unobtainable or
unenforceable, (a) an express agreement that such poliey shall not be invalidated if the insured waives the right of
recovery against any party responsible for a casualty covered by the policy before the casualty or (b) any other form
of permission for the release of the other party.

31. HOLD HARMLESS; INDEMNITY. Except to the extent arising from the gross negligence or willful
misconduct of Landlord, or any Landlord Parties shall not be liable to Tenant, or to Tenant’s agents, servants,
employees, contractors, customers or invitees for death or injury to persons or damage to or loss of property from
any causc v\.ha(susvc‘ ncluding, without limitation, by on of thefi, fire, act of God, public enemy, terrorism,
injunction, riot, s on, war, court order requisition or order of governmental body, or authority, or for
any other causes beyond Landlord’s control. Except to the extent caused by lhe negligence or willful misconduct
of Landlord, or any Indemnified Party, and except as otherwise provided in tion 29 hercof, Tenant shall, and
does hereby, indemnify, hold harmless and defend (with counsel <ﬂl|si1ctn|y 1o Landlord) Landlord, its partners,
members, managers, property manager, mortgagees, Ground Lessor, invitees and their officers, directors, agents
and employees (collectively, the “Indemnificd Parties™), from and against any loss, damage, liability, cost or
expense (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and all court costs) incurred by the Indemnified Parties and
occasioned by or in any way related to or connected with (i) the making or removal of any Improvements or the use
ar cecupancy of the Premises, the Building, or the Project by Tenant, its agents, employees, invitees, and any other
persons who gain access to the Premises including by way of violation of any Legal Requirements, (i) the
llkbhgcl\bl. or willful misconduct of Tenant, its agents, employees and invitees, (iii) any default, breach or violation
of this Lease by Tenant, its agents, employees and invitees, and (iv) injury or death to individuals or damage to
property sustained in or about the Premises. Subject to Section 30 and except as may be caused by the negligence
or willful misconduct of Tenant or its agents and ::lnpioyees Landlord shall indemnify Tenant from and ﬂgalnsl any
and all claims, actions, damages, liabilities and expense in connection with loss of life, personal injury and/or
damage to property arising from our out of (i) Landlord’s’ intentional breach of this Lease or (ii) any occ
in, upon or at the Common Areas of the Building occasioned wholly or in part by the gross negligence or w-llhnl
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misconduct of Landlord, its agents or employees
32. RESERVED.
33. SEVERABILITY. If any term or provision of this Lease, or the application thereof to any person or

circumstance shall to any extent be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Lease, or the application of such
provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected
thereby. Each provision of this Lease shall be valid and shall be enforceable to the extent permitted by law.

4. NOTICES. All notices, demands, consents and approvals (each, a “Notice’) which may or are required to
be given by either party to the other hereunder shall be in writing and delivered by () personal delivery, (ii) the
United States mail, ificd or registered, postage prepaid; or (iii) nationally recognized overnight courier, in each
case, addressed to the pacty to be notified at the noticos address for such party set forth in the Basic Lease
Information, or to such other place as the party to be notified may fiom time to time designate by at least five (5)
Business Days® notice to the notifying party. Each Notice shall be deemed to have been given, delivered or received
as evidenced by a wrilten receipt therefor, and in the event of failure to deliver by reason of changed address of
which no Notice was given or refusal to accept delivery, as of the date of such failure.




35. SUCCESSORS. This Lease shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of Landlord, its successors and
assigns, and shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of Tenant, its successors and, to the extent assignment
is permitted under this Lease or otherwise consented to (or deemed consented to) by Landlord, Tenant’s assigns.

36. ENTIRETY. This instrument and any attached addenda or exhibits constitute the entirc agreement
between Landlord and Tenant. No prior or contemporaneous promises, inducements, representations or agreements,
oval or otherwise, between the parties hereto not embodied herein shall be binding or have any force or effect.
Tenant will make no claim on account of any representations whatsoever, whether made by any renting agent,
broker, officer or other representative of Landlord or which may be contained in any circular, prospectus or
advertisement relating to the Premises or the Project. or otherwise, unless the same is specifically set forth in this
Lease. Landlord and Tenant each acknowledge that they have been represented by counsel tion of
this Lease. In the event of any ambiguity in the terms and conditions of this Lease, the doctr f contra
proferentem shall not be applicable, and there shall be no assumption that this Lease is to be construed more or less
strongly against either party.

37, BROKERS. Landlord and Tenant each hereby warrant and represent that it has not dealt with any brokers
or intermediaries entitled to any compensation in connection with this Lease or Tenant’s oceupancy of space in the
Project. Each party hereby agrees to hold the other party, its partners and representatives harmless from any and
all claims, liabilities, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys® fees) arising from any claim for any
commissions or other fees by any broker or agent acting or purporting to have acted on behalf of such party.

38. INTENTIONALLY OMITTED.
39. PARKING.
(a) Provided that Tenant is occupying the Premises and no Event of Default exists under this Lease, Tenant,

its employees, licensees and visitors, shall have the right to the number of parking space contracts set forth in the
Basic Lease Information on an unreserved basis and in accordance with the reasonable rules and regulations
promulgated by Landlord or the Association from time to time for use of the Office Parking Facilities on the terms
and conditions as established by the Association from time to time. The parking contracts will be at the prevailing
rate charged from time to time. The monthly parking cost per unreserved space is Seventy-Five Dollars and 00/100
($75.00), which shall be subject to market increases. The Office of Parking Facilities comprise portions of the
parking garage below the Building and portions of the existing and to-be -built garages clsewhere at the Project.
The parking spaces subject to Tenant’s parking spaces contracts may be located below the Building or elsewhere
in the Project. Parking spaces shall be available on a first-come, first-served basis subject. however, to the rights of
any other tenant of the Building to park automobiles in reserved parking spaces as provided in its lease. Landlord
reserves the right, at any time or from time to time during the Term, to establish reserved parking spaces for the
tenants in the Building and, in such event, Tenant shall utilize only those spaces assigned to Tenant. Landlord
reserves the right, at any time or from time to time during the Term, to limit access to parking, by use of mechanical
or clectric devices or otherwise, to tenants of the Building and their employees and invitees only. Neither Tenant
nor any of its employees shall use any of the Office Parking Facilities for storage of vehicles (or any other item
such as boats or trailers) or park its or their automobiles in any portion of the Building parking areas reserved for
visitor or handicapped parking (except pursuant to a valid permit) or for parking of automobiles belonging to other
tenants of the Building. lLandlord reserves the right to relocate any or all reserved spaces from time to time, upon
ten (10) business days- prior writlen notice or on no notice in the event of casualty, condemnation, or Force Majeure.
Landlord further reserves the right to make such changes to the parking system as Landlord may deem necessary
or reasonable from time to time; i.e., Landlord may provide for one of a combination of parking systems, including,
without limitation, self-parking, single or double stall parking spaces, and valet assisted parking. Landlord may
require exccution of an agreement with respect to the use of such Office Parking Facilities by Tenant and/or
officers and employees in form reasonably satisfactory to Landlord as a condition of any such use.

) If Tenant fails to elect to purchase the full number of monthly parking space contracts to which it is entitled as
set forth in the Basic Lease Information on or before the Rent Commencement Date, Tenant’s right to purchase the
remaining contracts shall expire and be of no finther force or effect. If Tenant returns any parking contracts or fails to
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pay all sums due with respect to any parking contract as and when due, Tenant’s rights to use such parking contracts shall
terminate and be of no further force or effect. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if at any time Tenant is not purchasing
the full number of monthly parking space contracts 1o which it is entitled as set forth in the Basic Lease Information,
then upon thirty (30) days® notice from Tenant, subject to availability, Landlord shall provide Tenant with additional
parking space contracts, the total number of Tenant™s parking space contracts not to exceed, in any event, the number
ing space contracts set forth the Basic Lease Information. All monthly parking space contracts obtained by
Tenant are non-transferable other than to permitted subtenants and assignees hercunder. Use of the Office Parking
Facilities by Tenant, its employees, and business invitees is subject to the reasonable rules and regulations of the
Association and/or its parking management company as may be promulgated or amended from time to time. Tenant
shall have access to the Building and Office Parking Facilities 24 hours per day, 365 days per year. Landlc
have no lia to Tenant in the event of a temporary limited access to parking spaces due to striping, res

naintenance or development of the Project.

or other
@) Tenant shall comply with all present or future programs intended to manage parking. transporta
traffic in and around the Building i by any g nental or vernmental agencics or transportation

management authority. and in connection tl'\ere\vnh Tenant shall take responsible action for the transportation
planning and management of all employees, clients and occupants located at the Premises by working directly with
Landlord, any governmental transportation management organization or any other transportation-related committces
or entitics. Such programs may include: (i) restrictions on the number of peak-hour vehicle trips generated by
Tenant; (ii) increased vehicle occupancy: implementation of an in-house ridesharing program and an employee
transportation coordinator; (iv) working with employees and any Building or Project-wide ridesharing program
manager: (v) instituting employer-sponsored incentives (financial or in-kind) to encourage employees to rideshare;
and (vi) utilizing flexible work shifts for employees. In furtherance of the foregoing, the Building participates in a
transportation demand management plan (as the same may be amended from time to time in coordination with the
Fairfax County Department of Transportation, the “TDM Plan™) to encourage the use of transit, high-occupant
vehicle commuting modes, walking, biking and teleworking in order to reduce automobile trips generated by the
Project. Tenant shall participate in the TIDM Plan with respect to Tenant’s employees, and shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to encourage 1 the TDM Plan, including by complying, as apn cable,
with those provisions of the TDM Plan set forth on Exhibit M; provided, however, that Tenant™s client all not be
treated as Tenant’s employees for purposes of complying with the TDM Plan.

A~

« Tenant may procure itional monthly contracts in excess of Tenant’s Allocated Parking for
unreserved spaces in the Office Par] i trates. In addition, upon Tenant’s
request, Landiord will use commercially reasonable efforts to assist Tenant in leasing additional parking spaces in
the Public Garage on terms mutually aceeptable to Tenant and the County

0. QUIET ENJOYMENT. So long as no Event of Default exists, Tenant shall quietly enjoy the Premises
without disturbance by any person lawfully claiming by, through, or under Landlord, subject, however, to the
provisions of this Lease.

41, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. Tenant shall furnish Landlord with current financial statements within
thirty (30) days after the end of ecach calendar quarter, certified as acceurate and complete by an officer of Tenant,
or, if available. audited financial statements prepared by an independent certified public accountant with copies of
the auditor’s statement, reflec “enant’s then current financial condition, or, if Tenant is a single-purpose or
special-purpose entity, the consolidated financial condition of all persons or entities under Common Control (as
hereinafter defined) with Tenant, in such form and datail as Landlord may reasonably request. For purposes hereof,
“Common Control” shall mean all persons or ent that directly or indircctly control, or are controlled by, or are
under common control with Tenant (for fhis purposs, “control shall mean the possession, dircotly or indirecly, of
the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such entity, whether through the
ownership of voting securities or by contract or otherwise).
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42, HAZARDOUS MATERIALS.

) Tenant, its agents and employees, shall not violate or cause to be violated any federal, state or local law.
ordinance or regulation relating to the environmental conditions on, under or about the Premises or the Building, or
the Land, including soil and ground water conditions, Tenant, its agents and employees shall not cause or permit

the intro ion, use, ion. or I of on, under or about the Premises, the Building,
of the Land or transpost o or from the Premises, the Building, or the Land any hazardous wastes, toxic substanccs
or related materials. “Hazardous Materials” shall mean any j t product or t

e
containing material, or any other material, substance or waste that is now, or hereafter n_u)gnlzed as bcn\g
hazardous or dangerous to health or the environment by any federal, state or local agency havi sd n over
the Building. “Hazardous Materials® shall n-clude, but not be limited to, substances dcﬁncd as “hazardous
substances™ or “toxic substances” in the Comprehensive Environmental Compensation and Liability Act
of 1980, as amended, 42 U.S.C. Section 9061 ef seq.; Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, 492 U.S.C. Section
1802; and Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976, 42 U.S.C. Section 6901 es seq. and any other

id d b . toxie or the equivalent purs suanl to any other applicable Legal Requirements
(collectively. the “Environmental Laws”). “Hazardous Ma * shall not include any cleaning or other supplies
in such amounts as are customary for office purposes and used and stored in compliance with Legal Requirements

) Tenant shall clean up and remove or cause to be cleaned up and removed from, under or about the Premises,
the Building or the Land any Hazardous Materials that Tenant or its agents or employees have or have caused to be
introduced, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense.

Tenant shall and does hereby indemnify, defend and hold Landlord, any Superior Mortgagee,
Ground Lessor, and its and their successors and assigns harmless from and against any losses (including reasonable
fees and court costs incurred in connection therewith) which Landiord, any Superior Mortgagee, Ground
or, or its or their successors and assigns actually incur by reason of Tenant’s failure to comply with the
requirements of this Section 42 hereof.

(&) If at any time there shall be discovered in the Premises any Hazardous Materials which were not
introduced by Tenant or anyone claiming by, through or under Tenant, then Landlord, at L.andlord’s sole cost and
expense, shall promptly clean-up, remove or remediate (or cause to be cleaned-up, removed or remediated) the same
as required by applicable Legal Requirements.

) This Section 42 shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.

43. LANDLORD’S TERMINATION OPTION.

@ Landlord shall have a onc (1) time right to terminate this Lease (and cause to be terminnted any sublonses
entered into by Tenant), without penalty, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Section 43. Landlord

imay exercise such option to terminate this Lease by delivering to Tenant an irrevocable written notice of torm ination
(the “Termination Notice™) at least twelve (12) months prior to the Termination Date (as hereinafter dofined) sct
forth in the Termination Notice, time being of the essence. In the event that Landlord timely delivers the Termination
Notice to Tenant, this Lease shall terminate as of the Termination Date, provided that Landlord has fulfilled all of
the conditions set forth in this Secti As used herein, the term "Fermination Date” shall mean the date set
forth in the Termination Notice, which shall be the later to oceur of (x) the earlier of (i) January 1, 2028, or (i1) the
first (13) day of the seventh (7" Lease Year (calculated from the first day of the sixth (6™) full calendm- morith after
the Commencement l)ate), and (y) twelve (12) months after Landlord’s deliver of the Termination Notice. The
Termination Date may be any day of the month, and any legal requirement that the Termination Date may be the
Jast day of the month is hereBy expressly waived. Tenant acknowledges and agrees that such Termination Right is
1 conjunction with certain expansion rights that an existing tenant in the Building has for the Premises.

n

(b) If this Lease is terminated pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions of this Section 43, then, as o
the Termination Date, neither Landlord nor Tenant shall have any rights or obligations under this Lease ]
Landlord shall be free to lease the Premises to any persons or entities for a term beginning after the Termination
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Date; provided that Tenant shall vacate the Premiscs in aecordance with the terms and conditions of this L
ed further, however, that ‘T'enant shall remain obligated for any liabi
or obligations under this Lease (including without limitation the obligation to pay Base Rent and all other amounts
payable under this Lease) accruing prior to the Termination Date, which obligation shall survive indefinitely the
termination of this Lease.

) Should Tenant fail to surrender the Premises to Landlord on or before the Termination Date in accordance
with the terms and provisions of this Lease, time being of the essence, then Tenant shall be liable to Landlord as a
hold-over tenant under this Lease and shall be subject to the terms and conditions of Section 20, above and shall
further be liable to Landlord for all costs, expenses, claims and damages incurred by Landlord as result of
Landlord’s inability to retake possession of the Premises from Tenant on or before the Termination Date, including,
without limitation, damages or expenses incurred in connection with the existing tenant having expansion I|&llf& for
the Premises or any other prospective tenant for the Premises, lost rents or profits, and reasonable attorneys’ fees
and expenses, as Additional Rent.

a4 MISCELLANEOUS.

[ Time is of

he essence with respect to Landlord’s and Tenant’s rights and obligations under this Lease.

) The words “include” and “including” shall be construed for purposes of this Lease as being followed by
the phrase “without limitation.”

() All rights and remedies of Landlord under this Lease shall be cumulative and none shall exclude any other
rights or remedies allowed by law

&) This Lease is declared to be a Commonwealth of Virginia contract, and all of the terms hereof shall be
construed according to the laws of the Commonwealth of Virgi without resort to its conflicts of laws rules.

&) LANDILORD AND TENANT HEREBY WAIVE TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING,
OF OR IN ANY WAY CONNECTED WITH THIS LEAS
2 ANY SUMMARY PROCEEDING FOR NONPAYMENT OF RENT OR
ADDITIONAL RENT, OR COMMENCES ANY OTHER ACTION OR PROCEEDING AGAINST TENANT IN
CONNECTION WITH THIS LEASE, TENANT WILL lNTERl’OSL NO COUNTERCLAIM OF WHATEVER
NATURE OR DESCRIPTION IN ANY SUCH PROCEEDING, UNLESS TENANT’S FAILURE TO
INTERPOSE SUCH COUNTERCLAIM IN SUCH PROCEEDING OR ACTION WOULD RESULT IN THE
WAIVER OF TENANT'S RIGHT TO BRING SUCH CLAIM IN A SEPARATE PROCEEDING UNDER
APPLICABLE LLAW.

() Tenant hereby submits to the personal jurisdiction of any court sitting in Fairfax County, Virginia with
respect to all claims and controversies arising out of this lease or the enforcement thereof. Landlord hereby (i)
submits to the personal jurisdiction of any court sitting in Fairfax County, Virginia with respect to all claims and
controversies arising out of this Lease or the enforcement thereof and (ii) for purposes of Section 55-218.1 of the
Annotated Code of Virginia, appoints Christopher Clemente, whose address is ¢/o Comstoek Partners, 1900 Reston
Metro Plaza, 10" Floor. Reston, Virginia 20190, as Landlord’s resident agent for service of process in any such
claim or controversy, and agrees that service upon such agent shall constitute personal service upon Landiord so
long as notice of ok mervise given in accordance with the provisions of Section 33.

For purposes of Section 55-2 of the Annotated Code of Virginia, this Lease is and shall be deemed a deed
of lease.

(5 This Lease may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties in separate counterparts,
each of which when so executed shall be deemed an original, and all of which, taken together, shall constitute one
and the same instrument.
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1) Nothing contained in this Leasc shall be construed to create a partnership, joint venture or other relationship
between Landlord and Tenant other than that of landlord and tenant.

i Tenant certifies that: (i) it is not acting, directly or indirectly, for or on behalf of any person, group entity,
or nation named by an ecutive Order or the United States Treasury Department as a terrorist. “Specially
Designated National and Blocked Person,” or other banned or blocked person, entity, nation, or transaction pursuant
to any law, order, rule or regulation that is enforeed or administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control: and
(i) it is not engaging in, instigating or facilitating this transaction, directly or indirectly, on behalf of any such
person, group, entity, or nation. Tenant hereby agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless Landlord from and
against any and all claims, damages, losses, risks, liabilities, and expenses (including attorneys’ fees and costs)
arising from or related to any breach of the foregoing certification.

(k) This Lease shall not be recorded. At the request of Tenant, lLandlord and Tenant shall enter into a
memorandum of this Lease (“Memorandum™), provided that such Memorandum contains commercially
reasonable and industry standard terms mutually acceptable to Landlord and Tenant. Tenant shall be solely
responsible for the payment of all costs, fees, expenses, and taxes including any grantor taxes payable to any
governmental agency or official (including. without limitation, at the federal, state or lacal level) incurred as a result
of recording the Memorandum.

(D) If two (2) or more persons or entities shall sign this Lease as Tenant, the ility of each such person or
entity to pay the Rent and perform all other obligations hereunder shall be deemed to be joint and several, and all
Notices, payments and agreements given or made by, with or to any one of such persons or entities shall be deemed
to have been given or made by, with or fo all of them. In like manner, if Tenant shall be a partnership or other legal
entity, the partners or members of which are, by virtue of any applicable law, rule, or regulation, subject to personal
liability, the liability of each such partner or member under this Lease shall be joint and several and cach such
partner or member shall be fully obligated hereunder and bound hereby as if each such partner or member had
personally signed thi

leasec.

am) The submission of this Lease by Landlord to Tenant for examination shall not constitute an offer to lease
or a reservation of or option for the Premises. Tenant’s execution of this Lease shall be deemed an offer by Tenant,
but this Lease shall become effective only upon execution thereof by both parties and delivery thereof to Tenant.

() It is generally understood that mold spores are present essentially everywhere and that mold can grow in
most any moist location. Emphasis is properly placed on prevention of moisture and on good housckeeping and
wventilation practices. Tenant acknowledges the neces: of housekeeping, ventilation, and moisture control
(especially in kitchens, janitor’s closets, bathrooms, break rooms and around outside walls) for mold prevention.
Tenant shall inspect the Premises on the Commencement Date and shall certify to Landlord that it has not observed
mold, mildew or moisture yithin the Premises. Tenant agrees to immediately notify Landlord if it observes
mold/mildew and/os ture conditions (from any source, including leaks), and allow Landlord to evaluate and
make recommendations and/or take appropriate corrective action. Tenant relieves Landlord from any liability for
any bodily injury or damages to property caused by or associated with moisture or the growth of or Gecurrence of
mold or mildew on the Premises. In addition, execution of this Iease constitutes acknowledgement by Tenant that
control of moisture and mold prevention are integral to its Lease obligations.

.

©) Whenever in this Lease a day is appointed on which, or a period of time is appointed within which, either
party hercto is required to perform or complete any act, matter or thing, the time for performance or completion
shall be extended by a period of time equal to the number of days on or during which such party is prevented from
the performance or completion of such act, matter or thing as a result of strikes, lock-outs, embargoes, general
unavailability of labor or materials (for reasons not caused by the party claiming Force Majeure), wars,
ins ions, rebellions, declarations of national emergencies, acts of God or other causes beyond such party’s.
reasanable control (“Foree Majeure”); provided, however

of its obligations hereunder to make full and timely payments of monetary sums and to obtain insurance as requ
by this Lease.
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W This Lease does not grant T enant any easement concerning light, air or view, and the hindrance, elimination
or shutting off of air or view by ai re shall in no way affect Tenant’s obligations under this Lease o
give rise to any liability of Landlord to Fenant with respect thereto.

@ Tenant will provide to Landlord copies of all keys for all locks to the Premises. The locks used by Tenant
shall be consistent with the lock set of the Building. Upon termination of this Lease, Tenant shall surrender to
Landlord all keys to the Premises and give to Landlord the combination of all locks for safes, safe cabinets and
wvault doors, if any, in the Premises.

) This Lease may not be altered, changed or amended, except by an instrument in writing, signed by both
parties hereto.

(s) As used in this Lease, the term “Landlord’s Fee” shall mean an additional charge payable to cover
overhead associated with Landlord’s performing certain work hereunder, in an amount equal to twenty percent
(20%) of the cost of such work, which shall be Additional Rent.

[0} Neither Tenant, nor any of Tenant’s employees, partners, officers, directors, members, sharcholders, agents
or brokers, shall issue or make any public statement, comment, announcement, or press release regarding this Lease,
the Premises, the Project or Landlord without first receiving Landlord’s approval as to form and content, it being
expressly agreed that in no event shall any entity or individual issue or make a public statement, comment,
announcement or press release regarding this Lease that would coineide with or precede any public statement,
comment, announcement or press release of Landlord regarding this Lease, unless such information is publically
available. During the Term, in any publication (whether in print or electronic) identifying the location of the

Premises, Tenant agrees to include reference to “Reston Station™ in any such publication.

4s5. COMMON FACTLITIES. From time to time, Landlord may, at Landlord’s sole cost and expense (except
to the extent includable in Operating Cost pursuant to S e for use in common by any tenants and
oceupants in the Building (including, without limitation, Tenant and any Pern

may in its sole j at direct G limitation, tenants of other buildings in the Project), certain
faci

ties within Ihe Building or the Project, including, without limitation the existing fitness center, bike room,
conference center and shared roof top dock currently in the Building (the existing amenities in the Building
o bed herein are collectively, the “Exi 1g Amenities” and together with any other nilar common
Tacilitios made available for use by tenants of the Building or Project, arc collectively the “Common Facilities™):
provided that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, at all times during the term, Landlord
shall maintain the following Common Facilities, if and when existing in the Building: (i) fitness center, (ii) bike
room and (iii) shared roof top deck. Tenant agrees that its nse of the Common Facilities shall be subject to and in
accordance with such written rules and regulations as Landlord may promulgate from time to time in accordance
with the provisions of Section 5(e) with respect to the Rules and Reégulations, applied mutatis mutandis, covering
the use of the Common Facilities (including any requirement that the user of any Common Facilities execute
Landlord’s standard waiver of liability form in connection with such use), and that any use of the Common Facilities
by Tenant, its employees or invitees, shall be at their sole risk, cost and expense. The Common Facilities may be
temporarily closed from time to time in connection with any renovations or repairs of such Common Facilitics.
Landlord shall not be responsible for any injury, loss or damage suffered by Tenant, its employees or invitees,
arising out of or in any way connected with or related to their use of the Common Facilities. Landlord shall
throughout the Term continue (o provide the Existing Tenant Amenities for use by tenants and occupants of the
Building, subject to such modifications in the operation, size, location or configuration thercof as Landlord may
deem appropriate: provided that to the extent such amenities are no customarily being provided by landlords of
class A office buildings in Reston, Virginia, L.andlord may clect to discontinue the provision of one or more of the
Existing Building Amenities.

o
o

46. LEED CERTIFICATION.

@) At Landlord”
Leadership

option, the Building may be operated in accordance with the U.S. Green Building Council’s
n Energy and Environmental Design program’s standards, as amended, supplemented or replaced from
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time 1o | mm: and any similar standards with which Landlord may cause the Building to comply (hereinafter referred
to as “LEED”), including to satisfy proffered obligations. ~Tenant shall comply with fhe Building’s LEED
requirements as set forth in Exhi attached to this Lease, as they may be reasonably supplemented or amended
by Landlord by written notice to Tenant from time to time (“LEED Conditions™).

() If Tenant fails to observe, perform or otherwise comply with the LEED Conditions for thirty (30) days after
written notice (unless a shorter period is necessary in order for Landlord to comply with the LEED Conditions), then
Landlord may enter the Premises to perform such aet or replace such materials as may be reasonably necessary to keep
the Building in compliance with the LEED Conditions. Tenant shall pay Landlord, as Additional Rent, all costs
(including reasonable attorneys® fees) incurred by Landlord in connection with any action taken by Landlord to enforce
the LEED Conditions, within thirty (30) days of Landlord’s demand therefor. Tenant shall pay any penalties, fines or
other enforcement obligations imposed by any federal, state or local governmental agency against Tenant solely for
Tenant’s failure to comply with the LEED Conditions on or prior to the date such payment is due. If Landlord pays any
such amounts on behalf of Tenant. or if any penalties, fines or other enforcement obligations are imposed against
Landlord solely as a result of Tenant’s failure to comply with the LEED Conditions, then Tenant shall pay Landlord, as
Additional Rent, the full amount of the fine, penalty or other enforcement obligation, within thirty (30) days afier
Landlord’s demand thercfor.

47. RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL.

(@) During the Term of this Lease and subject to the rights of existing tenants prior to the Effective
Date of this Lease, Tenant shall have the ongoing right of first refusal to add to the Premises the Offered Space (as
hereinafier defined), subject to the terms and conditions hercinafter set forth. “Offered Space™ shall mean the
remainder of the Tenth (10%) Floor of the Building, not otherwise leased by Tenant as of the Effective Date of this
Lease, consisting of approximately 3,778 square feet of Net Rentable Area.

(b) If Landlord intends to enter into a lease (the “Proposed Lease®) for all or a portion of the Offered
Space with anyone other than an existing tenant as of the Effective Date hereof (the “Proposed Tenant”), then
Landlord shall, after it has received a bona fide offer from the Proposed Tenant, offor to Tenant the right to lease
such Offered Space upon the terms and conditions of the Proposed Lease to the Proposed Tenant for the Offered
Space. Tenant may only exercise the right of first refusal described herein if as of the date that Tenant elects to
exercise such right pursuant to Tenant's First Refusal Notice (as hercinafier defined) and as of the commencement
date of the term of the lease of the Offered Space, no Event of Default exists under this Lease.

(<) Landlord shall offer the Offered Space to Tenant in a written notice (the “First Refusal Notice™)
which shall designate the space being offered and shall specify the terms of the Lease, which shall be the same as
those offered in the Proposed Lease to the Proposed Tenant. Tenant may .-u,t,cpl the offer set forth in the First
Refusal Notice by delivering to Landlord an unconditional acceptance in writing (““Tenant’s First Refusal Notice™)
within ten (10) Business Days after delivery by Landlord of the First Refusal Motics to Tenant, ‘1ime shall be of
the essence with respect to the giving of Tenant's First Refusal Notice. If Tenant does not accept (or fails to timely
accept) an offer made by Landlord pursuant to the provisions of this Section with respect to the Offered Space
designated in the First Refusal Notice, Landlord shall be under no further obligation to Tenant with respect to such
space by reason of this Si a7

() In order to send the First Refusal Notice, Landlord does not need to have negotiated a complete
lease with the Proposed Tenant but may merely have agreed upon the material cconomic terms for the Proposed
Lease, and Tenant must make its on with respect to the Offered Space as long as it has received a deseription
of the material economic terms. Tenant must accept all of the Offered Space offered by Landlord at any one time
in a First Refusal Notice if Tenant desires to accept any of such Offered Space and may not exercise its right with
respect to only a portion of such space. If Tenant accepts the offer, then within twenty (20) days of Tenant's First
Refusal Notice, Landlord and Tenant shall execute a lease amendment prepared by Landlord and reasonably
approved by Tenant and reflecting the addition of the Offered Space to the original Premises pursuant to the terms
and provisions described in the First Refusal Notice with the other terms of this Iease remaining unchanged.
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48. CONTRACTION OPTION. Tenant shall have ongoing option during the Term of the Lease (the
“Contraction Option™) to terminate this Lease with respect to a portion of the Premises (“Contraction Space™,
provided that (i) Tenant delivers written notice to Landlord of its exercise of the Contraction Option (the
"Contraction Option Exercise Notice") six (6) months prior to the proposed date of the contraction, which notice
shall contain Tenant’s election of the Net Rentable Area of the desired Contraction Space and proposed location of
the Contraction Space, and (ii) no Event of Default has occurred under the Lease. If Tenant timely delivers the
Contraction Option Exercise Notice and satisfies the other conditions to the exercise of the Contraction Option,
Landlord and Tenant shall, within fifteen (15) business days thereafter, mutually agree to the size, access and
demising configuration of the Contraction Space such that, surer alic, the Contraction Space shall be in a
configuration that may be readily leased at market rates for general office use, and Landlord and Tenant shall
execute an amendment modifying the Lease to remove the Contraction Space from the Premises (the "Contraction
Space Amendment”). Tenant, using Building-standard materials and finishes selected by Landlord in Landlord*®s
sole discretion, shall bear the cost to (i) demise the remaining portion of the Premises separately from the
Contraction Space, including the separation of mechanical, engincering and plumbing systems as directed by
Landlord, and (i) remove any internal stairway providing access between floors of the Building included within
the Premises and those floors that are part of the Contraction Space and perform any associated work necessary 1o
restore the floor slabs and related finishes following such removal, all as to be more particularly described in the
Contraction Space Amendment. In the event that Tenant fails to comply with any condition to the exercise of the
Contraction Option within the time period set forth above, Tenant's exercise of the Contraction Option shall be void.
The Lease remain in full force and effect with respect to the portion of the Premises not identified as the Contraction
Space.

7 inder of this page i jonally blank.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the
authorized officials or agents as of the date aforesaid.

parties hereto have exccuted this Deed of Lease under seal by their duly

LANDLORD:

CRS PLAZA I, LC,
a Virginia limited liability company

Ber =
=) /
[SEAL]

EW A )
- LEGA)

TENANT:

COMSTOCK HOLDING COMPANIES, INC.,
a Delaware corporation

By: % b&% ;; [SEAL]

Namg? chrzz.);?..ar Guthrie ( AV *\ >R %

Titl Chidf Pinancial Officer (uwxj
\ ¥ ,n 3 AL

[Signature Page to Deed of L.ease]




EXHIBIT A

DESCRIPTI oFr ND

All of that certain lot or parcel of land situated, lying and being in Fairfax County, Virginia, and being more
particularly described as set forth in a Memorandum of Lease dated November 28, 2016 and recorded among the
Land Records in Deed Book 24856 at Page 2007.
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EXHIBIT A-1

THE PROJECT




EXHIBIT B
FLOOR PLAN OF PREMIS

(see attached)
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This Work Agreement (the “Work Agreement”) is attached to and made part of that certain Deed of Lease (the
“Lenase™) dated November 1, 2020, by and between CRS PLAZA I, LC (as “Landlord”) and COMSTOCK
HOLDING COMPANIES, INC. (as “Tenant”). It is the intent of this Work Agreemont that Tenant shall be permitted

freedom in the design and layout of the 3 with licable building codes and requirements of law,
including without limitation the Americar D| dblllllch Act (the “ADA™), and with sound architcctural and
construction practice in first-class office buildings and i nece with the terms of this Work Agreement. Capitalized

{otlierwise defined in this Work Agreement shall have the meanings et forth in the Lease. In the event of any
t between the terms hereof and the terms of the Lease. the terms hereof shall prevail for the purposes of design
and construction of the Tenant's Work.

1. BASE BUILDING AND TENANT'S WORK,
5 Landlord's Work. Landlord, at Landlord's sole cost and expense (not chargeable to Tenant,
through inclusion in Operating Cost or otherwise, or the Tenant Improvement Allowance), shall construet on the Land,

the base Building improvements ("Landlord’s Worlk") described on Schedule C-1 attached hereto and incorporated
herein by reference ("Basc Building Improvements"). Landlord reserves the right to make changes to the Base Building
Improvements to comply with applicable laws or 1o correct construction defects or hazardous conditions. The Landlord's
Work shall be constructed in a workmanlike manner by a general contractor and subcontractors selected by Landlord in
sole diseretion.

b Tenant's Work. Tenant, at its sole cost and expense, shall furnish and install in the Premises in
accordance with the terms of this Work Agreement, the improvements set forth in the Tenant's Plans (hereinafter defined)
which are subject to Landlord's approval in accordance with Paragraph 2, below (“Tenant's Work"). The costs of all
design, space planning, and architectural and engineering work for or in conncction with the Tenant'’s Work, including
all drawings, plans, specifications, permits or other approvals refating thereto, and all insurance, bonds and other
requirements and conditions hereunder, and all costs of demolition and construction, including supervision thercof; shall
be at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, subject fo the application of the Tenant Improvement Allowance in accordance
with the terms of this Work Agreement.

2: PREPARATION OF TENANT PLANS; CHANGES
[e5) minary Plans: Space Planner; Engineers.

[0 Tenant shall retain the services of HKS, Inc. (the "Space Plannex
Tenant's Work in the Premises and prepare the Final Documents (hereinafier defined) and the constr

) to design the
n documents
for Tenant's Work. The Space Planner shall meet with the Landlord and/or Landlord's building manager fi
to time to obtain information about the Building and to ensure that the improvements env
Plans do not interfere with and/or affect the Building or any systems therein. The Space Plannme
space plans, working drawings, and plans and specifications described in this Paragraph 2 in conformity with the Base
Building Improvements and systems, and the Space Planner shall coordinate its plans and specifications with the
Engineers (hereinafter defined) and Landlord. All fees of the Space Planner shall be borne solely by Tenant, subject to
application of the Tenant Improvement Allowance as hereinafter provided.

Gy Tenant shall retain the ices of mechanical i ing and structural
engincers approved by Landlord (the “Engineers™ 1o (i) design the type, number and location of all mechanical systems.
in the Premises, the heating, v & and air ring system therein, fire dlarm system and to prepare

ner in connection with the electrical design of the

all of the mechanical plans, (i) to assist Tenant and the Space Plar
Premises, including the location and capacity of light fixtures, electrical receptacles and other clectrical Llcsncnts, and to
prepare all of the i Tenant and the Space Planner in connection with pl clated issues
involved in designing the Premises and to prepare all of the plumbing plans and (iv) assist oot su\d the Space Planner
in connection with the structural elements of the Space Planner’s design of the Premises and to prepare all of the structural
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plans. Al fees of the Engineers shall be borne solely by Tenant, subject to application of the Tenant Improvement
Allowance as hereinafter provided.

Ths Tenant's Work shall be based upon the preliminary test fit plan described on the

attached S 3 P -y Plans®), which have been approved by both parties.
®) nant Plans Development.
[©) Within five (5) business days following the Effective Date, Tenant shall deliver to
Landlord final layout and proposed finishes for np]no\/z\l (the “Final Documents™) prepared by the Space Planner, in
Itation with and the E he Final Documents shall contain the information and otherwise
comply with the requirements therefor descri ll)ed in Schedule C-3 attached hereto.

i) Wwitl seven (7) business days after Tenant delivers to Landlord the Final
Documents, Landlord shall advise Tenant of Landlord's approval or disapproval of the Final Document ‘enant shall
promptly revise the proposed Final Documents to meet Landlord's objections, if any, and resubmit the Final
Documents to Landlord for its review and approval within three (3) days of Tenant's receipt of Landlord's
objections, if any. If Tenant desires to make re
been approved, then such changes shall be made only pursuant to Paragraph 2(d) hereof.

Within ten (10) business days after Landlord approves l]\c Final
Tenant shall furnish to Landlord for its review and approval, all architectural plans, working dra

(the "Contract Pocaments™) necessary and sufficient (i) for the construction of the Tenant's ch ki and ¢
Tenant to obtain a building permit for the construction of the Tenant's Work by the Contractor (hereinafler defined). The
Contract Documents shall contain the information and otherwise comply with the requirements therefore described in
Schedule C-4 attached hereto and shall set forth the location of any core drilling by Tenant (the approval of same shall
be subject to Landlord's approval in its sole discretion). Landlord shall advise Tenant of Landlord's approval or
isapproval of the Contract Documents, or any of them, within ten (10) business days after Tenant submits the Contract
Documents to Landlord. Tenant shall promptly revise the Contract IDocuments to meet Landlord's objections, if any, and
resubmit the Contract Documents to Landlord for its review and approval within three (3) days of Tenant's receipt of
Landlord's objections, ifany. Landlord shall advise Tenant of Landlord's approval or disapproval of the revised Contract
Documents wi five (5) business days after Tenant submits same. This iterative process shall continue until Landlord
and Tenant mutually agree upon the Contract Documents for Tenant’s Work. Notwithstanding anything herein to the
contrary, approval by Landlord of the Contract Documents shall not constitute an assurance by Landlord that the Contract
Documents: (a) satisfy applicable law, (b) are sufficient to enable Tenant to obtain a building permit for the undertaking
ofthe Tenant's Work in the Premises, or (¢) will not interfere with, and/or otherwise affect, base Building or base Building
systems. Tenant shall be solely responsible for causing the Final Documents and Contract Documents 10 be in
compliance with applicable building codes.

vy The Contract Documents, as revised (if revised), once they have been approved by
Landiord. are hereinafler referred to as the “Tenant's Plans”. Landlord's approval of the Contract Dosuments and
changes thereto will not be d or delayed, except to the extent the same adversely affects
the sueture of the Building or adversely affoets the systems of the Building, In the ovent Landlord disapproves the
Contract Documents, Landlord shall include Landlord’s reason for disapproval and the changes required in the same so
that they will meet Landlord’s approval.

Tenant's ka shall be of firstclass quality. commensurate with the level of
tenant in a first-class office building in the Reston, Virginia area. The Tenant's Plans sl
h a Data Cadd or cunvcnlxblc DXF format for working drawings (using 1/8" rey anclhle
drawings) in conformity with the Base Building Improvements and Building systems and with information furnished by
ation with Landlord and Engincers. Tenant's Plans shall comply with all applicable building codes, laws

egulations (including the ADA), shall not contain any improvements which interfere with or require any changes
to or modifications of the Building's HVAC, mechanical, electrical. plumbing, life safety or other systems or to other
Building operations or functions, and, unless Tenant agrees in writing to pay all such excess costs or charges, shall not
for operating the Building in excess of the standard requirements for normal first-

class office buildings in the Reston, Virginia area. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Work
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Agreement, Landlord shall have the right to disapprove, in its sole discretion, any portion of the Tenant's Plans that
Landlord believes will or may affcct the exterior or structure of the Building or will or may affect the mechanical,
electrical, plumbing, life safety, HVAC or other base Building systems.

vid ‘Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, Tenant shall reimburse
ndlord, within ten (10) days after demand therefor, for all actual, reasonable, ont-of-pocket costs and expenses
red by Landlord in connection with Landlord's, or its agents, review of Tenant's Plans.

© Iding Changes. If Tenant requests work to be done in the Premises or for the benefit
of the Premises that necessitates revisions or changes in the design or construction of the base Building or Building
systems, any such changes shall be subject to prior written approval of Landlord, in its sole discretion, and Tenant shall
be responsible for all costs and delays resulting from such design revisions or construction changes, including
architectural and engincering charges, and any special permits or fees atiributed thereto. Before any such design and/or
construetion changes are made, Tenant shall pay to Landlord the full costs incurred by Landlord in connection with such
changes including without limitation the Construction Supervision Fee (hercinafter defined) attributable thereto, or,
at Landlord’s clection, Landlord shall deduct such amounts from the Tenant Improvement Allowance.

(d)y Changes.

i Once the Tenant's Plans have been approved by Landlord and Tenant, no changes shall
be made to the Tenant's Plans without the prior written approval of Landlord, which approval shall not be unreasonably
withheld, conditioned or delayed, provided, however, that Landlord shall have the right to disapprove, in its sole
discretion, any such change that Landlord believes will (x) adversely affect the exterior or structure of the Building, ()
will be secen from the exterior of the Premises, or (y) will adversely affect the mechanical, electrical, plumbing, life
safety, HVAC or other base Building systems. All requests for Change Orders (hereinafter defined) shall be in writing.
Landlord shall not be responsible for delay in by Tenant of any changes to the Tenant Plans afier
approval by Landlord and Tenant. As used herein, the term “Change Order” shall mean any change in the Tenant
Plans.

(i) In the event that Tenant requests any changes to the Tenant Plans after Tenant and
Landlord have approved same, and Landlord approves such changes, Tenant shall be responsible for all costs and
expenses and for all delay resulting therefrom, including without limitation costs or expenses relating to (i) any
additional architectural or engineering services and related design expenses, (ii) any changes to materials in process
of fabrication, (iii) cancellation or modification of supply or fabricating contracts, or (iv) removal or alteration of work
or plans completed or in process. Tenant sha quired to pay the costs incurred in connection with any changes
to the Tenant Plans to Landlord, in full, within ten (10) days after invoice, or, at Landlord’s election, Landlord shall
deduct such amounts from the Tenant Improvement Allowance.

3. COST OF THE TENANT'S WORK
@) The term “Cost of Fenant's Work™ shall (A) mean all of the hard and direct costs of
construction of the Tennnl’s Work, (B) all costs of design, an i incurred in connection with

the Tenant's Work (i obtaining all 1), and (O all demolition costs, and (13) all direet and
construction costs, insurance, bonds and other requirements, any Change Orders, and the Construction Supervision Fee.
All Cost of Tenant's Work shall be paid by Tenant, subject, however, to the application of the Tenant Improvement
Allowance described in Paragraph 3(b), below. not previously disbursed pursuant to this Work Agreement (the
“Available Allowance). Tenant shall deliver to Landlord a budget for the Cost of Tenant’s Work (“Budget™)
simultancously with Tenant's submittal of the ccxm-m;c f)nc\u'ncnle which Budget shall be subject to the approval of
Landlord, not to be unreasonably 1d, cor

ndirect

(k) Landlord shall provide an allowance up to the amount of the Tenant Improvement Allowance set forth in
the Basic Lease Information, based on the terms and conditions set forth below, 10 be applied solely to the Cost of
Tenants Work. Notwithstanding the foregoing Tenant shall be permitied (o use the Tenant Improvement Allowance

& costs, th and install of furniture, fixtures, equipment and telecommunications cabling, and
any applicable project fees until the Tenant Improvement Allowance has been totally depleted. Provided that
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Tenant has fully performed all of its obligations under the Lease and this Work Agreement, the Cost of Tenant's Work shall
be disbursed by Landlord fiom the Available Allowance, as and when such costs are actually incurred by Tenant.
Tenant shall submit to Landlord, from time to time, but not more often than once per calendar month, requests for
direct payments to third parties, of or for reimbursement to Tenant for Cost of Tenant's Work incurred by Tenant
out of the Available Allowance, which requests shall be accompanied by (a) paid receipts or invoices substantiating the
costs for which payment is requested; (b) a signed statement from Tenant certifying that the costs were actually incurred for
the stated amount; () lien waivers from the party supplying the services or materials for which payment is sought; and ()
such other information as Landlord reasonably requires. Provided Tenant delivers to Landlord an approved draw request,
prepared as set forth above, Landlord shall pay the costs covered by such payment request within thirty (30) days
following receipt thereof (but Landlord shall not be obligated to make more than one (1) such payment in any
calendar month). Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall Landlord be obligated to pay. in the aggregate, an
amount in excess of eighty percent (80%%) of the Tmpr ATl until sati ion of the foll conditions:

enant's occupancy of the Premises: (13) Tenant's execution and delivery to Landlord of the Declaration of Lease
Conmmencement attached to the Lease as Exhil (C) receipt by Landlord of appropriate paid receipts or invoices and a
final lien waiver from cach subcontractor and supplier & all work d by the and all materials
used in connection with the construction of the Tenant's Work: and () Tenant's delivery to Landlord of all receipts, invoices
or other documentation necessary to substantiate all costs payable by Landlord hereunder. All amounts of Available
Allowance remaining unused on the date that is one (1) year after the Commencement Date shall be automatically
deemed forfeited by Tenant and retained by Landlord. Notwithstanding the . L rd and Tenant
acknowledge and agree that Landlord, or its affiliate, acting as the Construction Supervisor for Tenant’s
Worls, shall pay the Contractor (and any other vendors providing materials and Iabor for Tenant's Worl)
the Tenant Imr Al y and no funds shall be paid to Tenant directly from the Tenant
Improvement Allowance.

©) Costs Exceeding Available Allowance. All Cost of Tenant's Work outstanding upon
exhaustion of the Tenant Improvement Allowance shall be borne exclusively by Tenant, and Tenant agrees to indemnify
Landlord from and against any such costs. Within ten (10) days after the Contractor (hercinafter defined) is selected
n accordance with Section 4(a) hereinbelow, Tenant shall déposit with Landlord the difference between (i) the Cost
of Tenant's Work and (ii) the Available Allowance (“Excess Cost”). The initial estimate of Excess Cost shall be
based upon the construction contract and other known sums at the time of Contracior selection. Once the full
amount of the Excess Cost held by Landiord has been used to pay Cost of Tenant's Work, Landlord shall apply the
Tenant Improvement Allowance to Cost of Tenant's Work as provided above. All amounts payable by Tenant

pursuant to this Work Agreement shall be deemed to be Additional Rent for purposes of the Lease. If required by
Landlord, Tenant shall provids evidence satisfactory to Landlord that Tenant has sufficient fands available to pay
all Cost of Tenant's Work in excess of the Tenant Improvement Allowance.

C ‘Test Fit Allowance. In addition to the Tenant Iimprovement Allowance, Tenant shall receive
an allowance in the amount of twelve cents ($0.12) per rentable square foot of the Premises, which shall be applied
towards a test fit for the Premises (“Test Fit Allowance™. The Test Fit Allowance shall be payable upon receipt of an
invoice therefor from Tenant.

4. CONSTRUCTION

a Contractor. Tenant shall retain a general contractor licensed in the Commonwealth of Virginia
and approved by Landlord, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, to undertake
ction of Tenant’s Work (the "Contractor™). The Contractor shall be responsible for obtaining, at Tenant's cost,
approvals required for the construction of the Tenant's Work. In undertaking the Tenant's Work, Tenant
and the Contractor shall strictly comply with the following conditions:

[} No work involving or affecting the Building's structure or the plumbing, mechanical,
electrical or life/safety systems of the Building shall be undertaken without (i) the prior written approval of Landlord
s sole diseretion, whether pursuant to its approval of Tenant's Plans or otherwise, (ii) the supervision of Landlord's
building engineer. the actual cost of which shall be borne by Tenant if more than one (1) hour of such engineer's
time is spent in connection with the Tenant Improvements during any single day; (iii) compliance by Tenant with
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the insurance requirements set forth in Par
terms and pro

graph 4(a)(iii), below; and (iv) compliance by Tenant with all of the
ons of this Work Agreement;

Gi) All Tenant Tmprovement work shall be performed in strict conformity with (A) the
final approved Tenant's Plans; (B) all applicable codes and regulations of governmental authorities having jurisdiction
over the Building and the Premises; (C) valid building permits and other authorizations from appropriate governmental
agencics, when required, which shall be obtained by Tenant. at Tenant's expense; and (D)) Landlord's construction
policies, rules and regulations, as the same may be reasonably modified by Landlord from time to time
("Construction Rules'). Any work not acceptable to the appropriate go ies or not
satisfactory to Landlord shall be promptly replaced at Tenant's sole expense. Notwithstanding any failure by Landlord
to object 16 any such work, Landlord shall have no responsibility therefor; an

Gii) Before any work is commenced or any of Tenant's, Contractor's or any subcontractor's
equipment is moved onto any part of the Building, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord policies or certificates evidencing the
following types of insurance coverage in the following minimum amounts, which policies shall be issued by companies
approved by Landlord, shall be maintained by Tenant at all times during the performance of the Tenant Improvements,
and which shall name Landlord as additional insured:

[o5) Worker's compensation coverage in the maximum amount required by law
and employer’s liability insurance in an amount not less than $500,000.00 and $500,000.00 per discase;
(€55 Commercial general liability policy to include products/completed

operations, premises/operations, blanket contractual broad form property damage and contractual liability with limits in
an amount per occurrence of not less than $1.000,000.00 Combined Single Limit for bodily injury and property damage
and $1,000,000.00 for personal injury; and

«) Automobile  liabi

ty coverage, with bodily injury limits of at least
$1.000,000.00 per accident.

O] truction Supervision. All Tenant's Work shall be performed by the Contractor. Tenant
hereby selects Landlord, or Landlord’s affiliate (the “Construction Supervisor™), to act as Tenant’s construction
manager for the performance of Tenant’s Work at no cost to Tenant.

© Landlord Inspecti

Landlord is authorized, at its sole cost and expense, to make such
inspections of the Premises during constr ic

n as it deems bl; or ¢

d Delays. If Li shall be delayed in st Iy completing the Landlord's Work or in
delivering the Premises to Tenant, as a result of any act, neglect, failure or omission of Tenant, its employees or agents
(including without limitation any contractor or subcontractor employed by Tenant performing work at the Premises),
such delay shall be deemed a “Tenant Delay.” Tenant Delay shall not posipone or defer the Commencement Date, the
Rent Commencement Date or Tenant’s obligation to pay Rent as of the Rent Commencement Date, but the
Commencement Date and Rent Commencement Date shall occur on the day when it would otherwise have occurred
if such delay or delays had not occurred. In addition, Tenant shall pay to Landlord all additional costs incurred by
Landlord resulting from any Tenant Delay within ten (10) days after demand therefor by Landlord. Any costs payable
by Tenant to Landlord hercunder may be satisfied from the Tenant Improvement Allowance and shall be deemed to be
Additional Rent under the Lease, and in the event of any default by Tenant in any payment thereof, Landlord shall (in

i hts and remedies) have the same rights and remedies arising under the Lease in the event of an
Event of Default regarding the payment of Rent. Landlord shall be entitled to suspend construction of any of the
Landlord's Work and/or performance of any of Landiord's obligation hereunder while Tenant is late on the payment of
any amount payable under the Lease (inciuding without limitation, any provision of this Work Agreement) or while
Tenant is in violation or default of any provision of the Lease (including without limitation, any provision of the
Work Agreement), beyond the expiration of any applicable notice and cure period, and any delay resulting therefrom
shall be deemed a Tenant Delay.
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5. TENANT’S AGENT. Tenant hereby designates Scot Miller whose address is 1900 Reston Metro
Plaza, 10" Floor, Reston, Virgi 20190 and whose telephone number is 703.230.1985, to act as Tenant’s agent for
purposes of authorizing and executing any and all documents, workletters or other writings and changes thereto needed
to effect this Work Agreement, and any and all changes, additions or deletions to the work contemplated herein, and
Landlord shall have the right to rely on any documents exccuted by such authorized party. Landlord shall not be required
ta proceed with any Tenant's Work without authorization by Tenant’s Agent.

6. EARLY ACCESS. For the period commencing approximately three (3) wecks prior to the date
T.andlord anticipates the Commencement Date will occur and ending on the day immediately preceding the
Commencement Date (the “Pre-Occupaney Period™),. subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this
Paragraph 6, Tenant and its consultants and contractors shall be permitted to enter the Premises solely for the
purpose of installing Tenant’s voice and data cabling and wiring, furniture, fixtures and equipment in the Premises;
provided that (i) Tenant shall have delivered copies of certificates evidencing the existence and amounts of
insurance required by Landlord prior to Tenant’s initial entry into the Premises 1g the Pre-Oceupancy Period,
and (ii) Tenant shall be responsible for obtaining any and all permits necessary to install such materials or equipmen
prior 1o the installation thereof. In connection with the undertaking of any work by Tenant in the Premises during
the Pre-Occupancy Period, Tenant and Tenant’s contractors shall comply with the then-current construction rules
and regulations for the Building (the current col uction rules and regulations are attached to the Lease as Exhibit
M). Any such entry into and occupaney of the Premises by Tenant and its consultants and contractors shall be
deemed to be subject to all of the terms, covenants, conditions and provisions of the L.ease, specifically including
the provisions of Section 12 of the Lease, and excluding only the covenant to pay Base Rent. Tenant shall indemnif
Landiord and hold Landlord harmless from any injury to the Building (or any property in or around the Building)
or injury to, or death of, persons which occurs during the Pre-Occupancy Period and which results from the actions
of Tenant or its contractors during the Pre-Occupancy Period.

Schedule C-1 Base Building Improvements
Schedule C-2 Approved Test Fit

Schedule C-3 Requirements for Interim Plans
Schedule C-4 qui for € »
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SCHEDULE C-1
BASE BUILDING IMPROVEMENTS
Building Height 220 feet (total building height)

Building Stories 16 stories
Below Grade Parking 662 total parking spaces directly underncath Building

st of a cast-in-place post-tensioned conerete flat plate system using 30’ x 40’ typical bays
(limited fr ) Floor structure includes provisions for future addition of connecting stai

te:
between levels. The 5™ and 6"“ floors will be 80 Ib. psf live load and 20 1b. ps{ partition load.

Lobby/Exterior Glass

Thermally improved fixed aluminum curtain wall and window wall glazing systems with high performing Low E
insulated glazing; mullions spaced at five foot (5°) horizontal modules. Main lobby entry includes glazed vestibule with
glass doors tied to building access control system

Exterior Walls
Floor to ceiling glass finished to allow for Tenant fit out.

Building Load
Three (3
and ret:

ag/Access
total loading bays accessible from the southern Reston Station access road. [Two (2) exclusive to office
tenants and one (1) bay for a combination of waste removal and recycling.}

Elevators

Four (4) Low Rise Destination Dispatch elevators with 3,500 Ib. capacity service the 16% floor through the Ground
floor. Three (3) parking shuttle elevators will service the parl g floors G8 through the ground level. One 4,000 1b
capacity freight elevator will service floors G8 through 17.

Common Areas

Finished elevator openings, frames, sills and cab finishes. Elevator lobby walls will be dry-walled and taped,
prepared for future finishes.

Core Finishes

Doors above grade shall be veneer-faced; one and three-quarter inch (1.757) thick and not less than 7'-107 tal
core; painted welded hollow-metal frames with mortise type lever handled locksets in polished stainless stecl. Stai
doors to be equipped with electric mortise locksets tied to fire alarm system and building/tenant security system.

Restrooms

Fully ADA compliant restrooms. Restroom finishes include brushed stainless toilet partitions; polished quartz
vanities with chrome fixtures; frameless mirrors above the vanities extending, to ceiling level; floor tile with
matching six-inch (6™ base tile and full-height tiles at wet walls; vinyl wall coverin; Painied coilings: and auiomatic
water-saving, sensor-operated vanity faucets and urinal and toilet flushometers.

Parking Garage
Parking for approximately six hundred and sixty-two (662) selfzparked spaces below grade, with at least 531 available
for office. Parking provisions for bieycles shall be provided in the G 1 bilte room and at sidewalk fovel. Patking lovels
shall receive the following finishes/features:

. P

rted wafTic stripping, directional arrows, curbing and stop bars
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- Glass screened vestibules at shuttle elevators

Telephone/Data

1 connect
h six-inch

Four-inch (4”) conduits for incoming service conductors by local providers. Four-inch (4”) conduits wi
main telephone room to the vertically stacked telephone closets. Telephone closets will be provided w
(6") sleeves for installation of future tenant service cables.

HVAC System

Dedicated Outside Air System (IDOAS) with Sensible Cooling Fan Terminal Units: chilled water is produced by a
ooled chilled water plant with high-efficiency centrifugal chillers and cooling towers. Chilled water is
distributed to a central dedicated outside air supply (IDOAS) VAV Air Handling Unit located in the penthouse.
Sensible Cooling Fan Terminal Units (SCETU) (similar to VAV units) are located above the ceilings of each floor
on which the Premises is located, cach with a cooling coil located on the terminal unit plenum inlet.

Central DOAS Air Handling Unit delivers low dewpoint (50-52F) air to each of the floors on which the Premises is
located via a supply air shafl in the core.

Low dewpoint outside air (primary air) and medium temperature chilled water are delivered via ductwork/piping to
SCFTU's above the ceiling. SCEFTUs deliver a mixture of primary air and cooled plenum to satisfy the space
temperature setting. The majority of the space cooling needs are delivered by the SCFTU chilled water coils.

AHU units are not provided at each floor. AHU systems are at the penthouse only.

Supplemental Cooling
Access to a 24/7 chilled water loop will be provided to all office tenants. Sub-mete
system shall be borne by tenant.

hg costs for accessing this

Plumbing System

Connection points for domestic cold water, waste and plumbing vent will be provided at two points along the core.
Electrical System

Network service will be provided by Dominion Power transformers located below grade. Secondary service at
277/480 volts for the Building provided by two 4,000-amp switchboard located in the basement. Two 4,000-amp
bus ducts riser through the Building to the penthouse.

Fire and Life Safety

There will be a central addressable fire alarm system with a fire command station located in the main lobby. The
Building will be fully equipped with an automated sprinkler system and valved connection at each floor on which the
Premises is located to the main loop and branch piping, per Fairfax County code requirements. The Building will be
equipped with a voice alarm and signaling system in aceordance with high-ris ding code requirements.

Emergency Power

RBase Building will be equipped with an emergency diesel standby generator (3-phase, 4-wire, 265/460 volt, 350 kw at
0.8 PF) shall provide power to exit lights, emergency white lights, fire alarm system, elevators (one per bank at a time),
fire pumps and other appropriate systems.

Energy Management

Temperature controls shall be computer based DIDC/electronic type Building Automation System (BAS). The BAS
shall function on “Peer to Peer” distributed control system with a network of decentralized stand-alone control units,
terminal control units, ete. A central operator’s control station shall be furnished with computer operator’s terminal,
color graphics command/control system, software, two modems, two color printers and two hand-held portable
operator’s terminals. System shall be capable of WEB or LAN based communication protocol. Interface shall also
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include alarm monitoring/reporting for the Building Fire/Life Safety systems, sewage ejectors, duplex sump pumps,
domestic water booster pumps, cimergency generators and associated fuel oil storage tanks.
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SCHEDULE C-2

APPROVED TEST FIT
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SCHEDULE C-3
REQUIREMENTS FOR FINAL DOCUMENTS

Floor plans, together with related information for mechanical, electrical and plumbing design work, showing

on arrangement and reflected ceiling plans (three (3) sets), incl 2 the following information:
a. identify the location of conference rooms and density of occupancy:
b. indicate the density of occupancy for all rooms:

identify the location of any food service arca;

d. identify areas, if any, requiring twenty-four (24) hour air conditioning;

e. indicate those partitions that are to extend from floor to underside of structural slab above or require
special acoustical treatment;

identify the location of rooms for, and layout of, telephone equipment other than building core telephone
closet:
e identify the locations and types of plumbing required, other than core facilities;

h. in

ate light switches in offices, conference rooms and all other rooms in the Premises;

i indicate the layouts for speci installed i including i and duplicating equipment,
the size and capacity of mechanical and electrical services required and heat rejection of the equipment;

i indicate the dimensioned location of: (A) electrical receptacles (one hundred twenty (120) volits),
including receptacles for wall clocks, and telephone outlets and their respective locations (wall or floor), (1B) electrical
receptacles for use in the operation of Tenant’s business cquipment which requires two hundred eight (208) volts or
separate electrical cireuits, (C) electronic caleulating and CRT systems, etc.. (D) special audio-visual requirements, and
(E) computers, servers and other electronic equipmen

k. indicate proposed layout of sprinkler and other life safety and fire protection equipment, including any
special equipment and raised flooring:

1 indicate the swing of each door:

m. indicate a schedule for doors and frames, with hardware, if appli and

n. indicate any special file systems to be installed.
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SCHEDULE C-4

REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

Final architectural detail and working drawings, finish schedules and related plans (three (3) reproducible sets)

including the following information and/or mee!

£ the following conditions:
materials, colors and designs of wallcoverings, floor coverings and window coverings and finishes;

paintings and decorative treatment required to complete all construction:

complete, finished, detailed mechanical, « bing and structural plans and specifications for
the Tenant Improvements, including but not limited to the fire and life ssfery systems and all work
necessary to connect any special or non-standard facilities to the se

and

all final drawings and blucprints must be drawn to a scale of one-cighth (1/8) inch to one (1) foot. Any
architect or designer acting for or on behalf of Tenant shall be deemed 1o be Tenant’s agent and
authorized to bind Tenant in all respects with respect o the design and construction of the Premises.

for all new construction, Tenant shall, if it so eleets in its sole diseretion purchase from Landlord (or its
ers) and install in the Premises the following building standard equipment and materials: (1)
ceiling tiles and suspension system, (2) diffusers, (3) doors (interior and exterior) and (4) door frames
and hinges: and

the Lease, Tenant
nes IIS of the Building

notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, in the Work Agreement or
shall not request any work which would: (1) require changes to structural comy
(unless Tenant agrees to pay for such changes) or the exterior design of the Building; (2) require any
material modification to the Building’s mechanical installa nstallations ouls|dc the Premises,
unless Tenant agrees to pay for such modifications); (3) not comply with all applicable laws, rules,
regulations and requirements of any governmental department having jurisdiction over the construction
of the Building and/or the Premises, including specifically the Americans With Disabilities Act: (4) be
incompatible with the building plans filed with the appropriatc governmental agency from which a
building permit is obtained for the construction of the Tenant Improvements or with the occupancy of’
the Building as a first-class office building; or (5) materially delay the completion of the Premises or
any part thercof. Tenant shall not unreasonably oppose or delay changes required by any governmental
agency to the plans for the Tenant Improvements in the Premises.
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EXHIBI

DECLARATION OF LEASE COMMENCEMENT
This Declaration of Lease Commencement is dated as of November

1, 2020 between CRS PLAZA 1, LC,
a Virginia limited liability company (“Landlord>) and COMSTOCK HOLDING COMPANIES, INC. (“Tenant™)

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant are parties to that certain Deed of Lease dated November 1. 2020 (the
“Lease™) relating to premises in the project known as Reston Station, located in Fairfax County, Virginia.

NOW, THERE

ORE, Landlord and Tenant hereby confirm as follows:

he Commencement Date of the Premises is November 1, 2020

B, The Rent Commencement Date of the Lease is November 1, 2020 and the scheduled Expiration Date
is October 31, 2030, unless sooner terminated in accordance with the 1.case.

3. The Net Rentable Area of the Premises is approximately 21,852 square feet.

4. No free rent, rent abatements, al nd other ions are currently due and owing to Tenant
from Landlord in connection w.m the Plcn'nsns except with respect to any final reimbursements from the
Tenant Improvement Allowance.

ER

Capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meaning given to such terms

the Lease.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF Landlord and Tenant have executed this Declaration as of the date first set forth
above.

LANDLORD:

CRS PLAZA I,
a Virginia limited hablllly company

APPR.
[SEAL BY WA
_LEGAL -
TENANT:
COMSTOCK HOLDING COMPANIES, INC.
a Delaware corporation
y P F
N Ch hor Guthric ’ ‘(
Hle: Chiof Fianeinl Officer U
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EXHIBIT H
FORM OF SUPERIOR MORTGAGEE SNDA

(see attached)




EXHIBIT I
RUL. AND REGULATIONS

1. The sid ks, lobbies, | elevators and stairways shall not be obstructed by the Tenant and
used by the Tenant for any purposes other than ingress and egress from and to the Tenant's offic: The Landlord
shall in all cases retain the right to control or prevent access thereto by any person whose presence, in the Landlord's
reasonable judgment, would be prejudicial to the safety, peace, character or reputation of the Building or of any
tenant of the Building. No Tenant shall permit the visit to the Premises of persons in such numbers or under such
conditions as to interfere with the use and enjoyment by other tenants of the entrances, corridors, elevators and other
public portions or facilities of the Building.

2. The Tenant shall not use the toilet rooms, water closets, sinks, fa\lcet: plul'\\blllg and other service
apparatus of any kind for any purpose other than those for which thcy were insta Tenants shall not use
restrooms or drinking fountains for washing dishes. No sweepings, rubb rags, a<hes chemicals or other refuse
or injurious substances shall be intentionally placed in restrooms or used in connection therewith by the Tenant, or
feft by the Tenant in the lobbies, passages, or stairways of the Building.

= No skylight., window, door or transom of the Building shall be covered or obstructed by the Tenant,
and no window shade, blind, curtain, screen, storm window, awning or other material shall be installed or placed
on any window or in any window space, except as approved in writing by the Landlord. If the Landlord has installed
or hereafter installs any shade, blind or curtain in the Premises, the Tenant shall not remove it without first obtaining
the Landlord's written approval thereto. Tenant shall have the right to install Building standard swindow
blinds/systems in the Premises,

4. No sign, lettering, insignia, advertisement, notice or other thing shall be inscribed, painted,
nstalled, erected or placed in any portion of the Premises which may be seen from outside the Premises, or on any
window, window space or other part of the exterior or interior of the Building, unless first approved in writing by
the Landlord In the event that Tenant violates the foregoing, Landlord may remove such unapproved sign(s)
without liability, and may charge the expense incurred by such removal to the Tenant. Names on suite entrances
shall be provided by and only by the Landlord in accordance with the Lease, using in each instance lettering of a
design and in a form consistent with the other lettering in the Building, and first approved in writing by the Landlord.
Other than as specifically provided in the lease, the Tenant shall/will not evect any stand, booth or showease or other
article or matter in or upon the Premises and/or the Building without first obtaining the Landlord's written approval
thereto.

5. Other than as specifically provided in the Lease, the Tenant shall not place any additional lock,
security devices, or graphics upon any door or wall within or outside the Premises or elsewhere in the Building
without Landlord's approval, and shall surrender all keys for all such locks at the end of the Term. All locks that are
approved by Landlord shall be coordinated with the Building’s keying system. The Landlord shall provide the Tenant
with one set of keys to the Premises when the Tenant assumes possession thereof.

Tenant shall not do or permit to be done anything which unreasonably obstr nterferes with
the rights of any other tenant of the Building, The Tenant shall not keop anywhore within the Building any matter
having an offen -, or any kerosene, gasocline, benzene, camphene, fuel or
flammable material. ycles, pets or other animals (with the exception of dogs reg
to visually impaired or disabled individuals) shall be kept in or about the Pt
any time.

tered to provide assistance
mises or brought into the Building at

So that the Premises may be kept in a good state of preservation and cleanliness. the Tenant shall,
while in l]lL possession of the Premises, permit only the Landlord's employees and contractors to clean the Premises
unless prior thereto the Landlord otherwise consents in writing. The Tenant shall make reasonable efforts to sece
cach day that the doors are securely locked before leaving the Premises, and that all lights and standard office
equipment within the Premises (including personal computers and printers not in use) arc turned off.
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8. Other than as approved by Landlord as part of the initial improvements to the Prem
desires to install signaling, telegraphic, telephonic, protective alarm or other wires, apparatus or devices within the Premises,
the Landlord shall approve where and how they are to be installed and, except as so directed, no installation, boring or
cutting shall be permitted. The Landlord shall have the right (a) to prevent or interrupt the transmission of unreasonably
excessive, dangerous current of electricity or otherwise into or through the Building or the Prer (b) 1o require the
changing of wiring connections or layout, at the Tenant's expense, to the extent that the Landlord may reasonably deem
necessary to comply with current clectrical codes except with respect to initial installation, (c) to require compliance with
such reasonable rules as the Landlord may establish relating thereto, and (d) in the event of noncompliance with such
requirements or rules, upon prior written notice and failure to cure (except in event of emergency) immediately to cut wi
to do else it 'y to remove the danger, annoyance or elcctrical interference witl
part of the Building. Each wire installed by the ‘Tenant must be clearly tagged at each distributing board and junction box
and elsewhere where required by Landlord, with the number of the office to which such wire leads and the purpose for
which it is used, together with the name of the Tenant or other concern, if any, operating or using it.

cs, if the Tenant

¢

9. No furniture or large equipment may be received i
designated for such purpose by the Landlord, and only after

@

the Building, except during such hours as are
‘ecnant gives notice thereof to the Landlord. The
rdlord shall have the exclusive right to preseribe the method and manner in which any of the same is brought
into or taken out of the Building, and the right to exclude from the Building any heavy furniture, safe or other article
which in Landlord’s reasonable opinion may create a hazard and/or to require it to be located at a designated place
in the Premises. The Tenant shall not place any weight anywhere beyond the safe carrying capacity of the Building.
The reasonable cost of repairing any damage to the Building or any other part of the Project caused by taking any of the
same in or out of the Premises, or any damage caused while it is in the Premises or the rest of the Building, shall be borne
by the Tenant as Additional Rent.

10. Without the Landlord’s prior written consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed, (a) no connection shall be made to any electrical wite (excluding plugging into an existing
outlet) for running any fan, motor or other apparatus, device or equipment, (b) no large Iachinety of Ay Kind, other
than customary small business machinery and network equipment with an Internet service provider, shall be allowed in the
Premises, and (¢) no mechanic shall be allowed to work in arcas that may affect the base building systems in or
about the Building, other than one employed by the Landlord, unless approved in writing by Landlord.

11, The Landlord shall in no event be responsible for admitting or excluding any person from the
Premises. In case of invasion, hostile attack, insurrection, mob violence, riot. public excitement or other
commotion, explosion, fire or any casualty, the Landlord shall have the right to bar or limit access to the Building
to protect the safety of occupants of the Building, and/or any property within the Building.

2. The use of any room within the Building as sleeping quarters is strictly prohibited at all times.

13. The Tenant shall keep the windows and doors of the Premises (including those opening on corridors
and all doors between rooms entitled to receive heating or air conditioning service and rooms not entitled to receive
such service), closed while the heating or air conditioning system is operating, in order to minimize the energy used,
and to conserve the effectiveness of, such system. The Tenant shall comply with all reasonable Rules and Regulations
from time to time promulgated by the Landlord with respect to such system or their use.

4. Canvassing, soliciting and peddling in the Building are prohibited. Tenant shall cooperate to
prevent the same.

15, All Tenants® deliveries that require a hand truck or any other conveying equipment shall be brought
into the Building via the loading dock and freight elevator. No deliveries (other than courier and other small
deliveries brought in by hand) shall be permitted through the main lobby. Any hand trucks used in the Building
must be equipped with rubber tires.

enant shall be responsible for cleaning and maintenance of all suite finishes which are non-

standard, such as kitchens, private bathrooms, wallpaper, marble, wood flooring, special lights, ete. Should the

Exhibit I, Page 2




need for repairs or maintenance arise, Landlord can arrange for the work to be done at Tenant’s expense. Landlore
shall furnish and install light bulbs for the building standard fluorescent and incandescent fixtures only. Bulbs for
special fixtures shall be installed at the Tenant’s expense.

Kt The Building is a non-smoking building. Smoking of any and all types of products (including
electronic and vapor cigarettes) is prohibited at all times within the entire Project, including all leased premises, as
well as all public/common areas and parking arcas for the Project, including the parking garage structure. This
prohibition applies during business and non-business hours to restrooms, elevators, clevator lobbies, first floor
lobby, stairwells, common hallways, and any other Common Area, as well as to all areas within the premises leased
by tenants.

18. ng and Project is a weapons free environment. No tenant, owner of a tenant, officer or
employee of a tenant, visitor of tenant, contractor or subcontractor of tenant, or any other party shall carry weapons
(concéaled or not) of any kind in the building, or parking areas. This prohibition applies to all public areas, including
restrooms, clevators, elevator lobbics, first floor lobby, stairwells, common hallways, all areas within the leased
premises of tenants, all surface parking arcas and the surrounding land related to the building.
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For the Build
any tenant of the Building, some of which may also be covered by applicable bu
which relate to plumbing fi
indoor

p

IXEIBIT J

L

D CONDITIONS

£ to achieve LEED-CS certification, there are certain LEED req ements that shall be hllldlllé, upon
ing code. The requirements,
ture selection, minimum energy performance, banning of CFC-based refrigerants, and

nance (including environmental tobacco smoke control), are as follows:

quality perfo
Plumbing Fixtures [Water Efficiency (WIE)]

WEpP1 & WEc3: Water Use Reduction

itent: Maximize water eff]

Waslewatcr systems

Bind t L)

Wheraror tannnis ioatnll theit s plumibing fodures, fenant selections: muist mest or perfbir better iian the

LEED prerequisite baseline requirements as listed below. Retail tenants must have their plumbing fixtures
urinals,lavatories acrators, kitchen sink acrators, and showerheads, as appicable) approved by

or to

ciency within the building to reduce the burden on municipal water supply and

Low-Flow Pressure A
Retail Water Closets (1 6 gph

Retail Urinals (1.0 gpf)

-

e  Metering Faucet (0.09 gpm with auto shut-offs)
= Retail Faucet (0.5 gpm)

= Low-Flow Kitchen Sink (1.8 gpm)

« Shower (2.5 gpm)

= Shower (ADA) (1.5 gpm)

Energy Performance [Energy and Atmosphere (EA)]

EApZ & EAcl : Minimum Energy Performance
nt: To establish the level of energy efficiency for the tenant space systems to reduce
s 1 with ive energy use.

Because the base building has met the standards of ASHRAE Standard 90.1-2007, the tenant spaces must also
meet the requirements oEthe ASHRAL Standard 90.1-2007. Tenant spaces must comply with the mandatory
provisions of ASHRAE 901.2007. Tenant spaces must reduce connected lighting power density 10% below
that allowed by ASHRAE 90.1-2007 and install ENERGYSTAR-rated equipment for at least 50% (by rated
power) of ENERGYSTAR-cligible equipment installed as part of the tenant’s scope of work.

CrC-B 1] o P

I:Aps: Fundamental Refrigerant Management
ent: To reduce stratospheric ozone depletion.
ng Tenant LEED Requirement: Any HVA , refrigeration, or fire suppression system installed in the
building as part of a tenant scope of work, reg s as 10 who is responsible for installing it, must not use any
Chlorofluorocarbon (CFC)-based refrigerants ro. any reason.

EAcd: K

hanced Refrigerant Management
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Intent: To reduce ozone depletion and support carly compliance with the Montreal Protocol while minimizing
direct contributions to climate change.

Binding Tenant LEED Requirement: Any new refrigerant-using systems shall not use more than 0.5 pounds of
refrigerant.

Indoor Air Quality Performance [Indoor I ental Air Quality (EQ)]

ITEOp1 : Minimum Indoor Air Quality Performance

Intent: To establish minimum indoor air quality performance to enhance indoor air quality in buildings
Binding Tenant 1 B Juirements:

Tor any HVAC equipment installed within the tenant scope of work, mechanical and natural ventilation systems
must be designed to meet or exceed ASHRAE 62.1-2007.

viron

TEQp2: Envi tal Ty (ETS)

Intent: Prevent exposure of building occupants, indoor surfaces and ventiliation air distribution systems to
environmental tobacco smolke.

Buiding T nt LEED Requi

Tenants shall not smoke or permit any other person to smoke in the Leased Premises. The tenant hercby
acknowledges that smoking (a) is prohibited within the Building, including, but not limited to, any garage areas,
and (b) is prohibited in all outdoor areas that arc within twenty-five feet (257 of (i) an entry into any of the
building of the Project, or (i) any outdoor air intakes associated with the buildings in the Project.

TEQc2: Increased Ventilation
Intent: To provide additionat outdoor air ventilation to improve indoor air quality (JAQ) for improved occupant
comfort, well-being and productivity.

Binding Tenant Requirements: Increase breathing zone outdoor air ventilation rates to all occupied spaces by
at least 30% above the minimum rates required by ASHRAE Standard 62.1-2007 (with errata but without
addenda) as determined by the base building’s 1EQ Prerequisite 1: Minimum Indoor Air Quality Performance.

IEQe3: Indoor Air Quality Management Plan
Intent: To reduce indoor air quality (1AQ) problems resulting from construction or renovation and promote the
comfort and well-being of construction werkers and building occupants.
Binding Tenant Requirements:
Develop and implement an TAQ management plan for the construction and preoccupancy phases of the tenant
space as follows:
During construction, meet or exceed the recommended contiol measures of the Sheet Metal and A
Conditioning National Contractors Association (SMACNA) IAQ Guidelines For Occupied Buildings Unde
Construction, 2nd Edition 2007, ANSI/ SMACNA 008-2008 (Chapter 3).
Protect stored on-site and installed absorptive materials from moisture damage
If permanently installed air handlers are used during construction, filtration media must be used at each return
air grille that meets one of the following criteria below. Replace all filtration media immediately prior to
occupancy .
e Filtration media with a minimum efficiency reporting value (MERV) of 8 as determined by ASHRAFE
Standard 52.2-1999 (with errata but without addendal)
= Filtration media is Class F5 or higher, as defined by CEN Standard EN 779-2002, Particulate air
filters for general ventilation, Determination of the filtration performance
= Filtration media with a minimum dust spot efficiency of 30% or higher and greater than
= 90% arrestance on a particle size of 3—10 pg

1 and Pol Control
building exposure to potentially hazardous particulates and ehemical poll
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If Tenant space has direct access to the exterior, employ permanent entryway systems at least 10 feet
in Iength in the primary direction of travel for the capture of dirt and particul Acceptable sy
include grates, grills, and slotted . Roll-out mats are only when maintained on a
weekly basis by a contracted servicing agent.

Provide sufficient exhaust to create negative pressure and floor to deck walls/partitions in any spaces
where hazardous gases, chemicals, or other hazardous materials are stored.

Tenant space mechanical systems must use MERV 13 rated filters.

Hazardous liquid wastes or hazardous materials must be disposed of in appropriate building provided
spaces.
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EXHIBIT K
TDM COMPLIANCE
The TDM Plan for the Project requires the following with respect to office components of the Project:

1. Integration of r

nsportation information and education materials into office lecases.

2. A parking management plan for the Building.

3. Distribution of an employee benefits package to new tenants, including site-specific transit-related
information referencing the nearest Metro station and bus routes, and encouraging all employees to use
Metrorail, bus service, shuttle service, carpool/vanpool, bicycling or walking.

4. Landlord’s encouragement and agreement to coordinate Building tenants’ and their employees’
participation in the Washington Council of Government’s ride-matching and guavanteed ride home
programs.

5. Landlord’s encouragement of Building tenants to provide financial
other than by single occupancy vehicles.

ncentives to their employees to travel

6. Landlord’s advising each tenant that a private TDM program exists and encouragement that cach tenant
participate and contact the TIDM Prog: r (through I s property manager) or FCDOT for
participation opportunities.

7. Landlord’s reservation of no fewer than three (3) parking spaces convenient to parking garage entrance and
exit points for car and vanpools. which spaces shall be clearly identified as so reserved.

8. Landlord’s encouragement of Buildi

2 tenants to offer employce benefit options including pre-tax/payroll
subsidies for transit and van pool fares, flex time and alternative work schedule prog:
incentives and telework programs.

-ams, live-near work

In addition, the TDM Plan requires a that a survey be developed that is targeted at measuring how the office
employees achieve the trip reduction goals. This survey will eredit all non-single oceupancy vehicle (SOV) modes
toward the trip reduction goal. Tenant shall respond and encourage its employees to respond in order to evaluate
the effectiveness of the TDM Plan.
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EXHIBIT M
ALTERATIONS RULES AND REGULATIONS
(sece attached)
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Comstock Companies
Contractor Rules and Regulations
Revised 11/7/2018

Please complete and sign the information below. All Architects, General Contractor
and all sub-contractors must individually complete the acknowledgement and
acceptance form. Upon completion, please Email to, Attention: 'TBID»

ACKNOWLEDGMENT & ACCEPTANCE

Acknowledged and Accepted Date

Print Name

Title

Type of Work Performed

Print Company Name

Phone Number

Name of Tenant

A FULLY COMPLETED AND SIGNED COPY OF THESE RULES AND
REGULATIONS MUST BE RETURNED TO THE PROPERTY MANAGER,
PRIOR TO COMMENCING WORK BY THE ARCHITECT, ENGINEER,
GENERAL CONTRACTOR AND EACH SUB-CONTRACTOR.
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Comstock Companies
Rules of the Site

Project: Reston Station, Suite Tenant Improvements for _ Date: .20

These rules and regulations (“Rules of the Site™) govern work at the project, i upon
arecas (collectively, the “Site”™). The Rules of the Site have been estab by Owner, are adin
Owner’s Representative and are provide the guidelines under which the Contractor must operate.
Parties: CRS Plaza I, LC is the “Owner”. CIDS Asset LC is to act on behalf of the Owner
and to designate the Owner’s on-site representative (the “On-Site Manager™).

pporti
istered by

A. Prior To Commencement of Work

1. Insurance Requirements: Prior to the commencement of Contractor’s work, Contractor and cach of its
must p with the set forth in Attachment A,
AnA Farnials €0 OWhor 6 GerHOAte OF INmurance Cvidoneing The TEquired covernges. Any sortificats not in
approved form, which is incomplete, or which does not clearly indicate the work to be performed wi
Contractor must keep the insurance in full force until acceptance of the work by Owner. Insurance shall be modifiable or
cancelable only on 60 days prior written notice to Owner from the insurance company via certified mail return
requested. Contractor shall obtain replacement coverage prior to the date of cancellation of the o
Contractor’s failure to obtain replacement coverage will constitute a default under the Contract Documents and
Owner shall have the right to oxcroise its remedies provided thorein, at law or in equity. Ownor shall also have right,
but not the nsu (& the
Contractor shall cease ok e e TSI ha] e e S Ll

ificate or insurance

ze.

% SHETegitics Bians Coniiactor it subn—u a Site Logistics Plan and reccive approval prior (o the start of construction.
“This plan should with respect to security, material loading., trash removal, antic; pa(ed
protection, flammable 1111(e| jal cabinets, fre extinguisher 1ocations, and , system . and pred

vertime to the extent possible. Under the sm, Logistics Plan, C. must date and Al
legal means of egress to the building exte:

B. Rules and Procedures for Wao

Ling in Occupied Space

The following are rules and procedures to be followed when working in or around tenant occupied areas:

1. Property Occupancy/Opera hy worlk that disturbs tenants such as welding, cutting, coring, x-raying,
chilled water distarbancas, use oF vc\lmlle materfals ete. must be performed afier normal business howrs, at Tenant
Contractors expense. “Normal Hor 2. Friday: 7:00 am — 6:00 pm,; Saturdeays:8:00 ani

— 5:00 pm; Sundays: all day.

2: Condusts Contrastorshall tuks xeasonabieionre to.sutomuard the Sitey and shsll promptiyiropaiy any-damege cngssd
by Contractor and/or its subcontractors and shall restore the Site to the con: ting before such activity.
Contractor shall be responsible for all of its actions on the Site as well as those of its Subcontractors, Sappliors, asents
and visitors. No loud, sbusive or otherwise offensive langunge or actions will be allowed. Contractor shall

promptly remove from the Site any employee deemed inappropriate or is not on the Site.
3. Quick R Team: C: shall i a quick team (and submit me team’s names) to respond to
“priority” items that may directly affect Site occupants. The team must be wi by

Contractor (pagers, cellular phone, 2-way radio, ete.) at Contractor’s expense.

4. Contractor Conflicts: In genoral, ail of Contractor's work must be scheduled so_that it in no way conflicts with,
interferes with or i the the Site. Any noisy operations 1o be performed other than during Normal

, must be scheduled m Ica;t 48 hours in advance.

Construction Hou

5. Existing Conditions:

a.  Contractor must review, in the pi £ Owners ive, the prior to taking over an
aren Trom Owner, and must hoeopt the work arca i cas s condlnon unless material deficiencies exist
which prevent Contractor from starting construction. 1f material de neies exist, Owner shall make the
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repairs necessary to enable Contractor to start construction, and then Contractor must accept the work area in
“as-is” condition.

Prior to the start of final finish work, Contractor shall create a vi or ph hic d ion of any
damaged arcas in proximity to Contractor’s work arca and shall provide a copy to Owner. This will establish
the condition of the space prior to construction start and clearly define Owner’s

(or base building contractor) responsibility for repairs and replacement. Failure to produce such
) ion will indi. the space by Contractor in “as-is” condition.

Owner’'s Representative may at any time require additional protection to protect the Site. Contractor shall restore the
premises affected by construction operations, including but not limited to the replacement of ceiling tile and
re-installing the covers on all electrical panels, prior to the start of the next business day.

d. All systems within the Site, unless specifically noted otherwise, are turned over to Contractor in an operable

condition. Non-working system or components of systems following any construction work are the
responsibility of Contractor to rectify.

e.  All work done by Con must be consis with the construction documents previously approved by Owner

£ Contractor must comply with applicable Building Standard Materials and encrgy efficient

hting requirements.

6. Project Start; Before Contractor will be allowed to move materials, equipment, or other items onto the Site, or
to commence construction of its work, Contractor must provide an acceptable Certificate of Insurance in
accordance with Attachment. Such permission will be given when suitable arrangements have been made. A copy of
these Rules of the Site, ledged and Yy C . must be posted at the Site in a location clearly
visible to all workers. It is Contractor’s responsibili y To Instruct its employees ﬁnd an sul):mnhactnxs to familiarize
themselves with these rules, and to enforce compliance with these rules at all times. Tenant will receive keys to the space.

7. Scourlty Deposit: Contractor shall provids a deposit sheck for $2,500, payable to Owner, The deposit will be returned
fter the Contractor has completed Tenant’s work provided that no rules have been violated, all Landlord’s punch list
items arc corrected, temporary utility fees are pmrn, trash removal fees are paid, utility shut-down fees are paid, as-bu
plans and lien s | and any to the Landlord’s or other fenant’s work has been repaired.

8. Trash Removal:

a. Contractor shall be required, s sole expense, to clean-up and remove on a daily basis rubbish via
designated construction exit/entrance to a central trash collection point and/or a container provided by Contractor
in a location designated by Owner. Contractor must at all times keep its area of work free from accumulations of
waste material, debris and rubbish caused by, or incidental to, Contractor’s work. Food and beverage related
waste material must be removed on a daily basis. Hazardous, noxious, or flammable materials shall not be left

als, or equipment

Ieft at any time in an undesignated area on the Site or in any Iocation following completion of Contractor’s work

will be disposed of by On-Site Coordinator at Contractor’s expense. The ofa D

must not be allowed o over-flow, must be emptied on a regular basis, and must be removed n\\u\ed\s\lely after

construction is completed.

on Site overnight without prior approval of On-Site Coordinator. Any debris, rubbish, materi

b.  All worl areas must be kept clean and safe. No trash is pewm
in any base building core arca will be subje

tted in the base building or parage. Any materials

to removal and disposal at Contractor’s expense without notice.

e @ s ible fo: all arcas of work under its control and/or accessed by its personnel,
including but limited to: stalrweys/imeans of cgress, I closet, temporary
s el - & ntral p ical rooms, loading dock and toilet rooms.

d. Use ing materials recor

by manufacturer of surface to be cleaned.

e.  Use cleaning materials which will not create hazards to health or property.

f. Al Trash must be removed via the freight elevator.

terials Delivery: A]l materials unloaded must be moved to its area of use unn\cdmlcly s0 as not to impact use

of this facility in any w Owner shall not be responsible ntractor’s materials anywhere on the
Site. Deliverics cannot b made botweon the hours of 6Gam to Qaln or from ?pm to 7pm, Mondays through Fridays only.
All deliveries via the freight . No obb;

10. Building Access:
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'] agents, and visitors may use only the designated building entrance for
Goeens to it ekl o Site: To the extent ﬂppllcal)le, c s v for pr ramps, door removal,
sccurity, and a dust free environment at this building entrance. Contractor, its subcontractors, agents, and visitors,
st arrange and coordinate all aocess © occupied areas of the property with On-Site Coordinaton

No contractors allowed in the main lobby.

Any work or repair that involves the following must be scheduled 48 hours in advance. saritary sewer tie-in, core
rilling, access (o the roaflop, or transportation of material to he roaf.

11. Vertical Transportation: Freight clevator only. No use of the passcenger clevators is permitted.

12. Temporary Utilities/Protection:

a.

uti
water.
all areas used for temporary service to an
Toilets: Contractor must provide their own “PortaJohn” in a loca specifically designated and

approved by Owner. Contractor shall submit an anticipated plc[eunon plan as part of the Site Log
Plan. Construction personnel shall not be permitted to use,

Contractor will be afforded acsess, If avallable, to tomporary utilitics including cleotricity and
Contractor must coordinate with On-Site Manager to connect to such service. Contractor must e
"as existing™ condition.

Contractor responsible for maintaining the cleanliness of bathroom in which they are working failure to do so
will cause privileges to be taken away. Contractor must cover all surfaces, walls and toilet partitions with core
x board or like materials. Contractor must stock the restroom and have the restroom cleaned and restocked at
the end of cach day.

s

rways: Contractor must keep stairways free from debris and mopped daily.

Doors: All core doors, including electrical, telephone, and mechanical area doors, are not to be opened
without an autho key, or wired open or mechanically blocked at any time. All doors found to be propped
open will be closed and locked.

Core Aleﬂ Mechanical, Elemnmal, Tﬁ‘lephone and Senvlce Elevator Vestibule: Contractor must
alk h Owner. Contractor shall restore all areas
(6 their original condition as zsxammhed prior to construstion q;an.

Dusty Work: Contractor shall notify Owner prior to the of any dusty work (e.g
sheotrock cutting, sanding, extensive sweeping, ote.) Contractor must install permanent filters and
replace disposable filters if units were operated during construction. Failure to make such prior
notification will result in Contractor absorbing any costs iated with returning any FIVAC equipment,
and any other existing improvements damaged by dust, to their original condition.

13, Sceurity:

a.

14. Site Damag.

Conteactor {xresponsibiefonhemeourlty oEtis:own maiorialysauipment ioole;and work:In place:in
< For & access to and from its work arcas.
or d representative at all times with keys or other
ss any arca i eonty by Contractor on Site.

must p
which are requ

Contractor shall be responsible for repairing any damage to the Site, existing tenants® or unit

owners® space, or other contractors® work caused by Contractor, or its agents, employees or subcontractors

15. Safety:

Contractor is responsible to ensure that the workplace is maintained in a safe and orderly manner for all
persons working therein. Contractor shall not engage in any labor practice that may impact other contractors”
k. Contractor shall comply with all applicable safety and health regulations (Federal, State, Local, and
OSHA) that pertain to its work on Site. If required, temporary fire protection equipment in accordance with
overning regulations, or as reasonably required by Owner's Representative, shall be provided by
Contractor at its sole expense.

e Coor

Contractor (and all subcontractors, as applicable) must supply On-
materials at least 48 hours before work commences:

ator with the following

1. A copy of their Hazard C. ication dard as required by OSHA.

Exhi
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2. A list of products and their hazardous substances which Contractor and/or its subcontractors
plan to use. The list should include dates and shifts. The list must be updated as work progresses.

3. Inthe event that materials, products, and/or processes being prepared for this project contain, or may emit,
any volatile organic compounds (VO G, formaldohyde Formations, of hazardous oute Gassing, as
specified by the manufacturer, an OSHA-compliant “Materials Safety Data Sheet” shall be submitted
for the prepared product or material for review by Owners Representative.

4. T i lan for I of VOC/fumes from space uni
operation, or as dircoted by On-Site Coordinator.

1 permanent HVAC system is in full

5. Al must be d when work is completed. Owners Representative will require written

notification (at least 48 hours prior to work)
©.  Contractor shall designate a qualified safety officer to oversee the work and provide life safely training to all
personnel. Contractor shall submit the name of this person to Owner’s Rep.

d.  No flammable liquids, gases, or other highly combustible material will be allowed to be stored on Site.

Any time that @ buning or welding dovice (s used, all surrounding arens must be protested from the hont
and/or flame of the device. All personnel who are welding or using any type of cutting torch must provide to
Ownar's Roprosontative, pror to the. commencement of their work, @ copy of their Gertificate of Fitness to
perform such activities. Additionally, all personnel employed to perform fire watch responsibilities must
provide to Owner’s Representative, prior to the commencement of their work, a copy of their certification to do
such. Additionally, Contractor may, at Owner’s request, be required to perform any such work after-hours be
of the fumes that may be associated with such welding/cutting torch usage.

Contractor shall give written notice to Owner’s Representative within (24) hours after Contrac
of any accident or emergency occurrence, fire or other casualty, or any damages to Site, bluldlnp “ouilding
cquipment, or any tenant improvements, including but not limited to damage caused by others.

Contractor shall provide clear warning notices and effective ba

ers around work in public arcas and tenant spaces.

h. Notwithstanding any pla\)xs)()n hereof to the the Site except
() as nd, if pern nlnted upon the terms set forth) the Cmmac; Dnm.memq. and
Ghiin accordance with alt applicabls fedcral, state snd 16cal lavws, rules and regulations.

16. Ficld Office

structures.

17. Pedesty
and vehi
provide its own traffic control
AHGritled; st i dols e Xponac o eoord ke deliveticd fotha Site sharGbatrnet pUblic of private scoedn roads. The
sidewalks, driveways, and loading dock are not to be used fo by or actors of €.
Construction workers will park only in areas designated and will bo subject to towing It in vielation thareof,
Handicap parking spaces should not be u
Contractor needs parking for its subcontractors, Contractor must obtain prior written permission. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, Ownc:x is not obligated to provide parking for Contractor or its subcontractors.

18. Vending Machines: No vending machines or concessions will be permitted on Site.
19. Signage: Nc]thcl sl or its s shall not be permitted to place on the Site any identifying signage
except for information and directional signage as approved in advance by Owner’s Representative.

20. Supervision: Contractor must maintain supe: onnel on the Site at all times work is being performed

at the Site. Such personnel must be fally SmMpPowered (o coordinate, respond to and authorize Contraclons work

as nccessary to cnable work to proceed.

Fire Alarm

Contractor shall not store any i

crial on Site or erect any sheds, offices, or similar

: Contractor shall not interfere with or endanger public pedestrian

21.

cactor must nge for all conne
te Coordinator’s electr

responsibility of Contractor.

ctions to the base building fire alarm system to be formed by
cal/fire alarm subcontractor. All costs associated with such work shall be the

a.

b. For any work requiring suppression of the alarm systems, Contractor must notify On-Site Manager at least
48 hours prior to requirern

Exhibit M, Page 6
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21,

Air

On-Site Manager must be notified at least 48 hours prior to the use of any burning or welding device or
demolition work so that the fire alarm system can be taken “off-line.” Notification must also be given when
work is complete.

Smoke detectors and other fire alarm system devices must be protected when performing work which may cause
these devices to become unduly dusty. Protecting devices such as paper, tape and plastic must be removed daily.
If Contractor damages or compromises the integrity of the base building fire alarm system, On-Site Manager
may call On-Site Manager fire alarm contractor to repair or restore the system at Contractor’s expense.

Balance: Deliver to landlord a certified air balance report which will verify a

flow delivery per the

construction drawings at the end of construction.

2. Disruptive Work:

23.

a

Burning/Smolking: Open fire or

All work performed by C during Nor ion Hours must be scheduled at least 48 hours
in advance with On-Site Manager. Any work requiring an mrcuupuon in utility, HVAC or life safety system
Sarvices 16 other tenants of the Site shall be scheduled at least 48 houts in advance with On-Site Manaser. All
swork requiring access to County garage will require a minimum of one weeks® notice prior to
commencement of work.

The i ons, vwhich rake place on any floor of Site, must be peformed diring the Normal
Consiruetion Hours. 'lhese operations include, but are not limited to: (1) drilling, cutting, or chiseling of the
concrete floor slab, (2) drilling or cutting of any 1 or ion of a

new
any work which generates a vibration that may be disruptive to normal office operations (shooting drywall ll"dck
drilling pipe or duct work hangers, installing tack strips, etc.), (4) (5]
tapping into sprinkler piping or plumbing risers or loops, (6) spraying or lacquering, (7) btk 1 Sootpied tenant
spaces, (8) work in ceilings o er than tenant, (9) x-rays of slab, and (10) painting.

No cutting or patching of existing work shall be permitted without prior written consent. Request for
permission to do drilling or chi nelude explicit details and description of work and must not under any
circumstances diminish the structural integrity or fi of Site or 5

¥

Tenant must verify that plumbing work, if any. below the slab is from a . Tenant
must coordinate access to complete work below the slab during off hours so as not adversely impact adjacent
tenants® operations below. All slab penetrations must be cored, sleeved and grouted. All penctrations must be fire
stopped por Code, Tenant st X-ray and seciwe approval of stab penetrations from the base building structural
corm — (202) 580-6382 — prior io cutting slab.

Al under-stab piping must be painted to match adjacent Toniatnen:

If applicable, Contractor shall provide not less than one week’s no 5 DR S sysen (acliingieisyaton

shutdowns necessary to perform the work, including a dcscrlpuon of the proposed work. a comprohensive

A of n, and plans. If such work
nterforcs with Site s* ab ily to tuct i Contractor shall perform such work only during
non-business hours consistent with ood . All s shall work to coordinate

Shutdowns so as to reduce the frequency and duration of service |nleuupnon.

The following Site systems must not be shut down. operated, interrupted, modificd, or reconfigured

withont ‘the iexprossed sprios: swltion, joonsent jof” Owneits, Rep: Efevaror; . Sprinkier.

D ver, Life Hot Water,

Cvitrens Foarer, Secty ity Ilum b BMS o oot r e oot Former An eng,lncel clnployed by Owner

t present du all shutdowns at a reimbursable overtime rate (4 hour ccial care must be

taken when these systems serve other tenant areas. A shut down fee of $500.00 per shut down will be charged
to Tenant.

Eleotrical panel covers must be reinstalled at the end of the work day.

If work on the standpipe and sprinkler system is required, On-Site Manager must be notified, and necessary
Site staff will be dispatehed to operate the shut-off valves. When work is Pl On-Site M - must
again be notified to reactivate the system. At no time will 4 floor be left without spri i coverage.

Contractor is responsible for providing fire extinguishers with current inspection tags during the
construction period within the work arca, one per 7,500 square-feet of space under construction.

abbish bu

aing is prohibited. Smoking

s prohibited on the Site.
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25.

2,

@

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.
32.

safety System

a.  Contractor shall be responsible for false alarms of Site’s Fire/Life Safety System generated by Contractor. Each
event of a false alarm will cause Contractor to be charged $250, plus any additional fees charged by the County Fire
Department in response to these alarms.

b.  Fire/Life Safety System equipment must remain in operations at all times during construction. Approvals to take the
system, or any part thereof, out of service must be obtained from On-Site Manager on a daily basis. Posting
of fire watch at Contractor’s expense may be requ during all periods when the system is fully or partially out
of service.

. Any .:ﬁ'm—m 18, diaible. s simole ddfsatprs fuliha worlk aved inusl Be conidinatad with O Siis Msnagedand intiat
be reversed so as to put all Fire/Life Safety Systems back into service during non-working hours -actor
will hc: charged $250 for each incident where the Fire/Life Safety Systems on Site are left in a disabled

ion and will be for costs, if any, for the repair of systems damaged by Contractor.

4. Any tie-ins to the Fire/Life Safety System must be coordinated through On-Site Manager, and On-Site Manager
must be notified at least 48 hours prior to working on any of the devices. If any panecls or devices are to be
accessed,

Permits: Contractor must obtain all building permits for Contractor’s work which are required by the County. A copy of
the b\uldxng permit must be supplied to On-Site Coordinator before any work commences, and the original Certificate
upancy (Non-RUP) must be supplied to Owner at the time of issuance. Contractor must also provide copies of
o e inspections.

g that all light fixtures in the work area arc working

Light Bulbs and Ballasts: Contractor is responsible for ensu
includes replacement of tubes and ballasts,

properly and are fully lit upon completion of the work. Th
as required, in light fixtures that are replaced, added or repositioned.
n the operation of a Class A mixed-use project is

(“LAQ") procedures. Exhibit E of Owner Review
e Coordinator, if

Indoor Air Quality Spe. ations: O increasing importance
the establishment and maintenance of acceptable indoor air qualit
Procedures for Base Bu ‘enant Improvements (which will be provided by On
applicable) outlines, in general, the conditions under which construction must take place in order to comply with
established On-Site C. TAQ < must meet with On-Site Coordinator prior to the
commencement of construction to review all specific IAQ requirements related to constraction.

with C D The “Contract Documents” consist of the lease between Owner and Tenant
1f there are any inconsistencics between these Rules of the Site and the Contract Documents, the terms, conditions
and requirements of the Contract I' shall take pr and shall supersede any terms, conditions or
requirements of these Rules of the Site.

1 construction plans within two weeks of construction
ith County stamps.

A uilt/Permit Pla Tenant will provide one set of “as-b
completion. Contractor shall submit a copy of the building permit plans

Lien Waivers: Tenant General contractor will provide a copy of the final unconditional 1
unconditional lien waivers from major subcontractors (subcontract value greater than $15,000).

2 waiver along with final

Schedule: Tenant General Contractor will submit a copy of the construction schedule prior to construction start.

O&M Binder: Shall include the following:

1. Section 1 - Project Directory — all members of project team, subcontractors and vendors

2 Section 2 — Contractor Warranty Letter — warranting all work for one year after date of substantial completion

3. Section 3 — Permits and Inspections

4. Section 4 — Finish Schedule

5. Section 5 — Through end — Subcontractor Sections — each subcontractor section should include the following in
his order:

@) Subcontractor Warranty Letter

®) 11 approved submittals — with approval stamp from architect to include all samples, product data, MSDS,
specifications, shop drawings, etc.

©) Care and Maintenance information

[ User Guides (Mechanical section shall include approved Air Balance Report)
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33,

34.

36.

37.

() Al service agreements
) All approved drawings from the county (i.e. Fire Alarm and Sprinkler)

Responsibility of Contractors: Contrastor shall be responsible for his/er own work and every part thereof, and all
work of every description done or used i shall specifically and distinetly assume
and does so assume all risks of damage or injury for whalever cause to property or persons used or ernplnyc:l on or
1o Selnstion withithe wodk: sod all damage orinitey ey pronson apert) WHetaver Istad, due
Contractor’s negligence. Contractor under mkes and promises to protect and defend Manager and Owner against all

claims on accnun( of any such damage or . Contractor will be held responsible for the execution of a
satisfactory and complete picce of worl in accordance with the truc intent of the torms, conditions and

and of a which may have been furnished in connection therewith. Contractor shall

Provide, without charge, all incidental Hems raquired as o part of the werk, sven though not partioularly ppecified or
indicated Contractor has good reason for objection to the use of any material, appliance or method o
construction as shown or specified, Contractor shall make report of such objection to the Manager and ot proper

written ijusln\ent befol‘e ﬂ\e Contract is entered into with (& shall p with the work with
the ur ¥ ion of the work will be required by Manager.
W Unless herein, Contractor guarantees that all work to be performed and all materials

to be furnished under this Contract shall be free from defects in materials and workmanship for a period of two years
and in the event of any defects, such defects shall be corrected by the contractor at no cost to the Landlord or Tenant.

als delivered to and stored at
of the work shall pass to Owner upon the earlier to occur

‘Title: Title to all c()]‘npll:.tcd or pﬂltlally cnn)plzled work at the job site and to all mater
said job site w! pa
of the installation for the mater; |als.

Ruilding Required Vendor: Provided that each of the following <l itive rates for le work.
being performed at Comparable Buildings:

Fire Alarm Tie-In: HAISLIP ELECTRICAL, PAT MCAULEY, (301)-343-2501
PATM@HAISLIFCORP.COM

HVAC Controls: MALLICK, BILL LAURI, (240) 238-1829
BLAURI@MALLICKMECHANICAL.COM

Roofing: CONSOLIDATED ROOFING, ALEX ZORICH, (301) 595-2559 X24
ALEX.ZORICH@CONWATER.COM

Sprinkler: CHESAPEAKE SPRINKLER, SCOTT TITUS, (571) 209-5268 (703) 856-4743
STITUS@CHESASPRINK.COM

Security Vendor: KASTLE — MARK HENRY, (703) 247-0458, MHENRY@KASTLE.COM

Locksmith / Keyway: BALDINOS, KRISTIE RICHARDSON, (703) 378-3555
KRICHARDSON@BALDINOS.COM

Managing I
Red Tag Perm

e Protection System Impairment:

System

The Red Tag Permit System is designed to help manage impairments and restore full fire protection. The system is
comprised of four key clements: .

- Red Tag Permit

- Fire Protection Equipment Decals

- Reusable Impairment Tag for Fire Service Connections
- Red Tag Permit System Wall Hanger

The following guidelines require the use of FM Global's Red Tag Permit System Wall Hanger (P7427), which
includes:

- One sheet of Fire Protection Equipment Decals (P7834) to affix to fire ¢ as a that
authorization is necded before any shutdown can oceur
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Omne 12.5 x 13.25-in wall hanger with pockets to keep other elements of the system organized and within reachs
RS0 Tists steps to take berore, during and afer an mpairmen

and document task:

-  Red Tag Permits (F2480) to authorize impairments s as they are performed

- One Reusable llnpal lllelll Tag for Fire Service Connections (P7427t) to wire to fire service connections as a
reminder that fire prote out of service.

Before a Planned Impairment

all i i of the permit, providing key information, such as telephone numbers for your
service, alanm company, water department and FM <Global office servicing your property.

1ocz u 13

2. Affix the red-and-white Fire Pr ion B
authorization is needed before any shutdown can eccur.

Deeals to all to remind p that

3. Plan to work on fire protection when the facility is not operating. Shut down any hazardous processes.

a. it any p ss with an ion sou

-ce, such as hot work. Smoking is also prohibited.

5. Be prepared. Have everything ready before impairing protection, e.g., excavating equipment, pipe plugs. repair
parts and personnel,

6. Plan to have temporary fire protection on hand: extra extinguishers charged hose lines, temporary sprinkler
protection, cte.

7. Set up temporary sprinkler protection, especially for prolonged impairments, by running a 2.5-in. hose from the
hydrant to the 2-in. drain of an active system (an adapter will be required to connect the hose to the drain).

fire service so they can be ready

8. Notify your Emergency Response Team, Corporate Risk Manager and the publi
to handlé any emergeney that might occur.

9. If fire protection equipment can be restored, determine how to quickly return it to service in case a fire occurs
during an impairment.

10. Assign a fire watch to patrol the area where protection equipment is impaired.

11. Notify your local FM Global offi
on how to proceed and follow up until protection has been restored. In addif
if possible, reduce fire exposure to the area, arrange for temporary protection and deter:
as quickly as possible in the event of a fire.

closest to you. An engineer and/or client service representative can advise you
n, he or she can help minimize downtime,
nine how to restore protection

Completing the Red Tag Permit

The precautions listed at the top of all three parts will help you and your FM Global engineer determine the specific
actions you need to take. The information provided in Part 1 transfers to Parts 2 and 3 (F2480).

Part One — Red Tag Permit

This section becomes a record of the impairment. The fire safety supervisor completes, signs and issues the permit,
deseribing the location of the facility and reason for impairment, and then:

formation to FM Global; and

- Phones, faxes or provides online the same

has been or is underway.

mit to that the i

- signs the p
Part Two — Out of Service

Place Part 2 in the center pocket of the wall hanger as a reminder of the

Part Three — Fire Protection Out of Service

5 who then d. ts each step in the impairment and return-to-
. and dlthth Part 3 s the Shut vaive, Be sute e or she carefully records the date, time, type
ns needed to close it.

Issue Part 3 to the fire p
full-operation processcs,
of valve and the number of tu

Authorizing the Impairment
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- Inform employeces that the Red Tag Permit System is in effect. It*s best if the wall hanger is displayed in plain
view so that the fire safety supervisor or appropriate personnel can easily follow the procedures listed on the poster
and permit.

+  Use the three-part Red Tag Permit to initiate the impairment and identify affected cquipment. Complete the per
following each step carefully.

vit,

Restoring the System

1. Promptly restore fire protecti i 1o ic service as soon as possible.

. If sprinkler protection was impaired, conduct a 2-in. drain test at the sprinkler riser to obtain a clear, unobstructed
water flow.

3. Lock sprinkler control valves in the wide-open position.
4. Reset the alanm system; notify the central station, if applicable.

5. Notify your Emergency Response Team, Corporate Risk Manager, public fire service and FM Global
ive that fire p: ion has been B

Complete the Red Tag Permit. all steps taken to restore fire

6. Thy i
proteetion in Part 3 of the permit, signs it and returns it to the fire safety supervisor:

- Reviews the information on the signed permit and retains it as a record of impairment; and

+ Transfers information from Part 3 of the permit to Part 2, and phones, faxes or submits online the information in
Part 2 to FM Global

CONTRACTOR MUST SIGN AND COMPLY WITH THESE RULES. FAILURE TO DO SO MAY RESULT IN
WORK STOPPAGE UNTIL SUCH TIME AS FULL COMPLIANCE BY CONTRACTOR IS ACCOMPLISHED.

AGREED TO AND ACCEPTED:
CONTRACTOR: TENANT:

By:

Name:
Tite:

Exhibit M, Page 11




ATTACHMENT A

INSURANCE
REQUIRE! va'rs
Coverage Limits of Liability _
< ile Liability 1 to include s: 000,000 per occurrence combined single limit bodily
non-owned, hired vehicles as well as owned vehicles. injury and Property dama,
Worker's Compensation Statutory Limits

$1.000,000 per occurrence

Employer's Liabil

ty
Commercial General Lisbility Thstranse, which shall moiuge, | $1.000.000 pér oscvtronce Wil » §2,000.000 gencel
the following coverages: ageregate and per project endorsement (which limits
- Broad Form Froperty Damage. all apply for single 1||n;t bodily injury, property damage
- Conteactual liability ¢ e and personal injury).
- Contractor’s pra otective Tabinty covernge

and utilities.
- Completed operations coverage forn period of 5 years
after final acceptance of the completed Contractor’s

- Premises, and operations.
- Independent Contractor
- Blanket conn actual liabi
< and cxploslou Tegal tiabitity.
lity exclusion deleted,

- Products liability.

Not less than $5,600,000 for each ocourrence
and in the aggregate.
All Risk Builder's Risk/Installation Floater Covering 100%% of value of S

Excess Liability

Separate Contractor’s worl inery and
- Broad All-Risk perils and Collapse on a completed
wvalue, non-reporting form. Deductible not to exceed
$5,000 cach occurrence.
- All loss payments made payable to Contractor and
Owner.
ATl Risk p H fing theft H Tost
cquipment tools and materials owned or to be rented by
Contractor.
Contractor dges that the to obtain the foregoing insurance does not itute a repr i

by Owner that such coverage and s will be adequate to protect Contractor. Furthermore, the insurance procured by
Contractor will not reduce or limit Contractor’s contractual obligations to indemnify and defend Owner pursuant to any
indemnity provisions set forth in the Contract Documents. The All Risk coverage required above shall include a waiver of
subrogation clause which states that the insurance company shall not have any r

afTil

l

ight of recovery against Owner, Owner’s Agent
heirs, assigns, directors, officers, employees

or On-Site Coordinator, or any of their resp e
or agents.
All insurance required in this Section shall be provided by ially r carriers authorized to do business

in the Commonwealth of Virginia and rated by AM. Best Rating Service as A - X11 or better.

The policies for the foregoing coverage shall name as additional insureds Owner and OGwner’s Agent, and their respective

officers, agents and employees as their interests shall appear: Owners Owners lender, Bank of America, NA, Comstack
<.

., C, Reston Station Owners ion, CDS Asset LC,

L=} Commenrcial LC, and the Board of Supervisors of Fairfax County, Virginia.
Contractor shall also carry such as may be by the laws of the County in which the Site is located. If
Contractor shall subcontract any of its work, Contractor shall be responsible for secing that such subcontractor shall have the
1 by this and shall furnish Owner evidence thereof before the subcontractor commences

work on the Projc he fact that Contractor has obtained the lns\nnncc required by this Attachment shall not diminish
Contractor’s obligations st forth in any provisions of the Rules of the
ge or project specific insurance,

Oveer may, in its sole discretion, require C tog and in additional
nd Owner shall < for the cost of such insurance.
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First Amendment to Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement
of
Momentum General Partners LL.C

This First Amendment to Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement (the
“Agreement’) of Momentum General Partners, LLC (the “Company™), a limited liability company
organized pursuant to the Virginia Limited Liability Company Act (as amended) (“Aer™), is entered into
by SCG Development Partners, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“SCG™), and Comstock
Redland Road 111, L.C., a Virginia limited liability company (the “Withdrawing Member”), effective as
of November 9, 2020 (the “Effective Date™).

RECITAL

The Company has been operating pursuant to an Amended and Restated Limited Liability
Company Agreement dated as of June 1, 2018 (the “Original Operating Agreemenr™), having SCG and
Withdrawing Member as Members. Article XTV of the Original Operating Agreement grants SCG the
option to purchase all of the Interest (as defined in the Original Operating Agreement) of Withdrawing
Member, and SCG has exercised such purchase option. In furtherance thereof, the Withdrawing Member
has assigned its Interest and Guaranty Obligations under the Original Operating Agreement to SCG, and
SCG has accepted such assignment and assumed Withdrawing Member’s Interest and Guaranty
Obligations pursuant to that certain Assignment of Membership Interest in Momentum General Partners,
LLC dated November 9, 2020 (the “Assignment”). SCG now desires to amend the Original Operating
Agreement in order to acknowledge the aforementioned withdrawal and assignment, and to provide for
the continuation of the Company.

The parties agree as follows:
AGREEMENT

1. Withdrawal and Continuation. The provisions of Section 8.2.2 of the Original Operating
Agreement will not apply to Withdrawing Member’s withdrawal as a Member of the Company. SCG
and Withdrawing Member expressly consent to Withdrawing Member’s withdrawal from the
Company, the assignment of Withdrawing Member’s Interest and Guaranty Obligations under the
Original Operating Agreement to SCG, and SCG’s acceptance of such assignment and assumption of
Withdrawing Member’s Interest and Guaranty Obligations as set forth in the Assignment. Effective as
of the Effective Date, Withdrawing Member hereby (a) withdraws as a member of the Company, (b)
represents and warrants that Withdrawing Member has no direct interest in the Company, (c)
acknowledges that if is not entitled to any fees, distributions, compensation or payments from the
Company, except with respect to that certain Promissory Note dated November 9, 2020 made by
Momentum Apartments, LLC (of which the Company is the Managing Member) for the benefit of
Withdrawing Member (“Note™), and (d) further acknowledges that it has no interest in any property
or assets of the Company, except for the Note. From and after the Effective Date hereof, Managing
Member will be responsible and liable for all obligations of “Operating Member” as set forth in the
Original Operating Agreement, and Managing Member’s Interest in the Company will be one
hundred percent (100%). The Managing Member (SCG), being the only remaining member, hereby
continues the Company under the Act,

2. Ratified and Confirmed. This Agreement amends the Original Operating Agreement and is
incorporated by reference therein. The Original Operating Agreement, as amended by this
Agreement, is hereby ratified and confirmed. To the extent of any inconsistency between this
Agreement and the Original Operating Agreement, this Agreement will govern.




3. Counterparts, This Agreement may be executed in separate counterparts, each of which when taken
together will constitute an original. PDF, TIF, facsimile, or other electronic images of signatures will
be deemed originals for all purposes.

4, Incorporation of Recitals. The Recitals set forth above are incorporated by reference and made a
part of this Agreement to the same extent as if set forth herein in full,

5. Defined Terms. All capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein will have the same
meanings ascribed to them in the Original Operating Agreement,

[signature page follows]




[Signature page to Fitst Amendment to Amended and Restated Operating Agreement of Momentum General
Partners, LLC]

The undersigned have executed this Agreement effective as of date first written above,

SCG Development Partners, LLC
a Delaware limited liability company

By: SCG Development Manager, LLC
a Delaware limited liability company
its managing member

By: SCG Capital Corp.
a Delaware corporation
its sole member

By: g

Name: Stephen P, Wilson
Title: President — Virginia Office

COMSTOCK REDLAND RO
o~
’/ -
By: COMSTOCK HOLD
/'/’ i ’

,-//
,/.







ASSIGNMENT OF MEMBERSHIP INTEREST
IN
MOMENTUM GENERAL PARTNERS, LL.C

This Assignment of Membership Interest (“Assignment”), effective as of November 9, 2020
(“Effective Date”), is made by and between SCG DEVELOPMENT PARTNERS, LLC, a Delaware
limited lability company (“Assignee™) and COMSTOCK REDLAND ROAD I11, L.C., a Virginia limited
liability company (“Assignor”). All capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein will have the
same meanings ascribed to them in that certain Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company
Agreement of Momentum General Partners, LLC dated June 1, 2018 (the “Operating Agreement”) by
and between Assignor and Assignee,

RECITALS

A. Assignor owns 25% of the membership interests (“Membership Interest”) in Momentum General
Partners, LL.C (“Company™) pursuant to the Operating Agreement.

B. Assignor now desires to assign to Assignee, and Assignee desire to assume from the Assignor,
the Membership Interest pursuant to Article XIV of the Operating Agreement.

Therefore, in consideration of the sum of $1.00 and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt
and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:

AGREEMENT
1. Assignment and Assumption.

1.1. Assignment. Effective as of the Effective Date, in accordance with, and as permitted under,
Article XTIV of the Operating Agreement, Assignor hereby assigns, sells, conveys, and transfers
its Membership Interest to Assignee, including, without limitation, all of the Assignor’s interest
in the profits, losses, and capital of said Company and all Guaranty Obligations of Assignor, if
any, which are allocable to the Membership Interest hereby conveyed, and which have not been
distributed or allocated to the Assignor prior to the effective date of this Assignment.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Assignor and Assignee agree that the assignment of
Membership Interest herein does not include the assignment of any Development Fees due and
owing, or which will come due and owing, to Assignor pursuant to the Development Services
Agreement (as defined in the Operating Agreement), and that certain Promissory Note dated
November 9, 2020 by Momentum Apartments, LLC (of which the Company is the Managing
Member) for the benefit of Assignor.

1.2. Assumption. Effective as of the Effective Date, Assignee hereby accepts the assignment and
assumes all of Assignor’s right, title, and interest in and to the Membership Interest and all
Guaranty Obligations of Assignor, and agrees 1o be bound by, perform, keep, and observe all of
the obligations, duties, liabilities, covenants, and agreements of Assignor with respect to the
Company to the same extent as if Assignee had been an original party to such agreement,

2. Representations and Warranties.
2.1. Assignor’s Representations and Warranties. Assignor represents and warrants to Assignee that

prior to and as of the Effective Date of this Assignment that the Assignor (a} owns the entire
right, title and interest in and to the Membership Interest, (b) has good and marketable title in

1




and to the Membership Interest, and there are no proceedings in bankruptey, or other litigation,
proceeding, or governmental investigation pending or threatened that might affect the
Membership Interest, {¢) has the full right, title, powet, capacity and authority to validly sell,
assign, convey and transfer the Membership Interest, (d) is not a party to any agreemient,
executed or executory, to sell, hypothecate or otherwise dispose of the Membership Interest,
except as set forth in Article XIV of the Operating Agreement, (¢) has not sold, hypothecated or
otherwise disposed of the Membership Interest, (f) is delivering said Membership Interest free
and clear of all liens, encumbrances, demands, charges, security interests, claims or rights of
others whatsoever, (g) the Membership Interest constitutes 25% of the ownership interests in
the Company, (h) is not a “foreign person” as defined in Section 1445(f)(3) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and (i) is not in default of any provision of the Company’s
operating agreement or any other agreement to which it is a party,

2.2. Assignee’s Representations and Warranties. Assignee represents and warrants to Assignor that
prior to and as of the Effective Date of this Assignment that the Assignee (a) all conditions
precedent to Assignec’s right to purchase the Membership Interest from Assignor pursuant to
Article XIV of the Operating Agreement have been satisfied in full, (b) has the requisite power
and authority to accept the assignment of the Membership Interest and fo consummate
Assignee’s assumption of the Membership Interest and all Guaranty Obligations of Assignor as
contemplated herein, (¢) accepts the assignment of the Membership Interest and all Guaranty
Obligations as a valid and legally binding obligation of Assignee, (d) is not a “foreign person”
as defined in Section 1445(f)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and (e) is
not in default of any provision of the Company’s Operating Agreement.

Governing Law/Venue. This Assignment will be governed by the law of the Commonwealth of
Virginia, without regard to conflicts of laws principles. The parties agree to submit to the exclusive
Jjurisdiction of the state and federal courts located in Fairfax County, Virginia and further agree not to
assert any objections or claims of hardship on account of such venue.

Counterparts. This Assignment may be executed in separate counterparts, each of which when taken
together will constitute an original. PDF, TIF, facsimile, or other electronic images of signatures will
be deemed originals for all purposes.

Further Assurances. The parties hereto agree to execnte and deliver such further instruments and do
further acts and things as may be reasonably required to carry out the intent and purposes of this
Assighment.

Binding Effect. This Assignment will be binding upon and will inure to the benefit of the parties
hereto and their respective successors and assigns.

Recitals. The Recitals above are hereby incorporated and made a part of this Assignment.

Severability. Every provision of this Assignment is intended to be severable. If any term or provision
hereof is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal or invalid, such illegal or invalid
term or provisions will not affect the other terms and provisions hereof, which terms and provisions
will remain binding and enforceable.

Amendments. The terms of this Assignment may not be modified or amended, except by written
agreement execuled and delivered by Assignor and Assignee.




The undersigned have executed this Assignment as of the first date written above.,
ASSIGNOR:

COMSTOCK REDLAND ROAD 111, L.C,

Man ger/- \, — e
Z/ /r’fﬁ Y “\

By: COMSTOCK HOLDING COMPANIES, INC.,

; . 2
(.r By‘/ / —v‘"’_/ /

bd
‘:;;1:_-=Tf_e{1ri§{aaam- ntc, Chiegixeéﬁ{ﬁve Officer
u/ w,

ASSIGNEE:

SCG Development Partners, LLC
a Delaware limited liability company
its managing member

By: SCG Development Manager, LLC
a Delaware limited liability company
its managing member

By: SCG Capital Corp.
a Delaware corporation
its sole member

By: A
Name!” Stephen P, Wilsoil
Title: President — Virginia Office







Exhibit 21.1
List of Subsidiaries

Name State of Incorporation or Or
1 Comstock Homes of Washington, L.C. Virginia
2 Comstock Investors X, L.C. Virginia
3 Comstock Growth Fund, L.C. Virginia
4 Superior Title Services, L.C. Virginia
5 CHCI Capital Management, LC f/k/a CDS Capital Management, LC Virginia
6 CHCI Real Estate Services, L.C. f/k/a Comstock Real Estate Services, LC Virginia
7 Comstock Environmental Services, LLC f/k/a JK Environmental Services, LLC Virginia Virginia
8 CHCI Asset Management, LC f/k/a CDS Asset Management, LC Virginia
9 CHCI Residential Management, LC f/k/a Comstock Residential Management, LC Virginia

10 CHCI Commercial Management, LC f/k/a Comstock Commercial Management, LC Virginia

11 ParkX Management, LC d/b/a ParkX Virginia



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

‘We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No. 333-196260) and Form S-8 (Nos. 333-123709 and 333-182838) of Comstock Holding Companies, Inc., of our report dated April 14,
2020 relating to the consolidated financial statements which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP

Potomac, Maryland
March 31, 2021



Exhibit 23.2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We have issued our report dated March 31, 2021, with respect to the consolidated financial statements included in the Annual Report of Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020. We
consent to the incorporation by reference of said report in the Registration Statements of Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. on Form S-3 (File No. 333-196260) and Forms S-8 (File No. 333-123709 and File No. 333-182838).

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP

Arlington, Virginia
March 31, 2021



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Christopher Clemente, certify that:

1.
2.

T have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 31, 2021

/s/ Christopher Clemente

Christopher Clemente

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Christopher Guthrie, certify that:

1. Thave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial

reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 31, 2021

/s/ Christopher Guthrie

Christopher Guthrie

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2019, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
“Report”), each of Christopher Clemente, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company and Christopher Guthrie, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certifies, to his best knowledge and belief, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §
1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 780(d)); and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 31, 2021 /s/ Christopher Clemente

Christopher Clemente
Chairman and Chief Executive Office

Date: March 31, 2021 /s/ Christopher Guthrie

Christopher Guthrie
Chief Financial Officer




